Contents

VOLUME 134 (1)

Frédéric SANTOUL and Sylvain MASTRORILLO 5

Winter microhabitat distribution of coots (Fulica atra L.1758) on gravel-pit wetlands in the Garonne river floodplain, Southwest France

Swati MITTAL, S. PINKY and Ajay Kumar MITTAL 9

Operculum of peppered loach, Lepidocephalichthys guntea (Hamilton, 1822) (Cobitidae, Cypriniformes) : A scanning electron microscopic and histochemical investigation

Katrien AERTS, Thomas VANAGT, Steven DEGRAER, Sonnia GUAR-TATANGA, Jan WITTOECK, Nancy FOCKEDEY, Maria Pilar CORNEJO-**RODRIGUEZ, Jorge CALDERÓN and Magda VINCX**

Macrofaunal community structure and zonation of an Ecuadorian sandy beach *(bay of Valdivia)*

Elisa C. WINKELMANN, Marilda C. FERNANDES, Andrea P. JACKOWS-KI, Antonio G. SEVERINO and Felipe L. SCHNEIDER

Microscopic studies of the paraphysis of the turtle Trachemys (scripta) dorbigni (Duméril & Bibron, 1835)

Veronique ADRIAENSSENS, Frank SIMONS, Lien T.H. NGUYEN, Boudewijn GODDEERIS, Peter L.M. GOETHALS and Niels DE PAUW

Potential of bio-indication of chironomid communities for assessment of running water quality in Flanders (Belgium)

Frank HUYSENTRUYT, Dominique ADRIAENS, Guy G. TEUGELS, Stijn **DEVAERE, Anthony HERREL, Walter VERRAES and Peter AERTS**

Diet composition in relation to morphology in some African anguilliform clariid catfishes

Gerald MAYR and Ursula B. GÖHLICH

A new parrot from the Miocene of Germany, with comments on the variation of hypotarsus morphology in some Psittaciformes

Ioannis PASCHOS, Cosmas NATHANAILIDES, Miranta TSOUMANI, **Costas PERDIKARIS, Evangelia GOUBA and Ioannis LEONARDOS**

Intra and inter-specific mating options for gynogenetic reproduction of Carassius gibelio (Bloch, 1783) in Lake Pamvotis (NW Greece)

Sofyan H. ALYAN

Movement is necessary for landmark-based navigation

SHORT NOTES

Fabián H. ACUÑA, Adriana C. EXCOFFON, Mauricio O. ZAMPONI and **Gabriel N. GENZANO**

Feeding habits of the temperate octocoral Tripalea clavaria (Studer, 1878) (Octocorallia, Gorgonaria, Anthothelidae), from sublittoral outcrops off Mar del Plata, Argentina

Belgian Journal of Zoology

Volume 134 (1) – January 2004



AN INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL PUBLISHED BY THE ROYAL BELGIAN SOCIETY FOR ZOOLOGY

AND IN OTHER LEADING REFERENCE PUBLICATIONS

Belgian Journal of Zoology

The Royal Zoological Society of Belgium and its Belgian Journal of Zoology continue in a long scientific tradition devoted to the promotion of zoology and to the publication of research in zoology. This tradition goes back to 1863, when the "Société malacologique de Belgique" was founded in Brussels and began to publish the "Annales de la Société malacologique de Belgique". Name changes took place in 1903 ("Annales de la Société royale malacologique et zoologique de Belgique"), and 1923 ("Annales de la Société Royale Zoologique de Belgique"). With the internationalisation of the editorial board in 1989, the journal was opened to the international scientific community, and the name "Belgian Journal of Zoology" was chosen. The Belgian Journal of Zoology is now distributed to about 400 Belgian and international members of the Society, to bookshops, and is accessible, through an active exchange policy, in 230 libraries of various institutions in more than 50 countries. The Belgian Journal of Zoology appears in two regular issues per volume (January and July) and occasional special issues.

Editor (to whom manuscripts should be sent)

Ernest Schockaert Limburgs Universitair Centrum Dept. SBG **B-3590 DIEPENBEEK** Belgium e-mail: bjz@luc.ac.be

Associate Editor

Nikki Watson (Australia)

Editorial Board

P. Aerts (Belgium), T. Backeljau (Belgium), J. Baltha (Belgium), A. De Ricqles (France), D. Dindall (U.S.A M. Kirsch-Volders (Belgium), K. Klemmer (German H. Schminke (Germany), A. Van Bruggen (The Nethe

Subscription Information

Membership of the Royal Belgian Society of Zoology €25 for PhD students (up to four years after graduatio tion to the Belgian Journal of Zoology. Subscription for

Payment should be on account 000-0049113-31 of the ' after the card holder's name, card number and expiry dat national money order or by transfer to the Society's acco

Intermediary bookshops receive a significant reduction charged.

Back issues/volumes and a price list are available on t

Université de Liège

Institut de Zoologie

B-4020 LIEGE

Belgium

22, Quai Van Beneden

e-mail: p.vandewalle@ulg.ac.be

Membership and subscription:	Exchange and library matter:
Dr. Frank Fiers	Prof. Jean Deligne
Royal Belgian Institute of	Université Libre de Bruxelles
Natural Sciences	CP 160/11
Vautierstraat, 29	50, Avenue Roosevelt,
B-1000 BRUSSEL	B-1050 BRUXELLES
Belgium	Belgium
e-mail: frank.fiers@naturalsciences.be	e-mail: jdeligne@ulb.ac.be

can be offered.

General information on the Society and on the Journal and detailed instructions for authors eur et de can be found on http://kbvd-www.uia.ac.be/kbvd.

The Belgian Journal of Zoology publishes, in English or French, original papers, reviews and notes in all fields of zoology. Papers in French must include English translations of the title and of the abstract.

Manuscripts must contain significant new findings and must not have been published elsewhere nor be simultaneously under consideration for any other publication outlet. Mere species descriptions will not be accepted unless they have broader relevance such as implications for phylogeny or biogeography.

Authors benefit from a waiver of page charges for up to eight printed pages for members and six pages for non-members. Additional pages are charged to authors. Authors will receive 25 reprints free of charge and a PDF file of the published version. Additional reprints can be ordered when sending the corrected galley proofs..

PREPARATION OF YOUR MANUSCRIPT

The page size of the Belgian Journal of Zoology is 17 x 24.6 cm, in two columns of 8,2 cm. Please keep this in mind, particularly with regard to the size of figures and tables.

Manuscripts must be submitted in electronic version and one hard copy (double spaced, with numbered pages and margins of at least 2.5 cm), as well as the original figures. Figures and tables should be kept separate from the text; the legends should be at the end of the manuscript. Overseas authors can submit their manuscript by email only.

			tion, material and meth mat to give structure to (separated by commas) the first or the correspondence value and the unit; do not	ods, results and discussion. Sections and sub-sector the article. The title must be sufficiently inform. The full first name (first name first) and the adornding author. Keep following matter in mind: unot use a space before interpunction, but do use a	
		Figures	Figures are referred to reduction to page width the same in all illustrat are not acceptable. Ind (see below). Colour pri	in the texts by "Fig. n" (capital F and full stop) on n, column width or in between. Photographs shoul ions after reduction. Magnificaton or reduction s licate the preferred location of each figure the m ints are at the author's expences. Legends to the	
azart (Belgium), R. Barba .), A. Dixon (Great Brita	uult (France), G. Boxshall (Great Britain), V. Darras in), M. Jangoux (Belgium), P. Kestemont (Belgium),	Tables	The sizes of tables show ital T). The legend to a	uld take account of page width and length, or col table is given on top of the table. Indicate the pr	
ny), P. Lebrun (Belgium), P. Legendre (Canada), J. Osse (The Netherlan rlands), M. Vincx (Belgium)		Electronic version	An electronic version of and tables should rema a resolution of at least sons). All files should b below).	of the text should be provided, exclusively by e-min separated from the text file. Figure files should 300 dpi. Tables and graphs may be sent as an Exhave the name of the first author and should begin	
is open to all professional is n) and $\in 10$ for undergrade or non-members is $\in 65$.	biologists. Annual dues for regular members are €40, uate students. Membership includes the free subscrip-	Species names	Species names and the names of genera should be in italics. Names of lowed, on the first occasion of use, by the name of the author who de year. This rule does not apply for names of plants. If a table of all the tioned there. Do not use the genus name to indicate a species or indi-		
Royal Belgian Society of a e have been communicated bunt via a Belgian Bank or	to the treasurer. International payments can be by inter- with creditcard. Only payments in Euro are accepted.	References	Author names in text ci or WILSON et al. (1987) should be found in the	itations should be in small capitals and in the follo for more than two authors. Consecutive reference reference list	
on the net price. Issues ar	e sent directly to clients, and postage and handling are		Examples of literature	citations:	
request to the treasurer (ad	dress below). For large orders a substantial reduction		* Paper in a journal:	NAVAS. C.A. (1996). Implications of microha elevation neotropical anurans. <i>Oecologia</i> , 10 of Scientific Periodicals".)	
ge and library matter	Public relations:		* Paper in a book: * Book:	MALLEFET, J., P. VANHOUTTE & F. BAGUET (1 & CANICATTI TI (eds), <i>Echinoderm Research</i> BELLAIRS, R., (1991). <i>Egg incubation: its eff</i> University Press, Cambridge.	
Daliana	Durf Diame Van Janualla	Unpublished reports. n	naster theses, etc are not c	considered publications and should be referred to a	
ean Deligne	Prof. Pierre Vandewalle	an ha aiyan in - ftu	ata Dh D thagag and	tad in the reference list Author name - 41-41	

Text

Short notes do not exceed two printed pages (incl. figures and tables - approx. 10 000 characters minus the figures and references). They are the appropriate form for new findings of temporary importance, comments on papers published in the journal, important new records for the Belgian fauna, curiosa, etc. They should be written as a continuous text without the various divisions of regular papers (and without an abstract). References for notes must be indicated in the text by numbers. Short notes will be reviewed as normal papers.

PROCESSING

Short notes

Manuscripts should be sent to the editor. On receipt of the manuscript, the corresponding author is notified by e-mail, and will receive the number under which the manuscript has been registered. Please mention this MS# first in the subject of e-mails and in the names of all files subsequently sent to the editor. The MS is then sent to two referees, and a reply may mostly be expected six to eight weeks after receipt. If the MS is accepted, the author is requested to prepare the final version, taking into account the remarks of the referees. Only one galley proof is sent as a PDF file, to the corresponding author. The proof must be carefully corrected and sent back without delay

Publication delay is between three and nine months, but is highly dependent of the willingness of the referees and the collaboration of the authors. The present rejection rate is about 30%.

Please consult the web pages at http://kbvd-www.uia.ac.be/kbvd/bjz for more details about how to prepare your manuscript.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Papers should be written in clear, concise language and consist of an abstract (summarizing the essential results and conclusions), introductions should not be numbered, but authors may suggest a printing fornative. Please provide a short running title and (additional) key words ldress of each author should be given, as well as the e-mail address of units should have the international format, and no space separates the a space after it.

> or "Figs n-m" (no full stop). Drawings should be clearly readable after uld be sharp and with good contract. Label size should be adequate and should be given by a scale bar. Photocopies of photographs or figures nanuscript. An electronic version of all illustrations must be provided figures come on a separate page.

> lumn width. Tables are referred to in the text by "Table n" (with capreferred location of each table in the manuscript.

> nail as an attached file, preferably in MSWord or RTF. Files of figures ld have the JPG. PICT or TIFF format and those scanned should have scel file. Do not incorporate figures in a Word document (quality rean with the MS number once it has been allocated after submission (see

> species (and names of higher taxa in taxonomic papers) should be folribed the species or introduced the taxon name (in lower case) and the ecies names used in the text is provided, the author names can be menluals of a species!

> owing format: NAVAS (1996), LAUDER & LIEM (1980) for two authors, ces must be separated by a semicolon (;). All authors quoted in the text

> abitat selection and pattern of activity on the thermal ecology of high 08: 617-626. (abbreviation of the journal according to the "World list

> 992). Study of Amphipholis squamata luminescence. In: ALERA-LIACI , L. Balkema, Rotterdam: 125-130.

> fects on an embryonic development in birds and reptiles. Cambridge

as "unpublished data" or "personal communication" in the text. A report can be given in a footnote. Ph.D. theses are accepted in the reference list. Author names that only appear in the text after a taxon, do not appear in the reference list.

Belgian Journal of Zoology

Published by the "KONINKLIJKE BELGISCHE VERENIGING VOOR DIERKUNDE — SOCIÉTÉ ROYALE ZOOLOGIQUE DE BELGIQUE"

> Volume 134 (1) (January, 2004)

> > Editor:

Ernest Schockaert Department SBG Limburgs Universitair Centrum B-3590 Diepenbeek (Belgium)

Printed in Belgium (January 2004) by Drukkerij George Michiels, N.V., Tongeren



ERRATUM

Biogeographical observations on four scolytids (Coleoptera, Scolytidae) and one lymexylonid (Coleoptera, Lymexylonidae) in Wallonia (Southern Belgium)

Jean-Marc Henin¹, Olivier Huart and Jacques Rondeux

¹ Unité de Gestion et Economie forestières, Faculté universitaire des Sciences agronomiques, Passage des Déportés 2, B-5030 Gembloux, Belgium

Corresponding author : Jean-Marc Henin, e-mail : henin.jm@fsagx.ac.be

In the introduction, end of the third paragraph :

Although not easily quantifiable, the financial losses for private and public forest owners undoubtedly exceeded 50 million m³ .**should read**; 50 million EUR.

Figs 1 and 2 :

The symbols for the natural region of Wallonia do not appear. They are reproduced here :



In the reference list, following reference should be added :

HENIN, J.-M., O. HUART, P. LEJEUNE, J. RONDEUX (2003). Qualitative survey of five beech damaging Coleoptera (Scolytidae & Lymexylonidae) in Wallonia (Southern Belgium). In: MCMANUS & LIEBHOLD (ed.) : *Ecology, survey and management of forest insects*. Proceedings of the IUFRO WP 7.03.06, 7.03.07, 7.03.10 Meeting, 2-5 September 2002, Krakow, Poland. Gen.Tech. Rep. NE-311, Newtown Square, PA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station. 178 p.

Winter microhabitat distribution of coots (*Fulica atra* L.1758) on gravel-pit wetlands in the Garonne river floodplain, Southwest France

Frédéric Santoul and Sylvain Mastrorillo

Laboratoire d'Ecologie des Hydrosystèmes, UMR 5177, CNRS/UPS, Université Paul Sabatier, 118, Route de Narbonne, F-31062 Toulouse Cedex 04, France

Corresponding author : Frédéric Santoul, e-mail : santoul@cict.fr

ABSTRACT. Human population growth, urbanisation and conversion of land to agriculture have led to loss of natural wetlands throughout the World, making artificial wetlands such as gravel pits, dam lakes or rice fields important for waterbirds. In south-west France, the increasing abundance of gravel pits has allowed several bird species to colonize the region. These "new" wetlands have become substitutes for the natural habitats of waterbirds. Coots (*Fulica atra* L. 1758) colonised the Midi-Pyrénées area when gravel pits were created in the 1970's. Coot populations were censused weekly from October 1996 to February 1997 and from October 1997 to February 1998 on three gravel pits near Toulouse, SW France. Each winter, the number of coots was recorded on each gravel pit, and the microhabitat used by coots identified according to environmental variables (water depth, bank slope, bank vegetation, vegetation between watermarks, macrophytes, human disturbance, zones of open water or near the bank). Open water, which constitutes a secure habitat for this species during the wintering period, abundance of macrophytes (Characea) and presence of lawn on the bank appear as the most important factors influencing coot distribution. This information will be useful for site acquisition for nature conservation and management purposes.

KEY WORDS : Coots, Fulica atra, gravel pits, Garonne basin, habitat requirement, winter.

INTRODUCTION

Human activities destroy natural wetlands, but also create artificial wetlands such as rice fields, gravel pits, and dam lakes. These "new" wetlands have become substitutes for wildlife habitat (BELL et al., 1997; FASOLA & RUIZ, 1997; MORI, 2001). The biological value of gravel pits, particularly for waterbirds, is increasingly recognised. Several studies and actions have been undertaken to protect and manage these artificial ecosystems (KEY-WOOD & MELLUISH, 1953; OLNEY, 1964; MILNE, 1974; ANDREWS, 1991; PHILIPS, 1992). However, few reports have been published on the ecology of waterbirds in French gravel pits (FROCHOT & GODREAU, 1995: SAN-TOUL & TOURENO, 2002). Gravel extractions on the floodplains in France have increased over the last 25 years. Today, 45 gravel pits are active in the Garonne basin near Toulouse, southwest France, representing a water area of 2000 ha. Populations of waterbirds have increased significantly in the region over the last few years, especially during winter. Creation and development of gravel pits have attracted numerous species of birds, of which the coot (Fulica atra L., 1758) is the most abundant (SAN-TOUL & TOURENQ, 2002). In the Garonne floodplain, the number of coots has increased from about ten birds in the 1980s to more than one thousand at the end of the 90s (JOACHIM et al., 1997).

We investigated habitat preferences of wintering coots censused weekly during two winters at three gravel pits located in the Garonne floodplain at Saint Caprais. We attempted to relate habitat characteristic with abundance of coots within gravel pits. Such information will be useful for site acquisition for conservation and management purposes.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The gravel pits of Saint Caprais are located 25 km to the north-west of Toulouse in the Garonne floodplain $(43^{\circ} 46' \text{ N and } 0^{\circ} 58' \text{ E})$ (SANTOUL & TOURENQ, 2002).

The total area of the three gravel pits is about 66 ha with a mean depth of 3m (maximum depth : 4m). Mixed-farming of corn and sunflower surrounds the gravel pits. These gravel pits are unmanaged. Waterfowl hunting and fishing are forbidden.

Weekly morning censuses of coots were carried out from October 1996 to February 1997 and from October 1997 to February 1998. The small surface area and open characteristic of the gravel pits studied permitted a total census of the populations (TAMISIER, 1972), using a telescope (20x60) and binoculars (8x30). Coot numbers were recorded on each gravel pit and their position was noted on a map (SANTOUL & TOURENQ, 2002).

To determine habitat used by coot, several parameters were recorded during wintering periods : bank slope : <5% (1), 5-10% (2), >10% (3); bank vegetation : absent (1), lawn (2), herbs (3), shrubs (4), trees (5); vegetation between watermarks : absent (1), low (2), high (3); human disturbance : absence of path (0), presence of path (1); macrophytes : absent (0), some (1), abundant (2); water depth : <1m (1), 1-3m (2), 3-4m (3); zones of open

water or near the bank. The small amounts of vegetation present between watermarks only permitted us to establish classes of density (BOURNAUD et al., 1982). Macrophytes were sampled each year at the end of the spring period (May-June) at several points of each gravel pit. The species-habitat associations were tested with $\chi\Sigma$ tests (CHESSEL & DOLÉDEC, 1993). The microhabitat profiles were calculated according to MASTRORILLO et al. (1996) as the difference between the frequency of coots in samples representing a particular environmental variable and the frequency of that species in all samples. For significant species-habitat associations ($\chi\Sigma$ test, p<0.05), negative values indicated avoidance and positive values indicate preference.

RESULTS

The number of coots reached a maximum during October and November when more than 500 were present. At the end of the wintering period only a hundred birds were counted; an important decrease was noted in December.

Microhabitat profiles enabled us to highlight the ecological requirements of coots during the wintering period in relation to environmental availability. The three gravel pits studied were heterogeneous in terms of the type of vegetation covering the banks. Coots preferred areas with lawn over those with herbs, shrubs or trees. They occupied deep areas (3-4 m) with macrophytes and preferred areas of open water. However, the vegetation between watermarks and the presence of roads did not influence the distribution of coots during wintering periods. They avoided bank slope more than 10 % (Fig. 1). Six species of submerged macrophytes were present in the gravel pits : Myriophyllum spicatum, Najas major, Nitella sp., Potamogeton natans, Ranunculus trichophyllus and Veronica anagallis. However only the charophyte Nitella sp. was abundant.



Fig. 1. – Habitat of coot during winter. Each histogram represents the difference between the frequency of coots in a group of samples having that category of environmental variable, and the frequency of that species in all samples. Significant deviations from expected between species and variables are indicated with a black histogram ($\chi\Sigma$ test, p<0.05).

DISCUSSION

With a population of coots reaching 600 individuals, the three gravel pits of Saint Caprais constitute an important wintering site in Midi Pyrénées. JOACHIM et al. (1997) have estimated the wintering populations of coots in that region to be between 2500 and 3000 birds.

Our results suggest a strong association between the availability of food and lawn zones with the presence of

coots in winter. Among the factors influencing the wintering distribution of coot, the trophic factor is preponderant. Food resources are more critical in winter than in summer (DUBOWY, 1988). Coots are herbivorous, feeding mainly on macrophytes such as Characeae, etc (BOROWIEC, 1975; DRAULANS & VANHERCK, 1987; IRWIN & O'HALLORAN, 1997). BREDIN & SKINNER (1983) emphasise the importance of aquatic plants near the surface and over large areas to attract coots. Coots remain in these foraging zones until the complete degeneration of macrophytes (SAUER, 1982). When resources are exhausted, they move towards the lawn zones. The population decrease in December - January is due to the phenology of the species (departure of winter migrants), but is certainly accentuated by the strong depletion of trophic resources. The rare lawn areas constitute the last feeding zones used.

As did BOROWIEC & JAKUBCZYK (1975), we also noted an occupation of the central zone of the water reservoir/ pond by coots. These zones, easily accessible (depth : 3-4 m) for coots (CRAMP & SIMMONS, 1977), are rich in aquatic plants. They also constitute a safe habitat (from terrestrial predators) where birds can rest and carry out their comfort activities (e.g. preening) (BOROWIEC & JAKUBCZYK, 1975). By providing opportunities for coots to congregate far from the bank, gravel pits with large open water areas and a deep-water zone in their centre provide suitable foraging areas while reducing the risks of predation (BELL et al., 1997). Coots are not very inclined to escape by flight (CRAMP & SIMMONS, 1977) and this also explains why, whenever possible, they avoid banks covered with shrubs and trees where predators can perch and hide. The results of the study confirm those in other areas (BOROWIEC, 1975; BREDIN & SKINNER, 1983).

Population size of coots wintering in Midi Pyrénées remains small on an international scale (about 2500 coots at the mid-winter waterbird census). However, gravel pits are the major wintering habitat in this region, and those of Saint Caprais have a high carrying capacity (SANTOUL, 2000). The geographical location of the gravel pits near the Pyrenees mountains also makes the Midi-Pyrénées region important as a stop-over for coots (HOYER, 1994). The new extension of gravel pits in the Garonne River basin is of economic and environmental importance. Restoration is generally carried out to transform gravel pits to recreational areas or fishing lakes, and only rarely into habitats primarily designed for waterbird conservation.

Once considered as a simple transition between two breeding periods, the wintering period has been proven to be an essential component of the biological cycle of waterbirds (JORDE et al. 1983; ZORN et al., 1995; TAMIS-IER & DEHORTER, 1999). Preservation of wintering habitat quality for migratory species is thus necessary. Because of the increasing number of artificial wetlands (reservoirs, rice plantations, gravel pits) compared to the decreasing number of natural wetlands in Europe and worldwide, artificial wetlands have to be taken into account in conservation and management schemes for waterbird communities at both regional and international levels.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Alan Johnson (Station Biologique de la Tour du Valat, France) for improving the English. We are very grateful to Christophe Tourenq (Station Biologique de la Tour du Valat, France) and Abdelkrim Si Bachir (Laboratoire d'Hydrobiologie, University Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, France) for useful comments on a draft of this paper.

REFERENCES

- ANDREWS, J. (1991). Restoration of Gravel Pits for Wildlife. RSPB Conservation Review, 5 : 12.
- BELL, M.C., S.N. DELANY, M.C. MILLETT & M.S. POLLITT (1997). Wintering waterfowl community structure and the characteristics of gravel pit lakes. *Wildlife Biology*, 3 (2): 65-78.
- BOROWIEC, E. (1975). Food of coot (*Fulica atra* L.) in different phenological periods. *Polskie Archivum Hydrobiologii*, 22 (2): 157-166.
- BOROWIEC, E & B. JAKUBCZYK (1975). Occurrence of the coot (*Fulica atra* L.) on some lakes of the Mazurian lake district. *Polskie Archivum Hydrobiologii*, 22 (2) : 167-180.
- BOURNAUD, M., J.P. LEDANT, J. BROYER & M. RICHOUX (1982). L'espace étang dans ses rapports avec l'avifaune en période de nidification. *Bulletin Ecologie*, 13 (2) : 125-144.
- BREDIN, D & J. SKINNER (1983). Effets des niveaux d'eau sur les conditions d'hivernage des anatidés et des foulques au lac de l'Ichkeul (Tunisie). Etude préliminaire (hiver 1982-83).
 Rapport du Centre d'Ecologie de Camargue Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique. Rapport de convention n° 82 108 de la mission des études et de la Recherche, Secrétariat d'Etat à l'Environnement, 51p.
- CHESSEL, D. & S. DOLÉDEC (1993). ADE Version 3.6 Hypercard Stacks and QuickBacic Microsoft Programme Library for the Analysis of Environnemental Data. URA CNRS 1451, Université de Lyon I, France.
- CRAMP, S. & K. SIMMONS (1977). Handbook of the Birds of Europe, the Middle East and North Africa. The Birds of the Western Palearctic. Vol. 1. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- DRAULANS, D. & L. VANHERCK (1987). Food and foraging of coot *Fulica atra* on fish ponds during autumn migration. *Wildfowl*, 38 : 63-69.
- DUBOWY, P.J. (1988). Waterfowl communities and seasonal environments : temporal variability in interspecific competition. *Ecology*, 69 (5) : 1439-1453.
- FASOLA, M. & X. RUIZ (1997). Rice farming and waterbirds : integrated management in an artificial landscape. In : PAIN & PIECKOWSKI (eds.), *Farming and Birds in Europe*, Academic Press, London : 210-235.
- FROCHOT, B. & V. GODREAU (1995). Intérêt écologique des carrières, terrils et mines. *Natures-Sciences-Sociétés*, hors série, 66-76.
- HOYER, F. (1994). Rôle des gravières et des lacs collinéaires. *Le journal du chasseur*, 39 : 6-15.
- IRWIN, S. & J. O'HALLORAN (1997). The wintering behaviour of coot *Fulica atra* L. at Cork Lough, South-West Ireland. Biology and Environment. *Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy*, 2: 157-162.
- JOACHIM, J., J.F. BOUSQUET & C. FAURE (1997). Atlas des oiseaux nicheurs de Midi-Pyrénées, Association Régionale Ornithologique de Midi-Pyrénées, Graph'team Press, Toulouse.
- JORDE, D.G., G.L. KRAPU & R.D. CRAWFORD (1983). Feeding ecology of mallards wintering in Nebraska. *Journal of Wildlife and Management*, 47 (4): 1044-1053.
- KEYWOOD, K.P. & W.D. MELLUISH (1953). A report on the bird populations of four gravel pits in the London area, 1948-1951. London Bird Report, 17: 43-72.
- MASTRORILLO, S., F. DAUBA & A. BELAUD (1996). Utilisation des microhabitats par le vairon, le goujon et la loche franche dans trois rivières du sud-ouest de la France. *International Journal of Limnology*, 32 (3) : 75-85.
- MILNE, B.S. (1974). Ecological succession and bird-life at a newly excavated gravel-pit. *Bird Study*, 21 (4) : 263-278.
- MORI, Y. (2001). Individual differences of diving behavior, food availability and chick growth rate within a breeding season in Chinstrap Penguins. *Waterbirds*, 24 : 443-445.

- OLNEY, P.J.S. (1964). Gravel pits as waterfowl reserves. *IUCN Publications New Series*, 3 : 414-420.
- PHILIPS, V.E. (1992). Variation in winter wildfowl numbers on gravel lakes at Great Lindford, Buckinghamshire, 1974-77, 1984-91, with particular reference to the effects of fish removal. *Bird Study*, 39 : 177-185.
- SANTOUL, F. (2000). L'avifaune aquatique des gravières de la plaine alluviale de la Garonne. Thèse, Université de Toulouse III, 207p.
- SANTOUL, F & J.N. TOURENQ (2002). Les gravières de la plaine alluviale de la Garonne comme milieu d'accueil de la

Foulque macroule (*Fulica atra*). *Revue Ecologie*, 57 : 165-180.

- SAUER, F. (1982). Les oiseaux d'Europe. Solar Press, France.
- TAMISIER, A & O. DEHORTER (1999). Camargue canards et foulques. Centre Ornithologique du Gard, 369p.
- TAMISIER, A. (1972). Etho-écologie des sarcelles d'hiver (Anas c. crecca L.) pendant leur hivernage en camargue. Thèse, Université de Montpellier, 157p.
- ZORN, T., G. DELACOUR & J.P. ROBIN (1995). Conditions corporelles des canards colverts (*Anas platyrhynchos*) hivernant en Alsace pendant l'hiver 1990/1991.*Game and Wildlife*, 12:79-94.

Received: February 24, 2003 Accepted: October 28, 2003

Operculum of peppered loach, *Lepidocephalichthys guntea* (Hamilton, 1822) (Cobitidae, Cypriniformes) : a scanning electron microscopic and histochemical investigation

Swati Mittal, Pinky and Ajay Kumar Mittal

Skin Physiology Laboratory, Centre of Advance Study, Department of Zoology, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi 221 005 India

Corresponding author : Ajay Kumar Mittal, e-mail : mittal@bhu.ac.in

ABSTRACT. Lepidocephalichthys guntea frequently darts and burrows in mud or sand, and spends most of the time buried in the soft bottom of water bodies. The epidermis covering its outer surface (OE) and the epithelium lining the inner surface of the operculum (EISO) differ noticeably in their surface architecture seen under SEM, and in their glycoprotein secretions analysed histochemically in whole mounts. This indicates their important physiological activity as mediators for extrinsic factors to which these are exposed. Micro-ridges arranged compactly may impart firm consistency to the free surfaces of the epithelial cells in the OE as an adaptation to mechanical stress during burrowing. In the EISO, which is not prone to abrasion during burrowing, in contrast, widely spaced microridges suggest less rigid surfaces. Mucous cells are of two types, A and B, in the OE, and only one, type C, in the EISO. Most mucous cells in the OE are type A, and elaborate mainly sulphated glycoprotein, which is associated with an increase in the viscosity of mucus providing protection against possible mechanical damage during burrowing and against pathogens. In contrast, glycoproteins with oxidisable vicinal diols and with carboxyl groups elaborated by type C mucous cells in the EISO are considered to lower viscosity of the mucus. Mucus with lower viscosity is washed away more easily by water currents, preventing accumulation on the surface that may obstruct or disturb the smooth flow of respiratory current across the branchial chamber. Presence of prominent taste buds in the OE is considered as an adaptation to locate food with increased efficiency. Presence of a large number of taste buds in the EISO, is regarded as an adaptation to detect other chemicals that could enter the buccal cavity during respiration. Possible functional significance of glycoprotein secretions in the taste buds are discussed.

KEY WORDS : L. guntea, opercular surfaces, SEM, whole mount, glycoprotein histochemistry.

INTRODUCTION

The operculum in teleosts is an important structure covering the branchial chamber, primarily providing protection for the gills and preventing water entering the gill cavity during inspiration. The epithelium lining the inner surface of the operculum (EISO) in fishes is only in contact with the water entering the gill cavity, whereas the epidermis covering the outer surface of the operculum (OE) contacts all kinds of media, including the substrates into which fish burrow. This difference could impart modifications in the organisational patterns of the surfaces of the OE and the EISO.

A review of the literature reveals that comparative studies on aspects of the organisational patterns of the OE and the EISO have not drawn the attention of many researchers. GARG et al. (1995), using scanning electron microscopy, reported significant differences in the surface organisation of the OE and the EISO of an air breathing catfish *Clarias batrachus* Linnaeus, 1758.

The objective of this study was to compare the surface architecture of the OE and the EISO of *Lepidocephalichthys guntea* Hamilton, 1822 (Common names : Peppered loach, Guntea loach or Torential loach), using scanning electron microscopy, and to visualise glycoproteins, using histochemical methods, in whole mount preparations in light microscopy. Such a comparison may enable determination of whether or not the dichotomy in these tissues reflects differences in their functional organisation, and may promote better understanding of their roles in relation to the habit and habitat of the fish.

Loaches, in general, inhabit flowing or even stagnant waters, preferably parts that are not too deep and have a soft bottom. The fish has a habit of suddenly burrowing into the mud or sand on the bottom and in this way protects itself from predators. Food consists chiefly of worms and insect larvae, obtained by very sagacious hunting (GÜNTHER, 1989). *L. guntea* spends most of the time buried in the sandy bottom, but often comes to the surface with swift movements to gulp atmospheric air (MISHRA & AHMAD, 1986).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Live specimens of *L. guntea* (mean length 70 ± 5 mm, n = 10) were collected from the river Ganges at Varanasi, India and were kept in a laboratory aquarium, with a layer

of sand at the bottom, at 25 ± 2 °C for up to 24 - 48h. The fish were cold anaesthetised, following MITTAL & WHITEAR (1978), to excise the opercular pieces for this study.

Scanning electron microscopy

Opercular pieces were treated and prepared for scanning electron microscopy following PINKY et al. (2002). Critical point dried opercular pieces, attached to stubs with the OE or EISO facing upwards, were coated with gold and examined under a Scanning Electron Microscope (Leo, 435 VP, England).

Whole mount study

Opercular pieces were rinsed in physiological saline, fixed in Carnoy's fluid or alcoholic Bouin's fluid, washed and stored in 70% ethyl alcohol. Intact sheets of OE and EISO were dissected from the opercular pieces, using fine forceps and needles, under a Nikon stereoscopic microscope (model SMZ - 1B) following MITTAL & GARG (1988). The sheets were hydrated in a descending ethanol series and stained with the histochemical methods along with their controls for glycoproteins summarised in Table 1. The stained sheets were dehydrated in graded ethanol in ascending concentrations, cleared in xylene, and mounted in Harleco synthetic resin (HSR) or in Kirkpatrick and Lendrum's distrene dibutylphthalate xylene (DPX). Observations were made on a Leitz microscope (model Laborlux S). Photomicrographs were taken with a Leitz camera system for automatic microphotography (model Vario Orthomat 2).

Densities of mucous cells and taste buds in the OE and the EISO were calculated using a stage micrometer (1 division = 0.01mm) and an eyepiece graticule with a square grid (5 x 5 = 25 squares) (Carl Zeiss, Jena). Ten randomly selected sites of each sample were analysed. Data thus obtained for each, the OE or the EISO, from five fishes were pooled separately and results were expressed as mean value \pm SD throughout.

TABLE 1

Summary of the histochemical methods for visualisation of glycoproteins in different types of mucous cells and the taste buds in the OE and the EISO of *L. guntea* (Carnoy's fluid fixed tissues).

Histochemical	Depations	Internetation of reactions	Defevences	Mucous cells Types			Taste
methods	Reactions	interpretation of reactions	References	A	В	С	buds
1. WO/ S	М	Free aldehydes		_	_	_	_
2. PAS	М	GPs with oxidisable vicinal diols and/or gly- cogen	McManus, 1948	1-2M	3-4M	3-4M	2M
3. Acetylation/PAS	0(M)	Same as '2'	LILLIE & FULLMER, 1976	_	_	_	_
4. α -amylase/PAS	М	GPs with oxidisable vicinal diols	SPICER et al., 1967	1-2M	3-4M	3-4M	2M
	0(M)	Glycogen					
5. AB2.5	Т	GPs with carboxyl groups and/or with O- sul- fate esters	Mowry, 1956	3-4T	#	3-4T	2T
6. Active methylation AB2.5	0	GPs with carboxyl groups and/or with O- sul- fate esters	SPICER et al., 1967	-	-	-	-
7. Active methylation/ saponification AB2.5	Т	GPs with carboxyl groups	Spicer et al., 1967	1-2T	#	2-3T	1T
	0(T)	GPs with O-sulfate esters					
8. AB1.0	T	GPs with O-sulfate esters	LEV & SPICER, 1964	2-3T	#	1-2T	1T
9. Active methylation AB1.0	0	GPs with O-sulfate esters	SPICER et al., 1967	-	-	-	-
10. AB2.5/PAS	М	GPs with oxidisable vicinal diols and/or gly- cogen	Mowry, 1963	3-4TP	2-3M	3-4P	2P
	T GPs with carboxyl groups and/or with O-sul-						
	Р	GPs with oxidisable vicinal diols and/or gly- cogen, GPs with carboxyl groups and/or with O-sulfate esters					
11. AB1.0/PAS	М	GPs with oxidisable vicinal diols and/or glycogen	SPICER et al., 1967	2-3TP	2-3M	3-4MP	2MP
	Т	GPs with O-sulfate esters	*				
	Р	GPs with oxidisable vicinal diols and/or gly- cogen, GPs with O-sulfate esters					

Methods : WO/S, without oxidation Schiff's; PAS, periodic acid/Schiff; AB2.5, alcian blue at pH2.5; AB1.0, alcian blue at pH1.0.

Reactions : #, could not be distinguished; M, magenta; MP, magenta with purple tinge; P, purple; T, turquoise; TP, turquoise with purple tinge; -, no reaction; 1 to 4, feeble to very strong reactions.

RESULTS

Scanning electron microscopy

The surfaces of the opercular epidermis (OE) and the epithelium lining the inner surface of the operculum

(EISO) in *L. guntea* were a mosaic of irregularly polygonal epithelial cells of varied dimensions (Fig. 1 a, b). The free surfaces of the epithelial cells were differentiated into micro-ridges forming characteristic patterns. In the OE, the microridges were compactly arranged, sinuous with jagged surface, short and branched with abrupt ends



Fig. 1 (a-d). Scanning electron photomicrographs showing surface architecture of (a) OE and (b-d) EISO of *L. guntea.* (a) OE showing mosaic of epithelial cells with prominent boundaries. Microridges, often with fine microbridges (arrows) on the surface of the epithelial cells are compact and irregularly interwoven to form complex patterns. Note the presence of mucous cell apertures (winged arrows) laden with blobs of oozed mucus. (Scale bar = 5 μ m). (b) EISO. Compare with OE (a). The microridges are without microbridges and are widely spaced to form simplified patterns on the surface of the epithelial cells. The mucous cell apertures are smaller (arrows). (Scale bar = 5 μ m). (c) The surface of the EISO is irregularly folded with high density of taste buds (arrows). (Scale bar = 40 μ m). (d) EISO showing conical epidermal elevation with a taste bud. Note microvilli, representing taste hairs, projected at the summit. (Scale bar = 5 μ m).

Fig. 1 (e-f). Photomicrographs of whole mount preparations of (e) OE and (f) EISO of *L. guntea.* (e) Showing a large number of type A mucous cells (arrows) (turquoise with purple tinge in original). Type B mucous cells are relatively few (winged arrows) (magenta in original). A few taste buds (arrowheads) (purple in original) are also discernible. (AB 2.5/PAS). (Scale bar=40 μ m). (f) Showing type C mucous cells (arrows) (deep purple in original) and a large number of taste buds (arrowheads) (purple in original). (AB2.5/PAS). (Scale bar=40 μ m).

or irregularly interwoven to form intricate mesh-like patterns (Fig. 1a). The microridges were often interconnected with fine transverse connections –microbridges (Fig. 1a). Boundaries between adjacent epithelial cells were demarcated by double rows of intimately associated microridges that often gave a braided appearance (Fig. 1a).

The surface of the EISO, in contrast, was irregularly folded (Fig. 1c). The microridges on the surfaces of the epithelial cells appeared smooth, elongated, extensive or sometimes fragmented, and often oriented regularly almost parallel to each other with wide spaces between them to form simplified patterns (Fig. 1b). Microbridges were absent. Furthermore, the double row of microridges at boundaries between adjacent epithelial cells appeared smooth and extensive (Fig. 1b).

Interspersed between the epithelial cells, mucous cell apertures and prominent taste buds were distinguished on the surfaces of both the OE and the EISO. The mucous cell apertures, generally, were rounded and occurred at the border of three or four epithelial cells (Fig. 1a, b). These apertures in the OE, as compared to those in the EISO, appeared wide, often laden with blobs of oozed mucus (Fig. 1a). Each taste bud was situated on a characteristic epidermal elevation (Fig. 1c), which in general, appeared conical and jutted out at the surface (Fig. 1d). At the summit of each elevation, closely packed microvilli representing taste hairs projected through a rounded taste pore (Fig. 1d).

Whole mount study

In the whole mount preparations of OE and EISO, the mucous cells, in general, appeared rounded (Fig. 1e, f), each opening to the surface through a narrow secretory pore. Histochemical methods employed to demonstrate glycoproteins differentiated three categories of mucous cells : for convenience designated as type A, B and C mucous cells (Table 1). In the OE, type A and type B mucous cells were distinguished (Fig. 1e), most belonging to type A, while type B mucous cells were sporadic. In the EISO, in contrast, only type C mucous cells were visualised (Fig. 1f). The density of mucous cells in the EISO was high, compared to that in the OE (Table 2).

TABLE 2

Density of mucous cells and the taste buds in the OE and the EISO of *L. guntea*

	Density (number/mm ²)					
Region	Region Mucous cells					
	Type A	Туре В	Туре С			
OE	1392.00	108.80	_	35.20		
	±155.83	± 95.64		± 32.67		
EISO	_	_	2443.64	252.80		
			± 333.56	± 73.34		

Values = mean \pm SD; N = 5 fish; -, absent

Analysis of reactions with the combination of histochemical methods and their controls (Table 1) indicate that type A mucous cells contain high amounts of glycoproteins with O-sulphate esters, together with relatively small amounts of glycoproteins with carboxyl groups and glycoproteins with oxidisable vicinal diols. Type B mucous cells contain high amounts of glycoproteins with oxidisable vicinal diols. Type C mucous cells contain high amounts of glycoproteins with oxidisable vicinal diols, and glycoproteins with carboxyl groups, together with low amounts of glycoproteins with O-sulphate esters.

Taste buds were conspicuous in the whole-mounts of OE and EISO. The epithelial cells around each taste bud were characteristically arranged in concentric whorls (Fig. 1f). The cluster of sensory cells and the tuft of taste hairs of each taste bud were stained positively for glyco-proteins (Fig. 1e, f). Analysis of these reactions (Table 1) shows that the taste buds contain moderate amounts of glycoproteins with oxidisable vicinal diols together with glycoproteins with C-sulphate esters. Density of taste buds was much higher in the EISO than in the OE (Fig. 1 e, f) (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

Noticeable differences exhibited in the patterns of microridges on the epithelial cells, composition of glycoproteins elaborated by mucous cells and distribution of taste buds on the surfaces of the OE and the EISO of *L. guntea* may be considered as modifications relating to possible difference in the functional requirements at the two locations.

Microridges have been reported to vary considerably in configuration and disposition, constituting varied patterns at different locations in different fish species, and have been implicated to play variable roles. These include to retain mucous secretions to the cell surface, to increase the surface area for excretion and absorption through the skin, to facilitate the spread of mucus away from goblet cells, to aid in producing laminar flow, to provide reserve surface area for stretching, and so on (see review of WHITEAR, 1990). In the OE of L. guntea, compactly arranged microridges forming intricate mesh-like patterns, may in addition impart firm consistency or rigidity to the free surfaces of the epithelial cells. This could be considered as an adaptation to withstand mechanical stress and protect the surface of the fish, which has the characteristic habit of frequently darting and burrowing in sand or mud. Furthermore, these microridges may gain a firm base and support from a dense network of fine filaments - the terminal web, which, as shown by SCHLIWA (1975), MITTAL et al. (1980) and WHITEAR (1986), is differentiated characteristically at the apical regions of the surface epithelial cells. The microbridges interconnecting the microridges may further reinforce renitency of the surfaces of epithelial cells in the OE of L. guntea. Microbridges, variously named as cross connections (WHITEAR, 1990) or interconnections (REUTTER et al., 1974) in fish epidermis, and as microbridges (KARLSSON, 1983) or crossbridges (AVELLA & EHRENFELD, 1997) in gill epithelia, have also been reported previously. In the EISO, in contrast, widely spaced microridges forming simplified patterns and the absence of microbridges between them suggest less rigid surfaces of the epithelial cells. This is interesting since the EISO, unlike the OE is not prone to abrasion during burrowing.

The characteristically folded surface of the EISO in *L. guntea* may further be considered to impart stretchability to the epithelium, required for expansion of the branchial chamber during respiratory movements of the operculum. Furthermore, it may account for increased surface area as well for respiration in the fish.

Acid glycoproteins have been shown to coincide with increased viscosity of mucus in the alimentary tract of fish Arrhamphus sclerolepis krefftii Steindachner, 1866 (TIBBETTS, 1997), in airway epithelia of mammals (JONES et al., 1973; IRAVANI & MELVILLE, 1974) and in corals (MIEKLE et al., 1988). The elaboration of mainly sulphated glycoproteins by type A mucous cells, the most common type in the OE in L. guntea, could thus be related to increased viscosity of the mucus and lubrication of the surface of the fish. This could play a vital role in providing protection to the body against mechanical damage to which these fishes are highly vulnerable during burrowing in mud or sand. MITTAL et al. (1994 a, b) also correlated the release of large amounts of epidermal glycoproteins with O-sulphate esters to provide heavy lubrication to protect the body against mechanical damage in Monopterus cuchia Hamilton, 1822 and Mastacembelus pancalus Hamilton, 1822 during their peculiar wriggling movements on moist grass and during burrowing in mud. Elaboration of sulphated glycoproteins by superficial layer epithelial cells and most mucous cells in the epidermis of semi-amphibious Blenny sanguinolentus Pallas, 1811 (ZACCONE, 1983) and Blennius pholis Linnaeus, 1758 (WHITEAR & MITTAL, 1984) both with the habit of creeping about with the aid of paired fins, further supports this view.

Furthermore, sulphation of complex carbohydrates has also been shown to result in increased resistance to their enzymatic breakdown by bacterial glycosidases (MIAN et al., 1979; TSAI et al., 1992), to play a role in defence against pathogens (SOLANKI & BENJAMIN, 1982) and to prevent the proliferation of pathogenic microorganisms (TSUKISE & YAMADA, 1981; SUPRASERT et al., 1986, 1987). Thus high proportions of sulphated glycoproteins in the mucous cell secretions on the surface of the OE in *L. guntea* may also confer high resistance against pathogens and protect the fish.

SIBBING & URIBE (1985) reported that sialomucins are less viscous than sulphomucins produced by mucous cells in the pharynx of *Cyprinus carpio* Linnaeus, 1758. Further, TIBBETTS (1997) has shown that neutral glycoproteins are less viscous than the acid glycoproteins produced by mucous cells in the alimentary tract of *A*. *sclerolepis krefftii*. Elaboration of glycoproteins with oxidisable vicinal diols (neutral glycoproteins) and glycoproteins with carboxyl groups (sialomucins) in high concentrations by the type C mucous cells in the EISO of *L*. *guntea*, would thus lower the viscosity of the mucus in this region. Mucus with lower viscosity is considered to be fairly easily washed away with the respiratory water current. This prevents the accumulation of mucus on the surface of the EISO that could otherwise obstruct or disturb the smooth flow of respiratory current across the branchial chamber. Generally, visibility is poor at the muddy bottoms inhabited by L. guntea, owing to depth and increased turbidity, caused by the disturbance of the bottom mud due to the characteristic habit of the fish. The presence of prominent taste buds in the OE might be considered to increase the probability of accurately detecting and locating prey concealed by darkness or turbidity, and may also permit the accurate location of small food particles, which would be missed otherwise. Presence of a large number of conspicuous taste buds on the interior face of the operculum i.e. the EISO as well, could play a role in detecting other chemicals that could enter the buccal and gill cavity during respiration and that could potentially be noxious to gills. GARG & MITTAL (1990), however, reported the absence of taste buds in the EISO of C. batrachus. BARRINGTON (1957) reported that taste buds are often present even in fish oesophagus and postulated that it is an indication of the probable importance of this region in the selection and rejection of food.

Characteristic concentric whorls of epidermal cells encircling the taste buds in *L*. guntea are interesting. Such arrangements of epithelial cells have also been reported in *C. batrachus* (GARG et al., 1995) and in cod (HARVEY & BATTY, 1998). HARVEY & BATTY (1998) stated that the characteristic ring of epithelial cells may make it possible to locate and count taste buds even when their apex was damaged or missing.

Presence of glycoproteins indicates a secretory function of the taste buds of L. guntea. GROVER-JOHNSON & FARBMAN (1976) and REUTTER (1971), using transmission electron microscopy, reported two types of gustatory cells - light and dark - in the taste buds of Ictalurus punctatus Rafinesque, 1818 and Ameiurus nebulosus LeSuer, 1819. GROVER-JOHNSON & FARBMAN, (1976) postulated that the dark cells were secretory in function. WITT & REUTTER (1990) have shown, using lectin histochemistry for the detection of carbohydrates, that the dark sensory cells in the taste buds in European catfish Silurus glanis Linnaeus, 1758 are secretory. Glycoproteins with sialic acids have also been demonstrated in the taste buds in rabbit tongue (WITT & MILLER, 1992). The secretions in the taste buds have been postulated to play different roles e.g. to maintain and regulate the chemical microenvironment (GROVER-JOHNSON & FARBMAN, 1976), to protect mucus or other glycoproteins in the taste bud cells and inside the taste pore from premature enzymatic degradation and to have a hormone-like paraneuronal function (WITT & MILLER, 1992), and to play a role in recognition phenomena on the plasmalemmata of the taste bud sensory cells and recognition processes directed to bacteria or viruses (WITT & REUTTER 1990). FUJITA (1994) and ZACCONE et al. (1999) also suggested a paraneuronal role of the gustatory cells in taste buds.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Swati Mittal was supported by a Junior Research Fellowship and then a Senior Research Fellowship under the joint CSIR-UGC NET Fellowship Schemes sponsored by the University Grants Commission, Government of India. Pinky was supported by a Junior Research Fellowship of Banaras Hindu University.

REFERENCES

- AVELLA, M. & J. EHRENFELD (1997). Fish gill respiratory cells in culture : A new model for Cl⁻- secreting epithelia J. Membrane Biol., 156 : 8-97.
- BARRINGTON, E.J.W. (1957). The alimentary canal and digestion. In : BROWN M.E. (ed), *The physiology of fishes*, Academic Press, New York : 109-161.
- FUJITA, T. (1994). Gustatory cells as paraneurons. In : KURI-HARA, K., N. SUZUKI & H. OGAWA (eds.), Olfaction and Taste, XI, Springer-Verlag, Tokyo : 2-4.
- GARG, T.K. & A.K. MITTAL (1990). The epidermal and inner epithelial lining of the operculum in *Clarias batrachus* (Clariidae, Siluriformes). *Japan. J. Ichthyol.*, 37 : 149-157.
- GARG, T.K., V. DEEPA & A.K. MITTAL (1995). Surface architecture of the opercular epidermis and epithelium lining the inner surface of the operculum of a walking catfish, *Clarias batrachus. Japan. J. Ichthyol.*, 42 : 181-185.
- GROVER- JOHNSON, N. & A. I. FARBMAN (1976). Fine structure of the taste buds in the barbel of the catfish, Ictalurus punctatus. Cell Tiss. Res. ,169 : 395-404.
- GÜNTHER, S. (1989). Fresh water fishes of the world Vol. I & II (Translated and revised by TUCKER, D. W.), Falcon books, Cosmo Publications, New Delhi.
- HARVEY, R. & R.S. BATTY (1998). Cutaneous taste buds in cod. *J. Fish Biol.*, 53 : 138-149.
- IRAWANI, J. & G.N. MELVILLE (1974). Long term effects of cigarette smoke on the mucocilliary function in animals. *Respiration*, 31 : 358-366.
- JONES, R., P. BOLDUC & L. REID (1973). Goblet cell glycoprotein and tracheal gland hypertrophy in rat airways : the effects of tobacco smoke with or without the anti-inflammatory agent phenylmethylaxadiozole. *Br. J. exp. Path.*, 54 : 229-239.
- KARLSSON, L. (1983). Gill morphology in the zebra fish, *Brachydanio rerio* (Hamilton-Buchanan). J. Fish Biol., 23 : 511-524.
- LEV, R. & S.S. SPICER (1964). Specific staining of sulphate groups with alcian blue at low pH. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.*, 12:309.
- LILLIE, R.D. & H.M. FULLMER (1976). *Histopathologic Technic* and *Practical Histochemistry*, 4th ed., McGraw-Hill, New York.
- MCMANUS, J.F.A. (1948). Histological and histochemical uses of periodic acid. *Stain Technol.*, 23 : 99-108.
- MIAN, N., C.E. ANDERSON & P.W. KENT (1979). Effect of O- sulphated groups in lactose and N-actyl- neuraminyl lactose on their enzymatic hydrolysis. *Biochem. J.*, 181 : 387-399.
- MIEKLE, P., G.N. RICHARDS & D.YELLOWLEES (1988). Structural investigations on the mucus from six species of coral. *Marine Biology*, 99 : 187-193.
- MISHRA, K.P. & M.F. AHMAD (1986). On the structural adaptation of an intestinal breather *Lepidocephalichthys guntea* (Ham.), a torrential loach. *Curr. Sci.*, 55 : 210-211.
- MITTAL, A.K. & T.K. GARG (1988). An improved method of separation of intact epidermal sheets in fish. J. Fish Biol., 32: 803-804.
- MITTAL, A.K. & M. WHITEAR (1978). A note on cold anaesthesia of poikilotherms. J. Fish. Biol., 13: 519-520.
- MITTAL, A.K., M. WHITEAR & S.K. AGARWAL (1980). Fine structure and histochemistry of the epidermis of the fish *Monopterus cuchia. J. Zool., Lond.*, 191 : 107-125.
- MITTAL, A.K., T. UEDA, O. FUJIMORI & K. YAMADA (1994a). Histochemical analysis of glycoproteins in the epidermal mucous cells and sacciform cells of an Indian swamp eel *Monopterus cuchia* (Hamilton) (Synbranchiformes, Pisces). *Acta Histochem. Cytochem.*, 27 : 193-204.

- MITTAL, A.K., T. UEDA, O. FUJIMORI & K. YAMADA (1994b). Histochemical analysis of glycoproteins in the unicellular glands in the epidermis of an Indian freshwater fish *Mastacembelus pancalus* (Hamilton). *Histochem. J.*, 26 : 666-677.
- MOWRY, R.W. (1956). Alcian blue techniques for the histochemical study of acidic carbohydrates. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 4 : 407-408.
- MOWRY, R.W. (1963). The special value of methods that colour both acidic and vicinal hydroxyl groups in the histochemical study of mucins with revised directions for the colloidal iron stain, the use of alcian blue 8GX, and their combination with the periodic acid-Schiff reaction. *Ann. NY. Acad. Sci.*, 106 : 402-423.
- PINKY, S. MITTAL, J. OJHA & A.K. MITTAL (2002). Scanning electron microscopic study of the structures associated with lips of an Indian hill stream fish *Garra lamta* (Hamilton) (Cyprinidae, Cypriniformes). *Europ. J. Morph.*, 40 : 161-169.
- REUTTER, K. (1971). Die Geschmacksknospen des Zwergwelses Ameiurus nebulosus (Lesueur). Morphologische und Histochemische Untersuchungen. Z. Zellforsch., 120 :280-308.
- REUTTER, K., W. BREIPOHL & G.J. BIJVANK (1974). Taste bud types in fishes. II Scanning electron microscopical investigations on *Xiphophorus helleri* Heckel (Poeciliidae, Cyprinodontiformes, Teleostei). *Cell Tissue Res.*, 153 : 151-165.
- SCHLIWA, M. (1975). Cytoarchitecture of surface layer cells of the teleost epidermis. J. Ultrastruct. Res., 52: 377-386.
- SIBBING, F.A. & R. URIBE (1985). Regional specialisations in the oropharyngeal wall and food processing in the carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). *Neth. J. Zool.*, 35 : 377-422.
- SOLANKI, T.G. & M. BENJAMIN (1982). Changes in the mucous cells of the gills, buccal cavity and epidermis of the ninespined stickleback, *Pungitus pungitus* L., induced by transferring the fish to sea water. J. Fish Biol., 21: 563-575.
- SPICER, S. S., R. G. HORN & T. J. LEPPI (1967). Histochemistry of connective tissue mucopolysaccharides. In : WANGNER, B. M. & D. E. SMITH (eds.), *The Connective Tissue*, Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore : 251-303.
- SUPRASERT, A., T. FUJIOKA & K. YAMADA (1986). Glycoconjugates in the secretory epithelium of the chicken mandibular gland. *Histochem. J.*, 18 : 115-121.
- SUPRASERT, A., T. FUJIOKA & K. YAMADA (1987). The histochemistry of glycoconjugates in the colonic epithelium of the chicken. *Histochemistry*, 86 : 491-497.
- TIBBETTS, I.R. (1997). The distribution and function of mucous cells and their secretions in the alimentary tract of *Arrhamphus sclerolepis krefftii*. J. Fish Biol., 50 : 809-820.
- TSAI, H.H., D. SUNDERLAND, H. GIBSON, C.A. HART & J.M. RHODES (1992). A novel mucin sulphatase from human faeces : its identification, purification and characterization. *Clin. Sci.*, 82 : 447-454.
- TSUKISE, A. & K. YAMADA (1981). The histochemistry of complex carbohydrates in the scrotum of the boar. *Histochemistry*, 72 : 511-521.
- WHITEAR, M. (1986). Epidermis. In : BEREITER-HAHN, J., A. G. MATOLTSY, & K. S. RICHARDS (eds.), *Biology of the Integument*. Vol. 2, *Vertebrates*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin : 8-38.
- WHITEAR, M. (1990). Causative aspects of microridges on the surface of fish epithelia. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol., 22 : 211-220.
- WHITEAR, M. & A.K. MITTAL (1984). Surface secretions of the skin of *Blennius (Lipophrys) pholis L. J. Fish Biol.*, 25: 317-313.
- WITT, M. & Jr. I.J. MILLER (1992). Comparative lectin histochemistry on taste buds in foliate, circumvallate and fungiform papillae of the rabbit tongue. *Histochem*, 98 : 173-182.
- WITT, M. & K. REUTTER (1990). Electron microscopic demonstration of lectin binding sites in the taste buds of the European catfish *Silurus glanis* (Teleostei). *Histochem*, 94 : 617-628.

- ZACCONE, G. (1983). Histochemical studies of acid proteoglycans and glycoproteins and activities of hydrolytic and oxidoreductive enzymes in the skin epidermis of the fish *Blennius sanguinolentus* Pallas (Teleostei : Blenniidae). *Histochemistry*, 78 : 163-175.
- ZACCONE, G., A. MAUCERI, L. AINIS, S. FASULO & A. LICATA (1999). Paraneurons in the skin and gills of fishes. In : SAXENA, D.N., (ed.), *Ichthyology. Recent research advances*, Oxford and IBH, New Delhi, Calcutta : 417-447.

Received : June 27, 2003 Accepted after revision : December 27, 2003

Macrofaunal community structure and zonation of an Ecuadorian sandy beach (bay of Valdivia)

Katrien Aerts¹, Thomas Vanagt¹, Steven Degraer¹, Sonnia Guartatanga², Jan Wittoeck¹, Nancy Fockedey¹, Maria Pilar Cornejo-Rodriguez², Jorge Calderón³ and Magda Vincx¹

¹ Marine Biology Section, Department of Biology, Ghent University, Krijgslaan 281 S8, B-9000 Ghent, Belgium

³ Centro Nacional de Acuicultura e Investigaciones Marinas (CENAIM), Campus Gustavo Galindo, Km 30.5 Vía Perimetral, P.O. Box 09-01-5863, Guayaquil, Ecuador

Corresponding author : Thomas Vanagt, e-mail : Thomas.vanagt@UGent.be

ABSTRACT. The sandy beach macrofauna of the Bay of Valdivia (Ecuador) was sampled in August-September 1999 along six replicate transects between the high and low water line. The sediment consisted of well-sorted, fine to medium sand. Taking into account the dimensionless fall velocity (Ω) and the relative tidal range, the beach was characterized as an exposed, low tide terrace - rip beach. The distribution of the macrofauna was mainly determined by the elevation on the beach. Thirty-one taxa were found throughout the study, varying between 10 and 22 taxa per transect. Molluscs were the most dominant taxon (overall average : 285 ind/m², max. : 2135 ind/m²), followed by crustaceans. The gastropod Olivella semistriata (overall average : 243 ind/m², max. : 2131 ind/m²) was the most abundant species. The crustaceans were the most diverse taxon (10 spp.); Haustorius sp., Excirolana braziliensis and Emerita rathbunae were the most abundant species. Densities of polychaetes were low in comparison with the previous two taxa mentioned (overall average : 13 ind/m²). The total average density over the entire bay was 370 ind/m². Three zones of macrofaunal distribution along the tidal gradient could be distinguished : an upper beach, a middle beach and a lower beach assemblage. The upper beach assemblage consisted mainly of Excirolana braziliensis and ghost crabs. The middle beach assemblage had highest macrofaunal densities and was dominated by Olivella semistriata and Haustorius sp. The most diverse assemblage was found on the low beach, with representatives of different taxa, but with lower densities. These results are in conformity with other studies along the Pacific coast of South America and fit into the zonation scheme of DAHL (1952). Given that many other studies from South America were done at temperate latitudes, we conclude that, although differences in species composition were found, the general pattern of macrobenthos zonation on sandy beaches is similar in tropical regions.

KEY WORDS : Macrobenthos, sandy beach, Ecuador.

INTRODUCTION

Macrofaunal zonation on sandy beaches is a distinctive and well-described phenomenon of intertidal zones (MCLACHLAN & JARAMILLO, 1995). The existence of species zonation on exposed sandy beaches is thought to be mainly caused by species-specific responses to swash climate and sedimentology, with a less critical role of biological interactions (MCLACHLAN, 1983a; MCLACH-LAN et al., 1993; MCLACHLAN & JARAMILLO, 1995).

Different generalizing zonation schemes for sandy beach macrofauna have been proposed (DAVENPORT, 1903; MORTENSEN, 1921; SCHULZ, 1937) with the schemes of DAHL (1952) and SALVAT (1964 and 1967) being the most commonly used. DAHL (1952) suggested a distinction between three zones, defined in terms of a typical crustacean fauna inhabiting each zone, while SALVAT proposed a four zone system based on physical conditions.

In all of the studies describing intertidal zonation within different South American Atlantic and Pacific regions, three zones have been recognized (McLACHLAN & JARAMILLO, 1995 and references herein), supporting Dahl's scheme. Several studies (CLARKE & PEÑA, 1988; DEFEO et al., 1992; DEXTER, 1974, MCLACHLAN & JARA-MILLO, 1995) showed that crustaceans are the most diverse taxon on South American sandy beaches. The upper parts of tropical and subtropical beaches are characterized by ocypodid crabs, while hippid crabs, bivalves and amphipods dominate the lower beach. Cirolanid isopods (Excirolana spp.) are abundant on the midshore, together with opheliid and spionid polychaetes; the bivalves Mesodesma spp. and Donax spp. are other characteristic organisms. To our knowledge, no information is available about sandy beach macrofauna in Ecuador. The studies of sandy beach macrofauna nearest to Ecuador were conducted to the south in Peru (8° S) by BOCANEGRA et al. (1985) and to the north in Colombia (1° 48' N) by RIASCOS & RALLÓN (2001), locations with different environmental conditions. Because the Ecuadorian coastal waters are divided by two opposite currents, the warm El Niño-current coming from the north, and the cold Humboldt-current coming from the south, and because of the tropical location of Ecuador, a different macrobenthic community structure might be expected.

² Faculty of Marine Engineering and Marine Sciences, Escuela Superior Politécnica del Litoral (ESPOL), Campus Gustavo Galindo, Km 30.5 Vía Perimetral, P.O. Box 09-01-5863, Guayaquil, Ecuador

In this study the intertidal zonation and assemblage structure of the macrofauna of the Bay of Valdivia (Ecuador; 1-2° S) were investigated. This bay was chosen because of the importance of the beach for harvesting shrimp larvae, which are used in one of Ecuador's largest economies.

This paper presents the distribution patterns of the macrofauna in order to set up a larger project on the influence of ENSO on macrobenthic communities of sandy beaches in Ecuador.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study site

The study area is located in the Bay of Valdivia, Ecuador (1°54'00" - 1°58'20" S and 80°46'00" - 80°45'30" W), approximately 50 km west of Guayaquil (Fig. 1). This 10 km long bay consists of 8 km of exposed sandy beaches with rock formations on either side.

The beaches have a semi-diurnal, mesotidal regime (DAVIES, 1964) with a tidal range of 2.5-3 m (average : 2.6 m). The modal breaker height (H_b) is 0.49 m. The modal wave period (T) is 14 s (unpublished pers. comm. S. GUARTATANGA).

The Ecuadorian coastal climate is characterised by two seasons : a dry-cool season (May-December) and a wetwarm season (January-April) and is influenced by currents in the Pacific Ocean. From July until October the area is subjected to the relatively cold (<22 °C) Humboldt-current, heading North, while during the months January until April the warm (>25 °C) El Niño-current, heading South, dominates.

Additional to the normal seasonality, with a periodicity of three to seven years the climatologic and oceanographic phenomenon ENSO dramatically alters the conditions along the Ecuadorian coast, with higher temperatures and precipitation levels during El Niño and lower temperatures during the subsequent La Niña.

Sampling and laboratory work

Sampling took place between 31 August and 5 September 1999. To cover habitat variability over the bay, six transects, distributed over the whole bay and perpendicular to the waterline, were sampled (Fig. 1 : A-F). Each transect was sampled at six stations : five stations were situated in the intertidal zone, while a sixth one was located on the dry beach. Sampling of the intertidal zone always started at high tide, following the receding water down the beach. To distribute the stations evenly across the intertidal gradient, the transect was sampled in the swash zone every 90 minutes (Fig. 2). At each station three replicate samples were collected by excavating a metal frame (sampling surface area: 0.1026 m²) to a depth of 15 cm. The samples were sieved alive over a 1 mm mesh-sized sieve. The organisms retained were stored in 8 % formaldehyde-seawater solution.

At each station, one sediment sample was collected for grain size analysis using a core with diameter 3.6 cm. In addition, the relative elevations of the different stations were measured using an altimeter. Distances between all sample sites were measured.



Fig. 1. – Geographical situation of the six sample transects (A-F) from the Bay of Valdivia, Ecuador (modified from BOOTHROYD et al., 1994).

Laboratory treatment

Macrobenthic organisms were counted and identified to species level, where possible.

The sediment grain size distribution between 2 and 850 μ m was determined with a laser COULTER LS and classified according to the Wentworth scale (BUCHANAN, 1984). The median grain size of the sand was largely biased by the mixture with shell fragments present in all samples, while the modal grain size remained unaffected. Hence, the modal grain size was preferred over median grain size as a good representation of the sediment's main characteristic.

Mathematical analyses

Combining the relative elevation of the lowest station of each transect with the data from the tide table for La Libertad (INOCAR) allowed estimation of their absolute elevation (relative to the mean low water level at spring tide, MLWS), from which the absolute elevation of all higher stations was calculated and beach profiles were obtained. By means of these beach profiles, the mean slope between low and high water of every transect was calculated. In this study, beach width is defined as the distance between the low water line and the lowest edge of the terrestrial vegetation.

The morphodynamic state of each transect was assessed by calculating the dimensionless fall velocity ($\Omega = H_b / w_s T$) (DEAN, 1973) and the relative tide range (RTR = MSR/H_b) (MASSELINK & SHORT, 1993). Sediment fall velocity (w_s) was obtained from sediment particle size after GIBBS et al. (1971). Mean spring tidal range (MSR) was obtained from the tide table (INOCAR).

For each sample the species richness (N_0) (HILL, 1973) and diversity (Shannon-Wiener diversity index, H') were determined (SHANNON & WEAVER, 1949). Community analysis was done by means of Cluster-analysis (CLIF- FORD & STEPHENSON, 1975), Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) (TER BRAAK, 1988) and Indicator Species Analysis (DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE, 1997). Correlations between environmental variables were analysed by means of the non-parametric Spearman rank correlation coefficient (CONOVER, 1971).

To visualize zonation patterns of density and the number of species (N_0) , polynomial functions were fit to the data according to the distance-weighted least squares smoothing procedure, using STATISTICA 5.1 (STATSOFT, 1996).

RESULTS

Environment

The beach width ranged from 70 to 172 m, while the width of the intertidal zone ranged from 42 to 109 m. The beach slope varied between 1:25 and 1:54. Ω was found between 1.172 and 1.541; RTR had a value of 5.306.

Although all transects were situated on the same beach, some variation in beach profile was observed (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. – Beach profiles at the six transects (*: additional measuring points; the most right point is the vegetation line).

Furthermore, an alternation of ridges and runnels was present at transect F, while all other transects showed a quite featureless beach profile. Transects C and D showed a break in their slope. The upper part of transect C was steeper than the lower part (1:14 versus 1:39). The middle part of transect D had a gentle slope compared to the lower and upper part.

Fine to medium sands (125-500 µm) dominated the sediment. The stations' modal grain size ranged between 171 µm and 262 µm, except for the lowest stations of the two northern-most transects (modal grain size: 325 µm). The fraction of silt and clay (<63 µm) was low (0-3.2 %) and was negatively correlated with the elevation (r=-0.707; p<0.0001) as was the fraction of coarse sand (>500 µm) (r=-0.428; p<0.0001).

Macrofauna

A total of 31 macrofaunal taxa (ten taxa of crustaceans, ten of molluscs, eight of polychaetes and five others) were collected (Table 1 : species list), ranging from ten to 22 taxa per transect and varying between nil and ten taxa per station. H' diversity index ranged from 0 to 2.87. Overall average macrobenthic density was 370 ind/m². Molluscs

dominated the fauna (average : 285 ind/m², max. : 2135 ind/m²), followed by crustaceans (average : 66 ind/m², max. : 413 ind/m²). The gastropod *Olivella semistriata* was the most dominant species of the whole beach (average : 243 ind/m², max. : 2131 ind/m²). Other abundant species were the gastropods *Mazatlania hesperia*, *Mazatlania* sp., the polychaetes *Nephtys* sp., *Hemipodus* sp. and *Lumbrineris* sp., the haustoriid amphipod *Haustorius* sp., the cirolanid isopod *Excirolana braziliensis*, the anomuran crabs *Emerita rathbunae* and *Lepidopa deamae* and spat of bivalves.

Along the whole beach, highest species richness (N_0) was situated at the lower beach (Fig. 3) : species richness generally decreased towards the upper beach. Highest densities (up to 2400 ind/m²) were found between 1.6 and 2.2 m above MLWS. The stations on the dry zone of the beach (>2.4 m) had the lowest densities (maximum : 100 ind/m²). Below 1.6 m, densities remained more or less equal (generally : 80-600 ind/m²) : no obvious density increase towards MLWS was observed.

Multivariate techniques, CCA, Cluster analysis and species indicator analysis consistently distinguished between three station groups (Fig. 4). Station elevation

TABLE 1

Species list (* not sampled and not counted in analyses)

		Family	Species
Annelida	Polychaeta	Maldanidae Lumbrineridae Magelonidae Pisionidae Glyceridae Nephtyidae Spionidae	Maldanidae sp. Lumbrineris sp. (Blainville, 1828) Magelona cf. mirabilis (Johnston, 1865) Pisione sp. (Grube, 1857) Hemipodus sp. (Quatrefages, 1865) Nephtys sp. (Cuvier, 1817) Scolelepis sp. 1 (Blainville, 1828) Scolelepis sp. 2 (Blainville, 1828)
Crustacea	Decapoda	Albuneidae Hippidae Paguridae Ocypodidae * Portunidae	Lepidopa daemae (Benedict, 1903) Emerita rathbunae (Schmidt, 1935) Pagurus sp. (Fabricius, 1775) Ocypode occidentalis (Stimpson, 1860) Arenaeus mexicanus (Gerstaecker, 1856)
	Amphipoda	Haustoriidae	Haustorius sp. (Müller, 1775) Bathyporeia sp. (Lindström, 1855)
	Isopoda	Cirolanidae Sphaeromatidae	<i>Excirolana braziliensis</i> (Richardson, 1912) <i>Paracerceis</i> sp. (Hansen, 1905)
	Mysidacea	Mysidae	Bowmaniella sp. (Bacescu, 1968) Metamysidopsis sp. (Tattersall, 1951)
Echinodermata	Echinoidea Stelleroidae	Mellitidae	<i>Mellita longifissa</i> (Michelin, 1858) Ophiurae sp.
Mollusca	Bivalvia	Donacidae Tellinidae	Donax mancorensis (Olssen, 1961) Donax sp. (Linnaeus, 1758) Strigilla chroma (Salisbury, 1934)
	Gastropoda	Collumbellidae	Mazatlania hesperia (Pilsbry & Lowe, 1932) Mazatlania sp. (Dall, 1900)
		Olividae Terebridae Vitrinellidae	Olivella semistriata (Gray, 1839) Hastula luctuosa (Hinds, 1844) Anticlimax willetti (Hertlein & Strong, 1951)
Hexapoda	Insecta		Insecta sp.
Nemertea			Nemertea sp.



Fig. 3. – Total density and N_0 diversity set against elevation.

was the most determining variable as far as upper and middle beach zones were concerned, % mud and % very fine sand (<125 μ m) distinguished the lower beach fauna. The most important indicator species were *Excirolana braziliensis*, *Olivella semistriata*, *Haustorius* sp., Bivalvia spat and Nemertea sp.

The first group of 47 replicates was found between 0.3 and 1.3 m above MLWS, the lower beach zone (Fig. 4 and table 2). The fine sand fraction (49 %) dominated the



Fig. 4. – CCA-output with the three distinguished zones; group division is based on the outcome of all three applied multivariate techniques (eigenvalue axis 1: 0.500; axis 2: 0.183); a: elevation, b: % silt and clay (<63 µm), c: % very fine sand (63 – 125 µm); 1: Insecta sp., 2: *Excirolana braziliensis*, 3: *Haustorius* sp., 4: *Olivella semistriata*, 5: *Nephtys* sp., 6: *Emerita rathbunae*, 7: *Nemertea* sp., 8: *Mazatlania* sp., 9: *M. hesperia*; o: lower beach (47 stations), **x**: middle beach (33 stations), **•**: upper beach (19 stations).

sediment. Relatively high percentages of mud (average : 1 %) and coarse sand (average : 9 %) were present. In total, 27 taxa were found, evenly divided over the molluscs, polychaetes and crustaceans (Fig. 5). Macrofaunal

TABLE 2

Characteristics of the three distinguished zones

		Lower beach zone	Middle beach zone	Upper beach zone
Elevation (m above MLWS)		0.3-1.3	1.0-2.1	1.8-3.2
Sediment	% silt and clay (<63µm)	1.3	0.4	0.1
	% very fine sand (63-125µm)	8.1	3.9	3.1
	% fine sand (125-250µm)	48.5	50.5	57.0
	% medium sand (250-500µm)	31.3	37.9	37.0
	$\%$ coarse sand (500-800 $\mu m)$	9.0	6.3	2.0
Average N ₀		5.38	3.47	1.42
Number of species	All taxa	27	15	7
	Mollusca	8	3	2
	Polychaeta	7	4	1
	Crustacea	9	7	3
Average density (ind/m ²)	All taxa	268.0	662.0	154.0
	Mollusca	221.0	577.0	2.6
	Polychaeta	18.8	11.2	0.5
	Crustacea	14.5	111.0	148.0
Percentage of all taxa within zone (%)	Mollusca	82.5	82.5	1.7
	Polychaeta	7.0	1.6	0.3
	Crustacea	5.4	15.9	96.0
Dominant taxa (>2%)		Olivella semistriata	Olivella semistriata	Excirolana braziliensis
		Bivalvia spat	Haustorius sp.	Insecta sp.
		Mazatlania hesperia		
		Mazatlania sp.		
		Emerita rathbunae		
		Nephtys sp.		
		Nemertea sp.		

density (average : 268 ind/m²) was dominated by molluscs (83 %), mainly *Olivella semistriata* (48 %). Other abundant macrofauna comprised spat of bivalves (28 %), *Mazatlania* sp. (4 %), *Emerita rathbunae* (3 %), nemerteans (3%), *Nephtys* sp. (2 %), and *Mazatlania hesperia* (2 %).

The second group (33 replicates) was situated between 1.0 and 2.1 m above MLWS, the middle beach zone. Sediment was mainly composed of fine sand (50.5 %), with 0.4 % of mud and 6.0 % of coarse sand on average. Fifteen taxa, of which seven were crustaceans, were present. This zone was characterized by a high density (average : 662 ind/m^2). Molluscs, especially the gastropod *Olivella semistriata* (82 %), dominated the macrofauna (Fig. 5). The amphipod *Haustorius* sp. was the second most abundant species (13 %).

The third group (19 replicates) was found between 1.8 and 3.2 m above MLWS (upper beach zone), including the upper intertidal and supralittoral zone (high tide mark at 2.4 m above MLWS). Sediment was dominated by fine sand (average : 57.0 %) with low mud and coarse sand contents (average : 0.1 and 2.0 %, respectively). Seven taxa were found, with an average macrofaunal density of 154 ind/m². This zone was dominated by crustaceans (96 %), mainly *Excirolana braziliensis* (Fig. 5). Next to crustaceans, several insect species were present. *Excirolana braziliensis* was found both on the dry beach and at the highest intertidal station. The insects were only present on the dry beach, together with high numbers of ocypodid crabs.

The mole crabs *Emerita rathbunae* and *Lepidopa deamae* were found across the entire intertidal gradient.

DISCUSSION

This study was initiated as a pilot study for macrofauna research on Ecuadorian sandy beaches. Because only one beach was sampled, generalization of the results to all Ecuadorian beaches cannot be made. Further, since the beach was only sampled in one short period, no inference about seasonal trends can be made. It has to be emphasized that the macrobenthic community structure and zonation pattern, which are obtained by data collected in a short period of time, do not necessarily represent the distribution during the rest of the year (HAYNES & QUINN, 1995; BRAZEIRO & DEFEO, 1996). In this study, the macrofaunal zonation during the dry, cool season is documented.

Sampling took place during a very strong La Niña phase of the ENSO cycle, and the preceding year was one of the strongest El Niño years ever recorded (CHAVEZ et al., in press). There is some evidence that ENSO, and more specifically a strong El Niño, has a substantial influence on macrobenthic communities of sandy beaches (TARAZONA et al., 1988; TARAZONA & PAREDES, 1992). It is thus very likely that the situation encountered in this study was altered by the abnormal climatologic conditions of the two preceding years. Regardless of these shortcomings, if interpreted with caution, the present study provides a first overview on the community structure and zonation of Ecuadorian sandy beach macrofauna.

Environment

According to the morphodynamic classification scheme of MASSELINK & SHORT (1993), all investigated transects can be classified as low tide terrace-rip beaches



Fig. 5. – Taxon distribution for the three distinguished assemblages.

 $(\Omega: 0-2; \text{RTR}: 3-7)$. Although differences between the different transects exist, the six transects were regarded as replicates of the same beach, rather than transects along six different beaches. Therefore, the zonation patterns might be less clear, but can be considered as representative for the whole bay (DEGRAER et al., 1999). The differences in beach profile for the six sampled transects of the same beach (Fig. 2) show that it could be dangerous to only sample one transect when investigating the macrofauna of a sandy beach.

Macrofauna : General

Molluscs, crustaceans and polychaetes have been reported to be the three most abundant macrofaunal taxa

on sandy beaches worldwide (SOURIEA, 1957; PICHON, 1967; DEXTER, 1969; MCLACHLAN, 1983b). Crustaceans tend to dominate exposed beaches, polychaetes sheltered beaches, while molluscs reach maximum densities in intermediate situations (DEXTER, 1983). The investigated beach had a high richness of crustaceans (ten taxa) but was, in terms of density, dominated by molluscs. Especially the gastropod Olivella semistriata proved to be very abundant in this study (66 % of the overall macrofauna). So far, this genus has only been found in low numbers on sandy beaches in Peru (SUAREZ CALVANAPÓN, 1981), Columbia (RIASCOS & RALLÓN, 2001) and the Pacific coast of Mexico (CUPUL-MAGANA & TÉLLEZ-DUARTE, 1997). The high numbers found might be an overestimation of the actual density of this species, since this gastropod is thought to appear in high density patches (RIASCOS & RALLÓN, 2001). Still, preliminary research on other sandy beaches in Ecuador supports the statement that O. semistriata is a very dominant species (VANAGT, unpublished). It thus seems that this species is more abundant towards the Equator.

The bivalve *Donax* sp. only appeared in low numbers in Valdivia Bay, but has been reported to be very abundant at other sandy beaches from the same geographical area (DEXTER, 1974; PEREZ NIETO, 1980; RIASCOS, 2002). There might be a negative correlation between *Donax* and *Olivella semistriata*-populations. Another possibility is that *Donax* was negatively influenced or *O. semistriata* positively influenced by the strong El Niño one year before sampling or by the strong La Niña during the sampling campaign. This hypothesis is supported by the fact that another common bivalve of South American Pacific beaches, *Mesodesma* spp., was absent on the Ecuadorian beach. TARAZONA & PAREDES (1992) reported that in Peru *Mesodesma donacium* might disappear almost entirely after a strong El Niño.

This study shows, in agreement with different other studies (e.g. CLARKE & PEÑA, 1988; DEFEO et al., 1992; DEXTER, 1974, MCLACHLAN & JARAMILLO, 1995), that crustaceans are the most diverse taxon on South American beaches along the Pacific coast. Cirolanid isopods, especially Excirolana braziliensis, were abundant in Valdivia Bay. This species is widely spread along the coasts of Central and South America, but shows a high spatial variability in density, attributed to variable beach temperatures (ZUÑIGA et al., 1985). Next to E. braziliensis, Haustorius sp. (average : 27 ind/m²) and Emerita rathbu*nae* (average : 6 ind/m²) were abundant crustaceans as well. These latter two crustaceans groups were also found on many other South American beaches (e.g. Peru : SUA-REZ CALVANAPÓN, 1981; Chile : JARAMILLO et al., 1993 and Uruguay: GIMÉNEZ & YANNICELLI, 1997). Ghost crabs (Ocypode occidentalis) appeared in high numbers above the drift line on the investigated beaches, as was the case in Valdivia Bay. They were not sampled because of the applied sampling technique.

Polychaete species of the genera *Hemipodus*, *Lumbrineris* and *Nephtys*, which were the most abundant polychaete taxa in this study, have been reported from Peru (SUAREZ CALVANAPÓN, 1981), Chile (CLARKE & PEÑA, 1988) and Columbia (DEXTER, 1974). Spionid polychaetes were only found in very small numbers. Opheliid

polychaetes (e.g. *Euzonus furciferus*), which were found on several other South American beaches (CLARKE & PEÑA, 1988; GIANUCA, 1983; ESCOFET et al., 1979) were not registered in the present study.

In general, taxon composition in Valdivia Bay was similar to other South American sandy beaches. Some differences, mainly in molluscs, were found, possibly due to the location near the Equator with its tropical conditions.

Macrofauna : Zonation

In the Bay of Valdivia, three beach zones were distinguished : upper, middle and lower zone. The presence of three zones has already been demonstrated for several sandy beaches around the world (MCLACHLAN & JARAMILLO, 1995 and references herein).

Generally, the upper beach zone of South American sandy beaches is dominated by a low number of species. Cirolanid isopods (e.g. *Excirolana braziliensis*) are often encountered (DEXTER, 1974; BOCANEGRA et al., 1985), together with large numbers of air-breathing ghost crabs (*Ocypode occidentalis*). This is typical for the transition zone between the marine and the terrestrial environment (JARAMILLO, 1987).

Compared with the upper beach zone, a higher diversity of very abundant macrofaunal species is found at the middle beach. Again, crustaceans tend to be characteristic for this zone along many South American beaches (MCLACHLAN & JARAMILLO, 1995). In the present study, however, the most abundant species within the middle beach zone was the gastropod *Olivella semistriata*. Although polychaetes are rarely abundantly present in the middle beach zone of South American beaches, some individual species might be (e.g. opheliids, spionids and nephtyids) (MCLACHLAN & JARAMILLO, 1995). In Valdivia Bay, few polychaetes were found in the middle beach zone.

The lower beach zone of all exposed South American beaches is characterized by a large number of abundant species (MCLACHLAN & JARAMILLO, 1995), as was the case in the intermediate beach in our study. The lower beach zone is often regarded as an intertidal extension of the subtidal habitat. The higher diversity of the lower beach zone could be a reflection of the high subtidal diversity (DEGRAER et al., 1999). Also, the short period of exposure to the air allows more species to inhabit the lower beach zone.

It has to be emphasized that no sharp boundaries between the different zones were found, partly because of the morphodynamic differences between the replicate transects. Moreover, zonation on sandy beaches has to be seen as an artificial division of a continuum, with an overlap between adjoining zones (DEGRAER et al., 1999).

In general, the zonation pattern of the macrobenthic assemblages on the investigated tropical beach was similar to other beaches at different latitudes in South America and the rest of world.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was made possible by ESPOL (Escuela Superior Politécnica del Litoral) in Guayaquil, Ecuador. Financial support for co-author T.V. comes from the Fund for Scientific Research – Flanders (FWO). The following people are acknowledged for their assistance in the field and in the laboratory : Bart Bulckaen, Micheline De Mey, Daniëlle Schram, Dirk Van Gansbeke and Guy Desmet. Valuable comments on this manuscript were made by Mariano Lastra.

REFERENCES

- BOCANEGRA, C., W. CARBAJAL, J. OLIVA & H. ANCIETA (1985). Estructura de la comunidad de macroinvertebrados bentónicas en las playas arenosas de Trujillo. *Anuario I Congreso Nacional de Biologia Pesquera* (Trujillo, Perú) : 213-218.
- BOOTHROYD, J., H. AYON, D. ROBADUE, J. VASCONEZ & R. NOBOA (1994). Características de la linea costera del Ecuador y recomendaciones para su manejo. Shoreline characteristics and management recommendations for the coast of Ecuador. Technical Report 2076.
- BRAZEIRO, A. & O. DEFEO (1996). Macroinfauna zonation in microtidal sandy beaches : Is it possible to identify patterns in such variable environments?, *Estuar Coast Mar Sci*, 42 : 523-536.
- BUCHANAN, J. (1984). Sediment analysis. In : HOLME & MCIN-TYRE (eds), *Methods for the study of marine benthos*. Oxford and Edinburg Blackwell Scientific Publications : 41-65.
- CHAVEZ, F., J. PENNINGTON, C. CASTRO, J. RYAN, R. MICHISAKI, B. SCHLINING, P. WALZ, K. BUCK, A. MCFADYEN & C. COL-LINS. Biological and chemical consequences of the 1997-1998 El Niño in central California waters. *Prog. Oceanogr.*, in press.
- CLARKE, M. & R. PEÑA (1988). Zonación de la macroinfauna en una playa de arena del norte de Chile. *Estud. Oceanol.*, 7 : 17-31.
- CLIFFORD, H. & W. STEPHENSON (1975). An introduction to numerical classification. New-York : Academic Press.
- CONOVER, W. (1971). *Practical nonparametric statistics*. Wiley & Sons, New York.
- CUPUL-MAGANA, L. & M. TÉLLEZ-DUARTE (1997). Space-Time variations in macrobenthic fauna of a sandy beach, related to changes in the macrobenthos of the sandy beach profile and sediment grain size, at El Pelícano Beach, Baja California. *Cienc Mar.*, 23 (4) : 419-434.
- DAHL, E. (1952). Some aspects of the ecology and zonation of the fauna on sandy beaches. *Oikos*, 4 : 1-27.
- DAVENPORT, C. (1903). *The animal ecology of the Cold Spring Sandspit, with remarks on the theory of adaptation*. University of Chicago Decennial Publication Series, 1 (10) : 157-176.
- DAVIES, J. (1964). A morphogenic approach to world shorelines. *Z. Geomorphol*, 8 : 127-142.
- DEAN, R. (1973). Heuristic models of sand transport in the surf zone. *Proceedings of Conference on Engineering Dynamics in the Surf Zone* : 208-214.
- DEFEO, O., E. JARAMILLO & A. LYONNET (1992). Community structure and zonation of the macroinfauna on the Atlantic coast of Uruguay. *J. Coastal Res.*, 8 : 830-839.
- DEGRAER, S., I. MOUTON, L. DE NEVE & M. VINCX (1999). Community structure and intertidal zonation of macrobenthos on a micro-tidal, ultra-dissipative sandy beach : Summer-Winter. *Estuaries*, 22 (3B) : 742-752.
- DEXTER, D. (1969). Structure of an intertidal sandy beach community in North Carolina. *Chespeake Sci.*, 10: 93-98.
- DEXTER, D. (1974). Sandy beach fauna of the Pacific and Atlantic coasts of Costa Rica and Colombia. *Rev. Biol. Trop.*, 22 : 51-66.
- DEXTER, D. (1983). Community structure of intertidal sandy beaches in New South Wales, Australia. In : MCLACHLAN & ERASMUS (eds), *Sandy Beaches as Ecosystems*, The Hague : Junk : 461-473.

- DUFRÊNE, M. & P. LEGENDRE (1997). Species assemblages and indicator species : the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. *Ecological Monographs*, 67 : 345-366.
- ESCOFET, A., N. GIANUCA, S. MAYTIA & V. SCARABINO (1979). Playas arenosas del Atlántico sudoccidental entre los 29 y 43 LS.: consideraciones generales y esquema biocenológico. UNESCO Seminar, Montevideo, Uruguay : 245-58.
- GIANUCA, N. (1983). A preliminary account of the ecology of sandy beaches in southern Brazil. In : MCLACHLAN & ERAS-MUS (eds), Sandy Beaches as Ecosystems, The Hague : Junk : 413-419.
- GIBBS, R., M. MATHEWS & D. LINK (1971). The relationship between sphere size and settling velocity. *J. Sedimen Petrol*, 41: 7-18.
- GIMÉNEZ, L. & B. YANNICELLI (1997). Variability of zonation patterns in temperate microtidal Uruguayan beaches with different morphodynamic types. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 160 : 197-207.
- HAYNES, D. & G.P. QUINN (1995). Temporal and spatial variability in community structure of a sandy intertidal beach, Cape Paterson, Victoria, Australia. *Mar. Freshwater Res.*, 46:931-942.
- HILL, M. (1973). Diversity and eveness : a unifying notation and its consequences. *Ecology*, 54 : 427-31.
- JARAMILLO, E. (1987). Sandy beach macroinfauna from the Chilean coast : zonation patterns and zoogeography. *Vie et Milieu*, 37 : 165-174.
- JARAMILLO, E., A. MCLACHLAN & P. COETZEE (1993). Community and population responses of the macroinfauna to physical factors over a range of exposed sandy beaches in South-Central Chile. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 101 : 105-118.
- MASSELINK, G. & A. SHORT (1993). The effect of tide range on beach morphodynamics and morphology : a conceptual beach model. *J. Coastal Res.*, 9 (3) : 785-800.
- MCLACHLAN, A. (1983a). Sandy Beach Ecology a review. In : MCLACHLAN & ERASMUS (eds), *Sandy Beaches as Ecosystems*, The Hague : Junk : 321-380.
- MCLACHLAN, A. (1983b). The ecology of sandy beaches in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. In : MCLACHLAN & ERASMUS (eds), Sandy Beaches as Ecosystems, The Hague : Junk : 539-546.
- MCLACHLAN, A., E. JARAMILLO, T. DONN & F. WESSELS (1993). Sandy beach macrofauna communities and their control by the physical environment : a geographical comparison. *J. Coastal Res.*, 15 : 27-38.
- MCLACHLAN, A. & E. JARAMILLO (1995). Zonation on sandy beaches. *Oceanogr. Mar. Biol.*, 33 : 305-335.
- MORTENSEN, T. (1921). Biologisk Studier over Sanstrandfaunen, saerlig ved de danske Kyster. *Videnskabelige Meddelelser Dansk Naturhistorisk Forening*, 74 : 23-56.
- PEREZ NIETO, H. (1980). Estudio ambiental marino costero de Golfo Triste y marco de referencia para evaluar efectos de operaciones petroleras. Tomo II. Informe técnico. Universidad Simón Bolivar (INTECMAR), Maravan y Caracas, Venezuela.

- PICHON, M. (1967). Contribution to the study of populations of tropical sandy beaches in the vicinity of Tulear, Madagascar. *Recl. Trav. Sta. Mar. Endoume. Suppl.*, 7 : 57-100.
- RIASCOS, J. & N. RALLON (2001). Patrones de distribución espacial del macrobenthos de playa arenosa en el Pacífico Colombiano. *Actual. Biol.*, 23 (74) : 15-20.
- RIASCOS, J. (2002). Changes in the macrobenthos of a sandy beach during "El Niño" 1997-98 in the Malaga Bay, Colombian Pacific. *Cienc. Mar.*, 28 (1): 13-25
- SALVAT, B. (1964). Les conditions hydrodynamiques interstitielles des sédiments meubles intertidaux et la répartion verticale de la fauna endogenée. *CR Hebd Seances Acad. Sci.*, 259 : 1576-1579.
- SALVAT, B. (1967). La macrofaune carinologique endogue des sédiments meubles intertidaux (tanadaices, isopodes et amphipodes) : éthologie, binonomie et cycle biologique. Mém Mus natn Hist nat, Paris, Série A 45 : 1-275.
- SCHULZ, E. (1937). Das Farbstreifen-Sandwatt und seine Fauna, eine Ökologisch biozonotische Untersuchungen an der Nordsee. *Kieler Meereforsch*, 1: 359-378.
- SHANNON, C. & W. WEAVER (1949). The mathematical theory of communication. University of Illinois Press, Urbana.
- SOURIEA, R. (1957). Etude écologique des plages de la côte Sénégalaise aux environs de Dakar. Ann Ec Sup Sci Dakar, 3 : 1-110.
- STATSOFT, INC. (1996) Statistica for WINDOWS (Computer program manual). Tulsa, OK, USA.
- SUAREZ CALVANAPÓN, H. (1981). Análisis preliminar de la estructura de la comunidad de macroinvertebrados bentónicos en el litoral arenoso de la província de Chiclayo- departamento de Lambayeque (Abril-Diciembre de 1978). Universidad, 3 (1): 11-23.
- TARAZONA, J., W. ARNTZ, E. CANAHUIRE, Z. AYALA & A. ROB-LES (1985). Modificaciones producidas durante 'El Niño' en la infauna bentónico de áreas someras del ecosistema de afloramiento peruano. In : ARNTZ, LANDA & TARAZONA (eds), El fenómeno El Niño y su impacto en la fauna marina. *Boletin del Instituto del Mar del Perú*, Callao, Special issue : 55-63.
- TARAZONA, J., H. SALZWEDEL & W. ARNTZ (1988). Positive effects of "El Niño" on macrozoobenthos inhabiting hypoxic areas of the Peruvian upwelling system. *Oecol.*, 76: 184-190.
- TARAZONA, J. & C. PAREDES (1992). Impacto de los eventos El Niño sobre las comunidades bentónicas de playa arenosa durante 1976-1986. In : ORTLIEB & MARCHARÉ (eds), Paleo ENSO Records, International Symposium, Lima, Perú : 299-303.
- TER BRAAK, C. (1988). CANOCO-FORTRAN program for canonical community ordination by (partial) (detrended) (canonical) correspondance analysis, principal components analyses and redundancy analysis (Version 2.1). Wageningen : Agricultural Mat. Group.
- ZUÑIGA, O., R. PEÑA & M. CLARKE (1985). Excirolana braziliensis Richardson, 1912 (Isopoda : Cirolanidae) Life history and production. Estud. Oceanol., 4 : 9-19.

Received : March 15, 2003 Accepted : October 22, 2003

Microscopic studies of the paraphysis of the turtle Trachemys (scripta) dorbigni (Duméril & Bibron, 1835)

Elisa C. Winkelmann^{1,3}, Marilda C. Fernandes², Andrea P. Jackowski³, Antonio G. Severino³ and Felipe L. Schneider^{1,3}

¹ Universidade Luterana do Brasil, Rua Miguel Tostes 101, CEP : 92420280, Canoas, RS

² Fundação Faculdade Federal de Ciências Médicas de Porto Alegre, Sarmento Leite 245, CEP : 900150 170, Porto Alegre, RS

³ Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Sarmento Leite 500, CEP : 900150 170, Porto Alegre, RS

Correspondence author : Elisa Cristiana Winkelmann-Duarte, e-mail : ijawinkel@yahoo.com.br

ABSTRACT. A microscopic investigation was conducted on the paraphysis of the turtle *Trachemys dorbigni*. The paraphysis is a highly vascular neuroepithelial structure lined by a simple cuboidal epithelium. The prominent ultrastructural features observed were many dense bodies, mitochondria and lipid droplets. The cells of the paraphysis exhibit extensive microvillar borders, large intercellular spaces, many mitochondria, dense bodies and lipid droplets. Few PAS (periodic acid of Schiff) positive granules were found in the cytoplasm of the epithelial cells. Large intercellular spaces were seen when samples were fixed by perfusion. Scanning electron microscopy revealed that surface epithelial cells have microvilli and cilia distributed in tufts in the center of the cell. Macrophagic cells were frequently seen on the surface of the epithelial cells. The connective tissue of the paraphysis presented many sinusoid vessels, mast cells, fibroblasts, and collagen fibers. Intra-arterial administration of Evans blue showed the absence of the blood-brain barrier. This is probably related to the presence of a fenestrated endothelium, which characterizes this structure as a circumventricular organ (CVO). The presence of vesicles in the cytoplasm of epithelial cells, fenestrations, and macropinocytosis vesicles in the vascular endothelium suggest absorption and secretion functions.

KEY WORDS : paraphysis, turtle, morphology, electron microscopy.

INTRODUCTION

The paraphysis is a branchial and tubular sacciform structure of the posterior telencephalic roof. It is considered a circumventricular organ similar to the choroid plexus (OKSCHE, 1973). With few exceptions, this specialized neuroepithelial structure is common to all vertebrates, including humans, in an embryonic stage (SHUANGSHOTI & NETSKY, 1966; EBBESSON & SCHROEDER, 1975; KONDZIOLKA & BILBAO, 1989).

In reptiles as well as in amphibians, the paraphysis is well developed and occupies a great subdural area located between the posterior borders of the cerebral hemispheres (KELLY, 1964; EBBESSON & SCHROEDER, 1975). Studying green sea turtles, OWENS & RALPH (1978) demonstrated that the paraphysis was a continuation of the choroid plexus of the third ventricle, slightly to the enlarged distal end of the pineal gland. A fluid-filled cavity was formed inferior to the large pineal-paraphyseal complex.

Studies on the ultrastructural features of the paraphysis in different species (*Lampreta* sp. : TSUNEKI, 1986; *Chondricthyes* : SHUANGSHOTI & NETSKY, 1966; *Bufo bufo* L. 1758 larvae : FARNESI et al., 1994; *Necturus* sp. : KELLY, 1964, EBBESSON & SCHROEDER, 1975; *Hyla versicolor* Le Conte, 1825 : KEMNITZ et al., 1990 : *Natrix maura* Laurenti, 1768 : FERNÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ et al., 1982) showed that it consists of a single or pseudostratified epithelium surrounded by highly vascular connective tissue. The most important functions related to this structure are the production of the cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) in cooperation with the choroid plexus, and the exchange of substances between the blood and the CSF (KELLY, 1964; OWENS & RALPH, 1978; FERNÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ et al., 1982; KEMNITZ et al., 1990; HINTON et al., 1990; FARNESI et al., 1994). Paraphysectomy in *Rana* species also showed that a substance discharged by the paraphysis, by the choroid plexus or by both structures seems to be involved in calcium regulation. It resulted in hypocalcemia, motor neuron degeneration, abnormal increased weight, and a tendency to form cysts in the parathyroid gland (UENO et al., 1984; NELSON et al., 1985).

The aim of this work was to investigate the morphological features of the paraphysis of the turtle *Trachemys (scripta) dorbigni* (Duméril & Bibron, 1835) using scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and light microscopy.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Twenty-four adult turtles *Trachemys dorbigni* (twentyone females and three males) weighing between 950g and 2,500g were captured over the year and used in this study with the permission of IBAMA (Registration numbers 047/97; 026/98; 004/99). The animals were fed with ground meat ad libitum.

Light Microscopy (LM)

Six animals (one male and five females) were anesthetized with 35% chloral hydrate and perfused with a saline solution followed by 4% paraformaldehyde in sodium phosphate buffer (pH. 7.4). Sections were stained with haematoxylin/eosin (HE). Evans Blue at 0.01% was added to the saline solution (adapted from Eberhardt, 1971) in two animals (females) to demonstrate the vascular permeability of the paraphysis.

Gomori's Acid Phosphatase (six females)

Cryostat sections were incubated in a solution of 0.1M trismaleate buffer (pH 5) and 1.25 % sodium β -glycerophosphate. Lead nitrate (0.2%) was added to this solution under constant stirring, followed by heating at 37° C for 5 minutes and subsequent filtration. Sections were incubated for 30 minutes at 37° C, rinsed in distilled water (three times), developed in a solution of 5% ammonium sulfide for 5 min, rinsed in distilled water and mounted in Kaiser's medium. As a control, a few sections were incubated in a medium with 1% sodium fluoride (NaF) (PEARSE, 1968).

PAS (one male and four females)

After fixation in Bouin's solution, the paraphysis was dehydrated, embedded in paraffin and cut into 8 μ m-thick sections, which were then deparaffinized, hydrated and subjected to 0.5% periodic acid for 15 min. After distilled water rinsing, sections were immersed in Schiff's reagent for 30 min, rinsed again in distilled water, submitted to three sulfurous baths, rinsed again in distilled water, and subsequently stained with Mayer's hematoxylin, dehydrated, and mounted with Entellan[®]. For control of the specificity of reaction we used sections incubated in 0.5% α -amylase at 37 °C for 3 hours (PEARSE, 1968).

Electron Microscopy

The paraphyses of three females and one male were fixed by immersion and perfusion with 3% glutaraldehyde, 1.5% paraformaldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). For post-fixation 2% OsO_4 was used in the same buffer. Ultrathin sections were collected on copper grids, contrasted with uranyl acetate and lead citrate (Reynolds, 1963), and examined in a JEOL 1200 EX II electron microscope at 80 KV.

The paraphyses of four females were dehydrated in acetone and dried by the critical point technique using carbon dioxide (Balzer CPD 030), sputter-coated with carbon and gold (Balzer SCD 050), and examined under a scanning electron microscope (JEOL 5800 and Cambridge Stereoscan).

RESULTS

The paraphysis of the turtle *Trachemys dorbigni* is a well-developed, often tubular organ. It is located in the interhemispheric fissure (Fig. 1). At the superior and posterior faces (Fig. 2) it is bordered by the proximal and distal portions of the pineal gland, laterally by the cerebral hemispheres, and by the third ventricle at the inferior

side. However, below the pineal-paraphysis complex there is a CSF-filled cavity connected to the third ventricle by an orifice (Fig. 3).

Histochemical study showed a few PAS-positive granules throughout the cytoplasm (Fig. 4). The basal membranes of the endothelium and epithelium of the paraphysis became stained after treatment with Schiff's reagent. Pre-treatment with α -amylase reduced the number of PAS-positive granules in the epithelium, indicating the presence of glycogen. The presence of lysosomes was demonstrated through Gomori's acid phosphatase technique (Fig. 5).

The paraphysis is lined with a simple, cuboidal epithelium, the cells of which have a round, central nucleus (5.3 to 7.5 μ m in diameter) occupying a large part of the cytoplasm. The (usually singular) nucleolus is very prominent and spherical (0.08-0.12 μ m in diameter) (Fig. 7). The cytoplasm of paraphyseal cells contained several mitochondria with transversal crests and dense bodies (0.8-1 μ m in diameter) (Fig. 6).

In the tubules of the paraphysis (Fig. 8), epithelial cells presented an apex with numerous microvilli ($3.5 \,\mu$ m long and 0.2 μ m in diameter). Cilia ($6.5-9 \,\mu$ m long and 0.18-0.23 μ m in diameter) were usually detected at the central surface of the cell (Fig. 9). The numbers of cilia varied from four to 11 per cell. Cells with a morphology resembling macrophage cells were detected on the ventricular surface of these cells.

Mast cells were found in the connective tissue located under the epithelium (Fig. 6). Collagen fibers and fibroblasts processes were also detected (Fig. 10).

The paraphysis presents a large number of blood vessels in the connective tissue. By injecting Evans Blue intra-arterially, we observed that the paraphysis allowed the passage of this dye to its interior, showing that this structure has no blood-brain barrier (Fig. 1). The vascular endothelium presents many fenestrations from 50 to 75 nm in diameter, covered by a thin diaphragm (Fig. 11). Cytoplasmic projections of the endothelium were observed in both apical and basal portions. On the luminal face, these projections formed macropinocytosis vesicles with diaphragms. The presence of these vesicles was clearly seen in the cytoplasm (Fig. 12). The basal layer of these capillaries could be traced along large extensions, even if in a few points it was discontinuous.

DISCUSSION

Analysis of the serial sections of the paraphysis (sagittal, coronal, and horizontal) showed that this structure of the turtle *Trachemys dorbigni* is formed by a tubular cavity which is enlarged in the proximity of the pineal gland and is covered by epithelial cells and meninges. This cavity decreases its diameters through the communication with the third ventricle. A similar cavity was reported by OWENS & RALPH (1978) in marine turtles. Due to the close relationship between this cavity, the pineal gland and the paraphysis, OWENS & RALPH called it pineal-paraphyseal cavity. In the snake *Natrix maura*, this cavity was also observed and was named central ventricular cavity (FERNÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ et al., 1982). According to several authors (KAPPERS, 1956; SHUANGSHOTI & NETSKY, 1966; EBBESSON & SCHROEDER, 1975; KEMNITZ et al., 1990; FARNESI et al., 1994), the lining epithelium is continuous between the paraphysis and the choroid plexus. In our study we confirmed this finding and also observed a communication between the lumen of the paraphysis and the third ventricle. This communication, which occurs through a small orifice, had also been described in other animals, such as the salamander *Amblystoma mexicanum* Shaw, 1789 (KAPPERS 1950), the frog *Hyla versicolor* (KEMNITZ et al., 1990) and larvae of the toad *Bufo bufo* (FARNESI et al. 1994). These findings demonstrate that the paraphysis is not an isolated organ but is connected to the CSF of the other ventricular cavities.

In the cytoplasm we observed an accumulation of mitochondria, dense bodies (probably secondary lysosomes), and lipid droplets, particularly in the apical pole of epithelial cells. These lipid droplets were also found in the basal portion of the cell in the salamander *Necturus* sp. (KELLY, 1964; SHUANGSHOTI & NETSKY, 1966; EBBESSON & SCHROEDER, 1975).

Few histochemical assays have been done on the paraphysis. The most common studies are those investigating the presence of glycogen, especially those describing the paraphysis in amphibians and reptiles. Histochemical and biochemical studies demonstrated that the quantity of glycogen in the cells of the paraphysis and in other cells of the CNS is related to environmental conditions and to the different seasons of the year. From spring through winter there is a gradual increase in the total amount of glycogen in the cells of the CNS as well as in the paraphysis (FERN-ÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ et al., 1982; PARTATA & MARQUES, 1994). With TEM we observed few glycogen granules in the paraphysis of Trachemys dorbigni. There were no variations in the amount of glycogen in animals prepared in spring as compared to autumn. Our results are in disagreement with the findings of KAPPERS (1956), who described the epithelium of the paraphysis of salamanders as being rich in glycogen. The presence of glycogen in the paraphysis was also described in fishes, amphibians, and other reptiles (WOLFF, 1962; SHUANGSHOTI & NETSKY, 1966; MCNULTY, 1976), but in Natrix maura it was not detected (FERNÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ et al., 1982).

Through Gomori's acid phosphatase method we observed the presence of positive granules in the paraphyseal epithelium, mainly in areas close to the cell apex. They appear to be lysosomes and dense bodies. The elements that reacted with acid phosphatase are likely to be the same ones that had reacted with PAS, and this is in agreement with KOENING & BARROW (1962), who demonstrated that Schiff's reagent also reacts with lysosomes. EBBESSON & SCHROEDER (1975), in a study involving the paraphysis of *Necturus* sp., reported the presence of granules similar to lysosomes in the apical regions of cells of the paraphyseal epithelium.

The examination of the surface of the paraphyseal epithelium of *Trachemys dorbigni* by SEM showed that this surface is covered by numerous short microvilli and cilia distributed in tufts. Besides these structures, we also found macrophagic cells similar to the epiplexus cells reported by LING et al. (1998) in rats. These authors proposed that a typical cell of the epiplexus has from three to five cytoplasmic processes emanating from the cell body. In our study the cells observed on the ventricular surface of the paraphysis usually had three processes.

In the literature there are no SEM data of the paraphysis. From our observations we highlight the presence of dilations at the end of both microvilli and cilia. We suspect that such dilations are artifacts of the preparations, since they were not detected in the TEM examination.

Elements of the conjunctive tissue that are notable in the formation of the tubules of the paraphysis can vary between different species of amphibians and reptiles. The most prominent structures found in the turtle *Trachemys dorbigni* are mast cells, collagen fibers, and fibroblast processes. Mast cells were numerous in the dorsal region of the paraphysis lying closer to the pineal gland. No macrophages were found, nor were any nerve fibers.

The paraphysis is a highly vascular structure presenting many fenestrated sinusoid capillaries, indicating possible absence of the blood-brain barrier. This absence was demonstrated through its permeability to Evans Blue. The sinusoidal vascularization was described in the amphibians Ambystoma sp. (ROOFE, 1936; KAPPERS, 1950, 1956; EBBESSON & SCHROEDER, 1975), Necturus sp. (Kelly, 1964), Rana catesbiana Schreber, 1782 and R. pipiens (HINTON et al., 1990), the turtle Chrysemys picta marginata Agassis, 1857 (WARREN, 1911), and the snake Natrix maura (FERNÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ et al., 1982). The presence of fenestrations in the endothelium, which confirm the blood-brain barrier absence, was described in Necturus sp. (KELLY, 1964), R. catesbiana and R. pipiens (HINTON et al., 1990), larvae of Bufo bufo (FARNESI et al., 1994), and in Natrix maura (FERNÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ et al., 1982).

Circumventricular organs (CVOs) of the brain are characterised as highly vascular structures, with no bloodbrain barrier, and in contact with one of the cerebral ventricles (WEINDL et al., 1972; LOW, 1982, PETERS et al., 1991). Based on these criteria, we consider the paraphysis of the turtle *Trachemys dorbigni* to be a CVO. A number of authors (FERNÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ et al., 1982; TSUNEKI, 1986; KEMNITZ et al., 1990) also described the paraphysis as a CVO, due to its pronounced vascularization and its contact with the cerebral ventricular system.

The connection with the ventricle and some morphological features suggest possible functions of the paraphyse. The presence of vesicles in the cytoplasm of the epithelial cells, the fenestrations and the macropinocytosis vesicles in the vascular endothelium are indications of substance exchange activities, may be also secretion. In this way, the paraphysis may be able to release substances into the cerebro-spinal fluid of the ventricular system. At present there are few data in the literature about the functions of the paraphysis. When its physiological role has been determined by further studies, it may become possible to explain the atrophy of this structure in humans (KONDZIOLKA & BILBAO, 1989).

REFERENCES

EBBESSON, S.O.F. & D.M. SCHROEDER (1975). The choroid plexus and paraphysis in nonhuman vertebrates. In : NETSKY



Fig. 1-7. – **1.** Micrograph of the *Trachemys dorbigni*'s brain (dorsal view) intra-arterially injected with Evans Blue, showing that the paraphysis (PA) presents no blood-brain barrier : cerebral hemisphere (Ch), optical lobe (OL), dura mater (D); bar : 0.16 mm. – **2.** Photomicrograph of a sagittal section showing the location of paraphysis and the structures to which it is anatomically related. Pineal (Pi) and paraphys[¬]is (PA). LM section, material included in paraffin and stained with HE; bar : $50 \,\mu\text{m}$. – **3.** Coronal section of brain showing the relation between the paraphysis, lateral ventricles, and the third ventricle. Orifice (arrow) that links the paraphyseal cavity (Pc) with the third ventricle, cerebral hemisphere (Ch), pineal (Pi), paraphysis (arrowheads) and lateral ventricle (Lv). LM section, stained with HE; bar : $250 \,\mu\text{m}$. – **4.** Paraphysis sections processed for PAS technique; PAS-positive granules (arrows) are very scantily found in the paraphyseal epithelium. LM; bar : $30 \,\mu\text{m}$. – **5.** Photomicrograph showing lysosome staining through the technique of Gomori's acid phosphatase; Lysosomes (arrows), nucleus (N). LM; bar : $10 \,\mu\text{m}$. – **6.** Electron micrograph of a section of the paraphysis. In the apical portion of the cell are microvilli (mv). Underlying the nucleus (N) and the nucleolus (Nu) of an epithelial cell of paraphysis. In the apical portion of the cell are microvilli (mv).



Figs 8-12. – **8.** Para-sagittal section of paraphysis (SEM) : anterior (A) and posterior (P) part of paraphysis (PA); in the top see the location of the pineal gland (*). Dura-mater (D), superior sagittal sinus (SSS), cartilage (ca), tubules of paraphysis (arrows). SEM; bar : $200 \ \mu\text{m} - 9$. Surface of paraphysis observed under SEM : macrophagic cell (*), cilia (arrowheads), microvilli (MV). SEM; bar : $5 \ \mu\text{m} - 10$. Mast cells in the cytoplasm of paraphyseal cells. Granules (G), nucleus (N), fibroblasts processes (arrowheads), cluster of collagen fibrils (circle). TEM; bar : $500 \ \text{nm} - 11$. Vascular endothelium. Note diaphragms (arrows) in the fenestrations along the endothelium of epithelial cells of paraphysis. Nucleus (N). TEM; bar : $200 \ \text{nm} - 12$. Vascular endothelium showing the nucleus (N). On the luminal surface note the presence of macropinocytosis vesicles (v) and diaphragms (arrows). Also, note the presence of macropinocytosis vesicles close to the nucleus (arrowhead). TEM; bar : $500 \ \text{nm}$.

& SHUANGSHOTI (eds). *The choroid plexus in health and disease*. Great Britain : John & Sons, pp. 162-174.

- EBERHARDT, H.G. (1971). Supravitale Farbstoffversuche zur Frage der Stoffverteilung im ZNS der Ratte, besonders in Hypothalamus und Infundibulum. Z. Mikr. Anat. Forsch., 84: 525-534.
- FARNESI, R.M., S. TEI, D. VAGNETTI, B. SANTARELLA & P. POL-LACCI (1994). Ultrastructure of the paraphysis in *Bufo bufo* larvae. J. Morphol., 219(1): 7-13.
- FERNÁNDEZ-LLEBREZ, P., J. BECERRA, & F. MARIN GIRON (1982). Ultrastructure of the paraphysis cerebri of the water snake *Natrix maura* L. J. Comp. Neurol., 208 : 345-351.
- HINTON, D.A., S.R. NELSON & V.H. GATTONE (1990). Vasculature of the paraphysis cerebri of the frog. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol., 22(3): 345-51.
- KAPPERS, J.A. (1950). The development and structure of the paraphysis cerebri in Urodeles with experiments on its function in *Amblystoma mexicanum. J. Comp. Neur.*, 92 : 93-122.
- KAPPERS, J.A. (1956). On the presence of periodic acid Schiff positive substances in the paraphysis cerebri, the choroid plexuses and the neuroglia of *Amblystoma mexicanum*. *Experientia.*, 12 : 187-188.
- KELLY, D.E. (1964). An ultrastructural analysis of the paraphysis cerebri in newts. Z. Zellforsch., 64 : 778-803.
- KEMNITZ, C.P., L.M. Fox & J.A. MCNULTY (1990). Ultrastructure and the organization of circumventricular organs and endolymphatic tubules in the treefrog, *Hyla versicolor. J. Morphol.*, 204(2) : 197-208.
- KOENIG, H. & K. BARROW (1962). Glycolipoprotein granules as lysosomes. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 10: 684-685.
- KONDZIOLKA, D. & J.M. BILBAO (1989). An immunohistochemical study of neuroepithelial (colloid) cysts. J. Neurosurg., 71(1): 91-7.
- LING, E., C. KAUR & J. LU (1998). Origin, nature and some functional considerations of intraventricular macrophages, with special reference to the epiplexus cells. *Micros. Res. Tech.*, 41 : 43-56.
- Low, F. N. (1982). The central nervous system in scanning electron microscopy. Scan. Electron. Microsc., (Pt 2) :869-90.
- MCNULTY, J.A. (1976). A comparative study of the pineal complex in the deep -sea fishes *Bathylagus Wesethi* and *Nezumia liolepis*. *Cell. Tissue. Res.*, 172(2) : 205-25.
- NELSON, S.R., F.M. FOLTZ, P. CAMARATA & M.P.J. SARRAS (1985). Occurrence of bone fractures and parathyroid hyper-

plasia in paraphysectomized frogs (*Rana catesbeiana*). *Anat. Rec.*, 211(3): 311-7.

- OKSCHE, A. (1973). Circumventricular structures and pituitary functions. In J. Ariëns Kappers (ed): Proceedings of the fourth international Congress of Endocrinology, Washington D.C., 1972. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, pp. 73-79.
- OWENS, D.W. & C.L. RALPH (1978). The pineal-paraphyseal complex of sea turtles. I. Light microscopic description. J. Morphol., 158(2): 169-179.
- PEARSE, A.G.E. (1968). Histochemistry, theoretical and applied. 3 ed. v. I, Edinburg London New York : Churchill Livingstone.
- PARTATA, W. & M. MARQUES (1994). Effects of fasting and seasonal variations in brain glycogen disposition in the turtle (Chrysemys dorbigni). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 107a : 727-730.
- PETERS, A, S.L. PALAY & H. WEBSTER (1991). The fine structure of nervous system : neurons and their supporting cells. Oxford University Press, Inc., 328-343.
- REYNOLDS, E.S. (1963). The use of lead citrate at high pH as an eletroplaque stain in electron microscopy. *J. Cell Biol.*, 17 : 208-212.
- ROOFE, P.G. (1936). The histology of the paraphysis of *Amblystoma. J. Morphol.*, 59 : 1-10.
- SHUANGSHOTI, S. & M.G. NETSKY (1966). Choroid plexus and paraphysis in lower vertebrates. J. Morph., 120: 157-188.
- TSUNEKI, K. (1986). A survey of occurrence of about seventeen circumventricular organs of various vertebrates with special reference to lower groups. *J. Hirnforsch.*, 27(4) : 441-70.
- UENO, S., H. UMAR, H.J. BAMBAUER & M. UECK (1984). Ultracytochemical localization of Ca⁺⁺- ATPase activity in the paraphyseal epithelial cells of the frog, *Rana esculenta. Cell. Tissue. Res.*, 235(1): 3-11.
- WARREN, J. (1911). The development of the paraphysis and pineal region in Reptilia. *Am. J. Anat.*, 11: 313-392.
- WEINDL, A., R.J. JOYNT & N.Y. ROCHESTER (1972). Ultrastructure of the ventricular walls. Three-dimensional study of regional specialization. Arch. Neurol., 26(5): 420-7.
- WOLFF, F. (1962). Funtionell-histolosche Studien am Plexus Choroideus von *Rana temporaria* L. unbter besonder Berücksichtigung der Sekretionsfrage. Z. Zellforsch., 57: 63-105.

Received : April 9, 2003 Accepted after revision : November 22, 2003

Potential of bio-indication of chironomid communities for assessment of running water quality in Flanders (Belgium)

Veronique Adriaenssens¹, Frank Simons¹, Lien T.H. Nguyen¹, Boudewijn Goddeeris², Peter L.M. Goethals¹ and Niels De Pauw¹

¹ Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology and Aquatic Ecology, Ghent University, Jozef Plateaustraat 22, B-9000 Ghent, Belgium

² Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Rue Vautierstraat 29, B-1000 Brussels, Belgium

Corresponding author : Veronique Adriaenssens, e-mail : veronique.adriaenssens@ugent.be

ABSTRACT. The distribution of chironomid species in small lowland rivers and brooks in the crenal zone of the Zwalm river basin (Flanders, Belgium) was studied. We examined whether a more refined identification of Chironomidae would result in an added value to the biological assessment of the Zwalm river basin, currently based on the Belgian Biotic Index. At the 18 sampling sites, a total of 31 different taxa of chironomid swere identified. Identification was at species, aggregate, group, subgenus or genus level. The diversity of chironomid communities and their indicator role for assessment of particular river types and water quality were examined by means of multivariate analysis. Direct ordination of the identified chironomid taxa resulted into three groups of indicators related to the assessment of the water quality of a brook : (1) indicators of a good water quality, (2) indicators of waters enriched with nutrients and organic matter compounds and (3) taxa that were indifferent to water quality. The more refined identification levels provided useful information on the ecology of these organisms and their role as indicator organisms of specific water quality states. Because of the more labour-intensive procedure, however, chironomid identification at these levels will be more difficult to apply within a rapid bio-assessment protocol of running waters.

KEY WORDS : Chironomidae, macroinvertebrates, bio-indicators, brooks, rivers, biomonitoring.

INTRODUCTION

Numerous human activities have an impact on the quality of surface waters and consequently on the organisms living in these habitats. This aquatic fauna, therefore, can serve as convenient biological indicators of the various environmental stresses on these ecosystems (DE PAUW & HAWKES, 1993). Unlike physical-chemical measurements, biological assemblages reflect long-term exposure to varying water quality conditions, and benthic macroinvertebrates in particular are well suited for use within rapid bioassessments (ROSENBERG & RESH, 1993). Among freshwater macroinvertebrates, chironomid larvae are considered as promising indicators of water quality because of their ubiquity, high abundance and high diversity in aquatic ecosystems (SAETHER, 1979; LINDEGAARD, 1997). Moreover, the effects of pollution on chironomid communities have been extensively covered in literature and chironomid taxa have been shown to differ in their tolerance of specific pollution sources (FITTER & MANUEL, 1986). Nutrient overload, for example, may serve as an extra food source but at the same time it will result in an oxygen depletion stress in slow running waters because of algal blooms (LENAT, 1983). As a consequence of their large differences in tolerance of eutrophication and organic enrichment, chironomids, in common with oligochaetes, will have indicative representatives in polluted and unpolluted waters (KING & BAL, 1964; LADLE & BIRD, 1980; LENAT, 1983; ROD- RIGUEZ & ARMAS, 1983). Furthermore, the potential of chironomids as biological indicators of heavy-metal contamination has been assessed by several studies based on detected morphological mouthpart deformities (MEREGALLI et al., 2000; MARTINEZ et al., 2002) and metal adaptation studies (GROENENDIJK et al., 2002). Finally, besides these water quality aspects, preference of chironomids for certain habitat characteristics (BUSKENS & MOLLER PILLOT, 1992) can also provide information on the quality of particular hydro-morphological characteristics of a watercourse.

Ecological studies revealing preferences of organisms for certain environmental conditions are often carried out at the species level because of the detailed information contained at this level. Also for chironomid communities in rivers, various studies stress the response at the species level to natural- or human-caused disturbances in rivers (BAZZANTI & BAMBACIGNO, 1987; VERDONSCHOT et al., 1992; REINHOLD-DUDOK VAN HEEL & DEN BESTEN, 1999; ORENDT, 2000).

Some biotic indices do indeed integrate the information of chironomid communities at the species level (SAETHER, 1979; BARZERQUE et al., 1989; EULIN et al., 1993; EVRARD, 1996). In Flanders, Belgium, the response of chironomid species to environmental perturbation is, however, not well documented. The biological quality of waters is mainly assessed by means of the Belgian Biotic Index (BBI) (DE PAUW & VANHOOREN, 1983). This biotic index is based on the taxonomic diversity and the presence/absence of particular indicator taxa. For calculation of the BBI, macroinvertebrates are identified up to family, genus or group level. The family Chironomidae is split into two groups based on the presence or absence of thummi (the *thummi-plumosus* and the *non thummi-plumosus* group) in correspondence with their clearly different responses to the stress of oxygen depletion.

In the present study we examined whether a more refined identification of chironomids would result in an added value to the biological assessment of running waters in Flanders, Belgium. For this reason, the diversity of chironomid communities and their indicator role in assessment of particular river types were examined by means of multivariate analysis. The sampling sites were clustered based on their chironomid populations, and the principal environmental variables structuring these different chironomid communities were identified. Potential bio-indicators were identified, and the added value of the more refined identification in river assessment and ecological research discussed.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study area

The study was performed in the Zwalm river basin, which is part of the Upper-Scheldt basin (Flanders, Belgium), and consists mainly of numerous small brooks (Fig. 1). The Zwalm river basin has a total surface of 11650 ha. The Zwalm river itself has a length of 22 km. The southern part of the Zwalm river basin consists of small brooks situated in the crenal zone, where groundwater flows in the brooks at the source. These brooks are expected to be unpolluted. Because of the specific geomorphology in this area, they have a unique fauna (GOETHALS & DE PAUW, 2001). The northern part is influenced by punctual and diffuse domestic pollution as well as diffuse pollution originating from agricultural activities. Habitat degradation of the watercourses in this region is mainly caused by erosion effects. Sampling sites in the Zwalm river basin are shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. – Location of (left) and sampling sites in (right) the Zwalm river basin in Flanders, Belgium.

Environmental variables

The measured physical-chemical variables and habitat characteristics are given in Table 1.

TABLE 1

Environmental variables, habitat characteristics and measuring units

Measuring units
°C
- log [H+]
μS/cm
mg/l
mg O ₂ /l
$mg O_2/l$
mg N/l
mg NO ₃ ⁻ -N/l
mg NH_4^+-N/l
mg P/l
mg PO ₄ -P/l
6 categories (1 (well developed) to 6 (absent))
6 categories (1 (well developed) to 6 (absent))
6 categories (1 (well developed) to 6 (absent))

Biological water quality assessment

The biological water quality of the sampling sites was assessed using the Belgian Biotic Index (BBI) in which the macroinvertebrates were identified up to the genus, family or group level (DE PAUW & VANHOOREN, 1983; IBN, 1984). The BBI is based on taxa diversity as well as the sensitivity of particular groups in relation to pollution (DE PAUW & VANNEVEL, 1993).

The BBI index values are divided into five water quality classes, ranging from very good (BBI value 9-10), good (BBI value 7-8), moderate (BBI value 5-6) to bad (BBI value 3-4) and very bad (BBI value 0-2) quality. These classes can be visually represented by a colour code (respectively blue, green, yellow, orange, red).

Chironomid taxa

Chironomids were identified up to species, aggregate, group, subgenus or genus level, depending on the external morphology of the instar stage of the chironomid. Sampling of the chironomids was done together with the other macroinvertebrate taxa by means of a handnet (mesh size = 350μ m) (DE PAUW & VANHOOREN, 1983) and samples were sieved the day after sampling. The following identification keys were used : PAINE (1956), KLEIN (1967), MASON (1968), MOLLER PILLOT (1978), KLINK (1981), CRANSTON (1982), KLINK (1983), WIEDERHOLM (1983) and MOLLER PILLOT (1984). Availability of suitable identification keys for the larval stages (instars) and the presence of larvae not reaching the 4th larval stage, were often the limiting factors. Chironomids that could not be identified up to species level were identified up to the lowest practical level attainable (i.e. aggregate, group, subgenus or genus level).

Data analysis

Data were processed based on the methodology described in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. - Treatment and methodology of multivariate analyses of the biological and environmental data.

Biological and environmental data were log(x+1) transformed, except for the categorical variables (meandering, pool/riffle, and hollow bed development) and the pH. The transformed data were processed by means of several multivariate analyses, more specifically a clustering by making use of FLEXCLUS (VAN TONGEREN, 1986) as well as an indirect (Detrended Correspondence Analysis (DCA)) and a direct ordination (Detrended Canonical Correspondence Analysis (DCCA)) based on CANOCO (TER BRAAK, 1986; TER BRAAK & SMILAUER, 1998).

Clustering with the programme FLEXCLUS (VAN TONGEREN, 1986) is based on the Sørensen similarity ratio (SøRENSEN, 1984) where the most similar samples of the biological data are placed next to each other based on the biological data. The Sørensen similarity ratio (*SR*) used for the clustering is as follows :

$$SRi_{j} = \sum_{k} y_{ki}y_{kj} \left(\sum_{k} y_{ki^{2}} + \sum_{k} y_{kj^{2}} - \sum_{k} y_{ki}y_{kj} \right)$$

where y_{ki} = the abundance of the k^{th} species at site *i* and y_{kj} = the abundance of the k^{th} species at site *j*. The initial, non-hierarchical clustering is a means for handling noise and redundancy by combining several samples into groups following the algorithm of SØRENSEN (1984). Samples are fused into clusters when their similarity is higher than the given threshold value. Refinement of the initial clustering by reallocation leads to a final clustering, which is a combination of fusion and division of clusters

based on the distance of a sample to the cluster centroid. The ordering of clusters is obtained by reciprocal averaging (HILL, 1973; VAN TONGEREN, 1986).

DCA was used for indirect ordination analysis and detrending was done by segments. Because species abundance or probability of occurrence is often a unimodal function of the environmental variables, for direct analysis we opted for the unimodal DCCA ordination method (TER BRAAK & VERDONSCHOT, 1995) when the gradient length of the first DCA axis > 2. DCCA was used for direct unimodal analysis, and detrending was done by polynomials. In this analysis, habitat characteristics such as meandering-, pool/riffle- and hollow beds-development, were included as categorical variables.

RESULTS

Chironomid biodiversity and biological assessment

In total, 31 different chironomid taxa were found in the 18 sampling sites (Table 2).

Among these 31 taxa, *Macropelopia*, cf. *Conchapelopia* and *Prodiamesa olivacea* (Meigen, 1830) appeared in all samples. Group *Conchapelopia* consists of four different genera, each with a different habitat preference. Some taxa such as *Brillia modesta* (Meigen, 1830), *Polypedilum* cf. *breviantennatum* (Tsjernovskij, 1949), *Polypedilum* gr. *laetum*, *Polypedilum pedestre* agg. and *Zavrelimyia* were only found in the crenal zone of the brooks.

TABLE 2

Taxonomic level, taxon name and abbreviations of the monitored chironomid taxa in the Zwalm river basin

Taxonomic level	Taxon name	Abbreviations
Species	Apsectrotanypus trifascipennis (Zetterstedt, 1838)	Aspe trif
	Brillia longifurca Kieffer,1921	Bril long
	Brillia modesta (Meigen, 1830)	Bril mode
	Odontomesa fulva (Kieffer, 1919)	Odon fulv
	Parametriocnemius stylatus (Kieffer, 1924)	Para styl
	Prodiamesa olivacea (Meigen, 1818)	Prod oliv
	Psectrotanypus varius (Fabricius, 1787)	Psec vari
	Rheocricotopus fuscipes (Kieffer, 1909)	Rheo fusc
Aggregate (Agg.)	Eukiefferiella discoloripes agg	Euki disc
	Paraphaenocladius impensus agg.	Para impe
	Polypedilum pedestre agg.	Poly pede
	Paracladopelma camptolabis agg.	Para camp
Grouplevel (Gr.)	Chaetocladius gr. piger,	Chae piger
	Chaetocladius gr. vitellinus,	Chae vite
	Cryptochironomus gr. defectus,	Cryp defe
	Dicrotendipes gr. notatus,	Dicr nota
	Dicrotendipes gr. nervosus	Dicr nerv
	Polypedilum gr. laetum	Poly laet
	Polypedilum gr. scalaenum	Poly brev
Subgenus	Procladius (Holotynapus)	Proc holo
Genus	cf. Conchapelopia,	Cf. Concha
	Chironomus,	Chironom
	Limnophyes,	Limnophy
	Macropelopia,	Macropel
	Micropsectra,	Microspe
	Paratanytarsus,	Paratany
	Phaenopsectra,	Phaenops
	Rheotanytarsus,	Rheotany
	Stempellinella,	Stempeli
	Tanytarsus,	Tanytars

The biological water quality of the Zwalm river basin based on the BBI is illustrated in Fig. 3A. The results show that most of the sampling sites (13 of 18) were moderately polluted. Even for the brooks in the crenal zone, no classification as "very good" was reached. Two sampling sites, located in the small brooks of the crenal zone, reached the basic water quality standard for Flanders (BBI value \geq 7). Bad conditions were present at two sites, located near and in the Zwalm river. One sampling site was depleted of macroinvertebrates and was classified as having a very bad quality.



Fig. 3. - BBI water quality values (A) and number of chironomid taxa sampled (B) in 18 sites of the Zwalm river basin.

Fig. 3B also shows the number of chironomid taxa found in each site. A high chironomid biodiversity was found at the sites located near the source. This taxa richness, however, was not reflected by the BBI. For example, one of the sampling sites, classified as "good", contained only seven chironomid taxa, while another sample also classified as "good" had 16 taxa. Samples collected in the Zwalm river itself contained only chironomid taxa, present in low numbers, and no other macroinvertebrate taxa.

Multivariate analyses of the Zwalm river basin data

The output of the DCA analysis revealed a cumulative variance explained by the first two axes of respectively 22.3% and 31.6%. The gradient length of the first DCA

axis was 2.331 and therefore a unimodal direct analysis (DCCA) was chosen.

The cumulative variance of the first two axes in the direct DCCA analysis, which explained the role of the environmental variables in the structure of the chironomid communities, was 24.4% and 35.6%, respectively. The eigenvalues of the first two DCCA axes (0.355 and 0.163, respectively) were very close to those obtained from the DCA analysis (0.360 and 0.150, respectively). Therefore, it can be said that the measured environmental variables are important parameters determining the structure of the chironomid communities. The DCCA biplot of sampling sites (assigned by cluster membership) and environmental variables is shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. – DCCA biplot of sampling sites, characterized by their cluster membership based on chironomid communities and environmental variables measured at 18 sites in the Zwalm river basin. (T = temperature, SS = suspended solids, DO = dissolved oxygen, COD = chemical oxygen demand, N tot = total nitrogen, Cond = electrical conductivity, NH4 = ammonium, P tot = total phosphorus, PO4 = phosphate, M = meandering development, HB = hollow beds development, PR = pool/riffle development).

On the basis of the chironomid abundance data, the sampling sites could be subdivided into four clusters by means of the Sørensen similarity ratio clustering, and these results were confirmed by the ordination method revealing the same clustering structure (Fig. 4). The main explanatory variables proved to be ammonium and phosphorus concentrations, electrical conductivity, dissolved oxygen concentration, and pH of the water. The cluster membership of the different sites in the Zwalm river basin is given in Fig. 5.

TABLE 3

Characterization of the different clusters of sampling sites in the Zwalm river basin, based on the chironomid communities

Cluster n°	Number of sampling sites	Number of chironomid taxa	Location in the Zwalm river basin	Environmental characterization of the cluster
Cluster 1	3	+++	near the source	<i>Fast running non-polluted streams</i> high dissolved oxygen concentrations low nutrient and organic concentrations
Cluster 2	10	++	small brooks near the mouth of the Zwalm	Streams subjected to diffuse agricultural pollution high nutrient level and organic contents high suspended solids concentrations high water temperature values high pH values
Cluster 3	1		the Zwalm river	
Cluster 4	3		head brooks in agricultural area	low ammonium concentrations high nitrate concentrations



Fig. 5. – Cluster membership of the different sampling sites in the Zwalm river basin based on the Sørensen similarity ratio clustering of the chironomid data, based on FLEXCLUS.

An overview of the most important characteristics of each cluster based on the clustering and direct ordination analysis (Fig. 4) and their location in the Zwalm river basin (Fig. 5) is given in Table 3.

Cluster 1 contained *Brillia longifurca* (Kiefer, 1921), *Procladius holotanypus* (Robback, 1982) and *Tanytarsus. Brillia longifurca* was highly frequent and strongly positively correlated with dissolved oxygen concentration. In cluster 2, *Chironomus* was the most frequent taxon, positively correlated with organic load in the water. Cluster 3 contained only one site located in the river. At this site no macroinvertebrate taxa were found except for two chironomid taxa, i.e. *Chironomus* and *Prodiamesa olivacea*. Cluster 4 was not characterized by any specific chironomid taxon.

In Fig. 6, the DCCA biplot of chironomid taxa and environmental variables is shown. Environmental variables and sampling sites are plotted together in a twodimensional space, oriented by the first two axes, which explain the most important part of the variation in the dataset.



axis 1

Fig. 6. – DCCA biplot of chironomid taxa and environmental variables monitored in the Zwalm river basin (T = temperature, SS = suspended solids, DO = dissolved oxygen, COD = chemical oxygen demand, N tot = total nitrogen, Cond = electrical conductivity, NH4 = ammonium, P tot = total phosphorus, PO4 = phosphate, M = meandering development, HB = hollow beds development, PR = pool/riffle development). The legend of the abbreviations of the chironomid taxa is given in Table 2.

DISCUSSION

Although distribution patterns of the family Chironomidae are well documented in Belgium (GODDEERIS & BEHEN, 1991; EVRARD, 1995a, 1995b), thorough knowledge about the major environmental factors that control their distribution is still lacking. In the present study, several taxa such as *Parametriocnemus stylatus*, *Limnophyes* (Eaton, 1875), *Brillia modesta* and *Polypedilum* cf. *brevi*- antennatum were only found in the brooks in the crenal zone. In the study of VERDONSCHOT (2000b), these taxa were assigned as source brook indicator taxa. Taxa characteristic of headwaters (cf. VERDONSCHOT, 2000c; personal communication) are very scarce in the present study. This is probably due to the combination of erosion, diffuse pollution and habitat degradation in the Zwalm river basin, drastically reducing chironomid diversity. The typical succession of chironomid taxa from source to mouth can be recognized, but the higher the impact of water deterioration the less transparent was the succession in the Zwalm data (cf. ROSSARO, 1991).

No correlation could be found between the number of chironomid taxa and the BBI. This can be explained by (1) the absence of pollution-sensitive macroinvertebrate taxa. As do most of the biotic indices, the BBI assesses water quality on the basis of the taxonomic diversity of the benthic macroinvertebrate community and the presence or absence of indicator taxa (DE PAUW & VANHOO-REN, 1983). Sensitive indicator taxa such as Plecoptera and Heptageniidae weigh the most heavily. These two taxa, however, are seldom found in the Zwalm river basin (e.g. between 2000 and 2002, Plecoptera were only found in two sampling sites in 2002, Heptageniidae were found only once in four sampling sites in 2000 and 2002; both taxa were found only twice and in very low abundance). The absence of these two taxa, which could partly be explained by the heterotrophy in the crenal zone, thus lowers the BBI values of the brooks located in the zone, where, however, the highest chrironomid diversity was found; (2) differences in response to environmental changes between chironomid taxa abundance and the whole macroinvertebrate community expressed as the BBI. Similar results have been reported by BAZAANTI & BAMBACIGNO (1987) who did not find a correlation between the number of chironomid taxa and any biological index applied on the Italian streams.

Multivariate analysis, such as ordination and clustering, is often used to analyse environmental preferences of macroinvertebrate communities (VERDONSCHOT et al., 1992; TER BRAAK & VERDONSCHOT, 1995; CAO et al., 1997; VERDONSCHOT, 2000a). In this way, river management can be focused on the mitigation of certain pollution sources that cause e.g. acidification, eutrophication, habitat degradation. The agglomerative clustering method FLEXCLUS allowed grouping of sampling sites, revealing the same pattern of groups as in the ordination analysis with CANOCO. In our study, some sites of the data matrix had a similar chironomid community but differed in abundance for a large part of the matrix (e.g. cluster 2 and cluster 4), and as such, clusters overlapped each other. This equalising effect is probably caused by pollution, which excludes specific chironomid taxa and promotes the dominance of tolerant ubiquitous chironomid taxa. This was also referred to in the research of VERDON-SCHOT et al. (1992).

The ecological preferences of the taxa in our study within the different clusters have been compared with the ecological study of chironomids in the Netherlands (MOLLER PILLOT & BUSKENS, 1990). *Brillia longifurca*, although not very typical for brooks in the crenal zone, is, however, strongly correlated with dissolved oxygen concentration, a correlation that also could be deduced from our results. Although *Procladius holotanypus* (Robback, 1982) is highly frequent in different stream types, and is very tolerant for differing physical-chemical conditions, it was only found in three places, in one source brook. *Tanytarsus* species can be found in different water types under different conditions, and was found in our research at the brooks of the crenal zone and the mouth of the

Zwalm river, probably representing different *Tanytarsus* species.

In general, natural chironomid communities in the brooks of the crenal zone could be separated from the other communities by means of clustering (Fig. 5). This agrees with the expected unpolluted conditions of the crenal zone (southern part) in the Zwalm river basin.

The present study shows that the main explanatory variables for interpreting the results of the direct ordination were ammonium and phosphorus concentrations, electrical conductivity and pH of the water (Fig. 4 and Fig. 6). Nutrient concentrations (e.g. ammonium and phosphorus) were also reported as the main explanatory variables in several other studies e.g. MOLLER PILLOT & BUSKENS (1990). Based on the DCCA species biplot of the Zwalm data (Fig. 6) and the ecological information provided by BAZZANTI & BAMBACIGNO (1987) and MOLLER PILLOT & BUSKENS (1990), indicator taxa for eutrophication, which can be of use for rivers in Flanders, can be suggested. Indicators of oligotrophic conditions are *Paracladopelma* camptolabis agg. and Parametriocnemus stylatus. Indicators of waters enriched with nutrients and organic compounds are Chironomus, Psectrotnaypus varius and Dicrotendipes gr. nervosus and taxa appearing in eutrophic as well as oligotrophic conditions are, for example, Prodiamesa olivacea. Beside these taxa, other chironomid indicator taxa were proposed by BAZZANTI & BAMBACIGNO (1987) and MOLLER PILLOT & BUSKENS (1990) and should receive attention in future research.

Besides the nutrients, the role of pH as an influencing variable for chironomid communities in running waters has been stressed (ORENDT, 1998, 2000). In our study, no specific pH indicator taxa were detected (Fig. 6). According to VERDONSCHOT et al. (1992) habitat variables are more important than physical-chemical variables influencing the distribution of chironomids, which was also noted by RAE (1985) and BUSKENS & MOLLER PILLOT (1992). A more detailed analysis of the role of chironomids as indicators of habitat quality will, therefore, be necessary in the future when habitat restoration becomes of greater importance in river management. More refined analysis of habitat preferences of chironomid species, e.g. for hydraulic and sediment characteristics, could yield important additional information (VERDONSCHOT et al., 1992).

It has been reported that a grab sampler is an appropriate instrument for collecting chironomid organisms from the bottom sediment (INT PANIS et al., 1995). From our results it appeared that the chironomid taxa, which are buried in the sediment, could also representatively be sampled with a 350µm handnet (e.g. Chaetocladius gr. piger). However, a biased view of the biological communities could be obtained because certain smaller chironomid taxa may seem absent when sampled with a handnet of 350µm (STOREY & PINDER, 1985). Regarding the sampling season, it has been demonstrated that during winter a lesser number of species can be found because of the formation of resting stages of some chironomid taxa (MACKEY, 1977; GODDEERIS, 1987; ROSSARO, 1991). Thus, sampling in summer, as was done in the present study, should be appropriate to ascertain chironomid biodiversity (MOLLER PILLOT, 1978).

In the present study, chironomid taxa were identified at the lowest level possible to analyse the ecological information gathered for the running waters in the Zwalm river basin. The more refined identification level of the chironomids could provide useful information for application within water quality assessment, but also for obtaining information about aspects such as the ecology of indicator taxa in specific water types and a better ecological characterization of the brooklets. The chironomid community structure can also serve as an indication of the habitat and the water quality of the river, based on the absence/presence of some indicator species (VERDON-SCHOT, 2000b, 2000c). It could even be possible to construct specific chironomid indices, reflecting the habitat quality (VERDONSCHOT et al., 1992). One has to keep in mind, however, that an ecological evaluation based on chironomids should include type specific reference conditions.

The advantage of using species-level data to obtain more meaningful information for the assessment of the biological condition of a site has been addressed by several authors (BOWMAN & BAILEY, 1997; GUEROLD, 2000). The present study shows that identification of chironomids at a more detailed level than family level provides additional information on the water quality of the Zwalm river basin when compared to the BBI. However, for application of this refined identification in routine monitoring, time and effort (expertise/personnel) required for such work should be taken into consideration (personal communication). Identification of chironomids at a more detailed level can, therefore, probably not be part of a rapid bioassessment procedure for rivers in Flanders.

CONCLUSION

In this study, chironomid taxa could be assigned as indicators for natural running waters in Flanders (e.g. brooks in the crenal zone) and nutrient conditions. These results were obtained by multivariate analyses based on data collected within the Zwalm river basin. These techniques were very useful to detect relationships between chironomid taxa and environmental variables in a river basin. In the future, physical characteristics of the watercourses should also be included in such studies because of the importance of the habitat conditions for chironomid communities. A more refined identification of the chironomids provided useful information for various applications, including the study of the ecology of these indicator organisms in specific water types and a better ecological characterization of the brooklets where they were collected. Identification of the chironomid communities is, however, very laborious and as such, due to its relatively high energy-input, not directly suitable for rapid bio-assessments.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Veronique Adriaenssens is a recipient of a grant from the Institute for the Promotion of Innovation by Science and Technology in Flanders (IWT).

REFERENCES

- BARZERQUE, M.F., H. LAVILLE & Y. BROUQUET (1989). Biological quality assessment in two rivers of the northern plain of France (Picardie) with special reference to chironomid and diatom indices. Acta. Biol. Debr. Aecol. Hung., 3 : 29-39.
- BAZZANTI, M. & F. BAMBACIGNO (1987). Chironomids as water quality indicators in the river Mignone (Central Italy). *Hydrobiological Bulletin*, 21(2) : 213-222.
- BOWMAN, M.F. & R.C. BAILEY (1997). Does taxonomic resolution affect the multivariate description of the structure of freshwater benthic macroinvertebrate communities. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, 54 : 1802-1807.
- BUSKENS, R.F.M. & H.K.M. MOLLER PILLOT (1992). The Netherlands as an environment for chironomid fauna. *Neth. J.* Aquat. Ecol., 26(2-4): 223-228.
- CAO, Y., A.W. BARK, & W. P. WILLIAMS (1997). A comparison of clustering methods for river benthic community analysis. *Hydrobiologia*, 347 : 25-40.
- CRANSTON, P.S. (1982). A key to the larvae of the British Orthocladiinae (Chironomidae). British Museum (Natural History), *Freshwater Biology*, 14 : 179-182.
- DE PAUW, N. & G. VANHOOREN (1983). Method for biological assessment of watercourses in Belgium. *Hydrobiologia*, 100:153-168.
- DE PAUW, N. & H.A. HAWKES (1993). Biological monitoring of river water quality. In: *River water quality monitoring and control*. W.J. WALLEY & S. JUDD, Eds. Aston University, Birmingham, UK. p. 87-111.
- DE PAUW, N. & R. VANNEVEL (1993). Macro-invertebraten en waterkwaliteit. *Dossiers Stichting Leefmilieu*, 11, Antwerpen, 316 p.
- EULIN, A., C. GRUARIN, H. LAVILLE, & R. LE COHU (1993). Evaluation de la qualité de l'eau de la Garonne par référence spéciale aux indices diatomique et chironomidien. *Annales de Limnologie*, 30(2) : 123-129.
- EVRARD, M. (1995a). Quelques aspects méconnus des Chironomidae (Diptera) de Belgique. Les Naturalistes Belges, 76(2): 33-50.
- EVRARD, M. (1995b). The chironomid fauna of the Ourthe basin, Belgium : additions to the Belgian check-list of Chironomidae (Diptera). Annales de Limnology, 31(3) : 215-221.
- EVRARD, M. (1996). Utilisation des exuvies nymphales de Chironomidae (Diptera) en tant qu'indicateurs biologiques de la qualité des eaux de surface wallonnes. Dissertation de doctorat, Facultés Universitaires Notre-Dame de la Paix de Namur, Namur, Belgique, 204 p.
- FITTER, R. & R. MANUEL (1986). Collins Field Guide to Freshwater Life of Britain and North-West Europe. William Collins sons & Co. Ltd, London, U.K., 382 p.
- GODDEERIS, B. (1987). The time factor in the niche space of Tanytarsus-species in two ponds in the Belgian Ardennes (Diptera : Chironomidae). *Entomologica Scandinavica Supplement*, 29 : 281-288.
- GODDEERIS B.R. & F. BEHEN (1991). Chironomidae. Eds GROO-TAERT, P., DE BRUYN, L. & DE MEYER, M. Catalogue of the Diptera of Belgium, 70 : 47-56.
- GOETHALS, P.L.M. & N. DE PAUW (2001). Development of a concept for integrated river assessment in Flanders, Belgium. *Journal of Limnology*, 60 : 7-16.
- GROENENDIJK, D., S.M.G. LUCKER, M. PLANS, M.H.S. KRAAK & W. ADMIRAAL (2002). Dynamics of metal adaptation in riverine chironomids. *Environmental Pollution*, 117(1): 101-109.

- GUEROLD, F. (2000). Influence of taxonomic determination level on several community indices. *Water Research*, 34(2) : 487-492.
- HILL, M.O. (1973). Reciprocal averaging : an eigenvector method of ordination. *Journal of Ecology*, 61 : 237-249.
- IBN (1984). 'Norme Belge T 92-402. Qualité biologiques des cours d'eau. Détermination de l'indice biotique se basant sur les macro-invertébrés aquatiques.' Institut Belge de Normalisation, Brussels, 11 p.
- INT PANIS, L., B. GODDEERIS & R.F. VERHEYEN (1995). On the reliability of Ponar grab samples for the quantitative study of benthic invertebrates in ponds. *Hydrobiologia*, 312 : 147-152.
- KING, D.L. & R.C. BALL (1964). A quantitative biological measure of stream pollution. J. Wat. Pollut. Control Fed. 36 : 650.
- KLEIN, W.J. JR. (1967). Picture-key to the genera of aquatic midges. Laboratory investigations number 4. Technical advisory and investigations branch, federal water pollution control administration, United States department of the Interior, Cincinnatti, Ohio, USA, 15 p.
- KLINK, A. (1981). Determinatietabel voor de poppen en larven der Nederlandse Tanytarsini; Deel I : Tabellen tot geslacht. Hydrobiologisch Adviesburo Klink, Wageningen, Nederland, 47 p.
- KLINK, A.G. (1983). Key to the dutch larvae of *Paratanytarsus* (Thienemann & Bause) with a note on the ecology and the phylogenetic relations, *Medeklinker nr. 3*. Hydrobiologisch Adviesburo Klink, Wageningen, Nederland, 35 p.
- LADLE, M. & G.J. BIRD (1980). Aquatic Oligochaeta of Southern England. In: Aquatic Oligochaetae Biology, R.O. BRINKHURST & D.G. COOK, Eds. Plenum Press, New York, USA.
- LENAT, D.R. (1983). Chironomid taxa richness : natural variation and use in pollution assessment. *Fresh. Invert. Biol.*, 2(4) : 192-198.
- LINDEGAARD, C. (1997). Diptera Chironomidae, Non-biting Midges. In Aquatic Insects of North Europe, Vol. 2, A. NILS-SON, ed., pp. 265-294, Apollo Books.
- MACKEY, A.P. (1977). Quantitative studies on the Chironomidae (Diptera) of the Rivers Thames and Kennet III. The Nuphar zone. *Arch. Hydrobiol.*, 79 : 62-102.
- MARTINEZ, E.A., B.C. MOORE, J. SCHAUMLOFFEL & N. DAS-GUPTA (2002). The potential association between mental deformities and trace elements in Chironomidae (Diptera) taken from a heavy metal contaminated river. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 20(11) : 2475-2481.
- MASON, W.T.JR. (1968). An introduction to the identification of chironomid larvae. Division of Pollution Surveillance. Federal Water Pollution Control Administration, U.S. Department of the interior. Cincinnati, Ohio, USA, 89 p.
- MEREGALLI, G., A.C. VERMEULEN & F. OLLEVIER (2000). The use of chironomid deformation in an in situ test for sediment toxicity. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*, 47(3): 231-238.
- MOLLER PILLOT, H.K.M. (1978). Nederlandse faunistische mededelingen, 1. De larven der Nederlandse Chironomidae (Diptera). Centraal Bureau Nederland van de European Invertebrate Survey, Rijksmuseum van Natuurlijke Historie, Leiden, Nederland, 105 p.
- MOLLER PILLOT, H.K.M. (1984). Nederlandse faunistische mededelingen, 1B. De larven der Nederlandse Chironomidae (Diptera) (Orthocladiinae sensu latu). Stichting European Invertebrate Survey – Nederland, Rijksmuseum van Natuurlijke Historie, Leiden, Nederland, 175 p.

- MOLLER PILLOT, H.K.M. & R.F.M. BUSKENS (1990). Nederlandse faunistische mededelingen, *IB. De larven der Nederlandse Chironomidae (Diptera), Deel C : Auto-ecologie en verspreiding*. Stichting European Invertebrate Survey – Nederland, Rijksmuseum van Natuurlijke Historie, Leiden, Nederland, 88 p.
- ORENDT, C. (1998). Macroinvertebrates and diatoms as indicators of acidification in forest spring brooks in a region of eastern Germany (Leipzig-Halle-Bitterfeld) highly impacted by industrial activities. *Arch. Hydriobiol.*, 4 : 435-467.
- ORENDT, C. (2000). The chironomid communities of woodland springs and spring brooks, severly endangered and impacted ecosystems in a lowland region of eastern Germany. *Journal* of Insect Conservation, 4 : 79-91.
- PAINE, G.H. (1956). Illustrated flow chart to certain groups of chironomid larvae. U.S. department of health, education and welfare. Public health service, Robert A. Taft Sanitary Engineering Center, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA, 9 p.
- RAE, J.G. (1985). A multivariate study of resource partitioning in soft bottom lotic Chironomidae. *Hydrobiologia*, 150: 143-151.
- REINHOLD-DUDOK VAN HEEL, H.C. & P.J. DEN BESTEN (1999). The relation between macroinvertebrate assemblages in the Rhine-Meuse delta (the Netherlands) and sediment quality. *Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management*, 2 : 19-38.
- RODRIGUEZ, P. & J.C. ARMAS, (1983). Contribution à la connaissance de la faune d'oligochètes du Pays Basque et zones limitrophes. *Annales de Limnologie*, 19 : 33-100.
- ROSENBERG, D.M. & V.H RESH (1993). Freshwater biomonitoring and benthic macroinvertebrates. New York, USA, Chapmann and Hall, 488p.
- Rossaro, B. (1991). Analysis of environmental gradients determining Chironomid (Insects, Diptera) species composition using multivariate analysis. *Acta Biologica*, 68 : 209-224.
- SAETHER, O.A. (1979). Chironomid communities as water quality indicators. *Hol. Ecol.*, 2 : 65-74.
- SØRENSEN, T. (1984). A method of establishing groups of equal amplitude in plant sociology based on similarity of species content. *Det. Kong. Danske Vidensk. Selsk. Biol. Slr.* (Copenhagen), 5(4): 1-34.
- STOREY, A. & L.C.V. PINDER (1985). Mesh-size and efficiency of sampling of larval chironomidae. *Hydrobiologia*, 124: 193-197.
- TER BRAAK, C.F.J. (1986). Canonical correspondence analysis : a new eigenvector technique for multivariate direct gradient analysis. *Ecology*, 67(5) : 1167-1179.
- TER BRAAK, C.F.J. & P. SMILAUER (1998). CANOCO reference manual and user's guide to Canoco for Windows. Software for Canonical Community Ordination (Version 4). Centre for Biometry, Wageningen, the Netherlands, 351 p.
- TER BRAAK, C.F.J. & P.F.M. VERDONSCHOT (1995) : Canonical correspondence analysis and related multivariate analysis in aquatic ecology. *Aquatic Sciences*, 57(3) : 255-289.
- VAN TONGEREN, O. (1986). FLEXCLUS, an interactive program for classification and tabulation of ecological data. *Act. Bot. Neerl.*, 35(3): 389-412.
- VERDONSCHOT, P.F.M., R. MONSTERRAT & J. SCHOT (1992). Chironomids and regional water types. *Neth. J. Aquat. Ecol.*, 26(2-4): 513-520.
- VERDONSCHOT, P.F.M. (2000a). Integrated ecological assessment methods as a basis for sustainable catchment management. *Hydrobiologia* : 423 : 389-412.
- VERDONSCHOT, P.F.M. (2000b). Natuurlijke levensgemeenschappen van de Nederlandse binnenwateren. Deel 1, Bronnen. Achtergronddocument bij het "Handboek Natuurdoeltypen in Nederland". Alterra, Wageningen, Nederland, 87 p.

- VERDONSCHOT, P.F.M. (2000c). Natuurlijke levensgemeenschappen van de Nederlandse binnenwateren. Deel 2, Beken. Achtergronddocument bij het 'Handboek Natuurdoeltypen in Nederland. Alterra, Wageningen, Nederland, 128 p.
- WIEDERHOLM, T. (1983). Chironomidae of the Holarctic region. Keys and diagnosis. Part I. Larvae. *Entomologia Scandinavica*, Supplement n° 19.

Received : May 7, 2003 Accepted : October 16, 2003

Diet composition in relation to morphology in some African anguilliform clariid catfishes

Frank Huysentruyt¹, Dominique Adriaens¹, Guy G. Teugels², Stijn Devaere¹, Anthony Herrel³, Walter Verraes¹ and Peter Aerts³

¹ Ghent University, Vertebrate Morphology, K.L. Ledeganckstraat 35, B-9000 Gent, Belgium

² Africa Museum, Ichthyology Department, B-3080 Tervuren, Belgium and KULeuven, Section for Ecology and Systematics, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium

³ University of Antwerp, Department of Biology, Universiteitsplein 1, B-2610 Antwerp, Belgium

Corresponding author : Frank Huysentruyt, email : frank.huysentruyt@rug.ac.be

ABSTRACT. Genera of the catfish family Clariidae that have an extreme anguilliform body shape (e.g. *Dolichallabes*, *Gymnallabes* and *Channallabes*) are also characterized by an extreme hypertrophy of the jaw closing muscles. Whereas it has been demonstrated that the hypertrophy of these muscles results in increased bite performance, the adaptive significance of these enlarged jaw muscles remains unclear. Given that hypertrophied forms bite harder it was suggested that the hypertrophy of the jaw adductors might be correlated with changes in diet or an altered feeding pattern. To test this hypothesis, stomach contents were analysed from specimens of a few more anguilliform species, as well as in a limited set of specimens from some of the less anguilliform clariid species. The results show that specimens with a more anguilliform body-shape have a different feeding pattern with a special preference for coleopterans. However, the absence of bite-marks on the prey retrieved from the stomachs indicated that jaw morphology and bite performance are not likely to be related to the dietary composition in the species with hypertrophied jaw adductors.

KEY WORDS : anguilliformity, Clariidae, diet, ecomorphology, Siluriformes.

INTRODUCTION

Members of the Clariidae, one of the 35 presently recognised families of catfishes (DE PINNA, 1998), mainly occur on the African continent, but can also be found in Minor Asia, the Indian subcontinent and southeast Asia (TEUGELS, 1996). Clariids are primarily freshwater fishes, but they also tolerate brackish water. Together with their ability to utilize atmospheric air through a suprabranchial organ and to "walk" on land, this tolerance partially explains their large area of dispersion (ROBERTS, 1975; TEUGELS, 1996). Clariids, and many other families of Siluriformes, are also characterized by a more benthic and/or nocturnal life-style, combined with morphological adaptations for such a life-style (ALEXANDER, 1965). These alterations are mainly: (1) small eyes, in combination with a highly specialised Weberian apparatus, and the presence of oral barbels, and (2) the dorso-ventral flattening of the head (as an adaptation towards a more benthic life-style) (FINK & FINK, 1981; ADRIAENS & VERRAES, 1997).

Within the Clariidae, both genera with a more fusiform and genera with a distinct anguilliform body shape exist, as well as intermediate forms. The more anguilliform genera show several transformations within the cranial morphology associated with hypertrophy of the adductor mandibulae complex (CABUY et al., 1999; DEVAERE et al., 2001). Although it has been shown that the hypertrophy of the jaw adductors results in an increased bite performance (HERREL et al., 2002), the question remains whether this is an actual adaptation or simply the result of the miniaturization of the skull (DEVAERE et al., 2001).

As the hypertrophy of the jaw adductors results in an increase in bite force, an often suggested and plausible explanation would be that this is an adaptation to a dietary specialisation involving the crushing of hard prey. This explanation can be tested by comparing the diet of hypertrophied forms with that of non-hypertrophied ones. Whereas the diet of some more fusiform genera that show no hypertrophy of the jaw adductors (e.g. *Clarias* sp., SCOPOLI, 1777) has been well investigated (SPATARU et al., 1987; FAGBENRO et al., 1991), little or no information is available concerning the diet of the genera with more hypertrophied jaw adductors.

Thus, the aims of this study were : (1) to determine, based on stomach-content analysis, the overall composition of the diet of different clariid species, (2) to investigate whether the species with hypertrophied jaw adductors show changes in diet compared to species with less hypertrophied jaw adductors and (3) to examine whether the hypertrophy of the jaw adductors can be linked to shifts in diet.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Sampling

For this study, a total of 306 specimens from six species of clariids were examined, focussing largely on the species with the most extreme hypertrophy of the jaw adductors : Channallabes apus (Günther, 1873) (173 specimens), Gymnallabes alvarezi Roman, 1970 (85 specimens) and Gymnallabes typus Günther, 1867 (25 specimens). For comparative purposes, the diets of some of the intermediate species of clariids were also examined : Platyallabes tihoni (Poll, 1944) (13 specimens), Clariallabes melas (Boulenger, 1887) (five specimens) and *Clariallabes longicauda* (Boulenger, 1902) (five specimens). However, certain geographically distinct populations of C. apus and G. alvarezi might be in need of transfer from one species to the other. For the purpose of the present paper, however, this issue is of minor importance as the main objective was to determine whether the species with strongly hypertrophied jaw adductors such as C. apus, G. alvarezi, G. typus and Dolichallabes microphthalmus, have specialized diets that might be related to the observed hypertrophy of the jaw adductors. Some of the specimens used were obtained from the Koninklijk Museum voor Midden-Afrika/Musée Royal de l'Afrique Centrale (MRAC), Tervuren, Belgium and some from an expedition to Gabon in September 2000. Due to the scarcity of material, no conclusions as to seasonality or locality of the diet could be made. From all specimens the content of the stomach was removed, sorted and identified up to the level of order.

To assess whether animals actually selected certain prey, several pitfall traps were placed at two distinct sites in Gabon where the fish (half of the *C. apus* specimens and almost all *G. typus* specimens) were collected. These sites were chosen in such a way that they reflected the overall composition of the habitat of the anguilliform clariid species. Pitfalls were placed, for 48 hours, in the swamp area where fish were collected, and randomly arranged at each site. Four aluminium guides were placed perpendicularly around each pitfall to increase capture success. The contents of the traps were sorted and identified as mentioned above.

As it was expected that animals with hypertrophied jaw adductors would preferentially feed on harder prey, the hardness of the prey collected in the pitfalls was determined. By comparing prey in the stomach of the fishes with the hardness data of the available prey we were able to determine whether fish actually selected for harder prey. Prey hardness was measured using a Kistler force transducer (type 9203, Kistler, Zwitserland), connected to a Kistler charge amplifier (type 5058A, Kistler, Zwitserland) and a PC equipped with an electronic measuring board (PC-Scope T512, IMTEC, Germany), as described in HERREL et al. (1999). A screw with narrow pointed tip was attached to the transducer and slowly pushed onto the prey until failure of the exoskeleton of the hardest part of the body (usually the head and prothorax). The maximal force recorded just before failure of the prey was considered to be the hardness of that prey. Differences in prey hardness between dietary categories were compared by means of pairwise Mann-Whitney U tests.

As the formaldehyde solution used to preserve arthropods in the pitfalls might affect hardness, we experimentally tested the effects of preservation on the hardness of two prey types : mealworms and crickets. Thirty house crickets (*Acheta domestica* L., 1758) and twenty large mealworms (*Tenebrio molitor* L., 1758) were selected for

testing. Each prey group was randomly subdivided in half, and euthanised. One half of the prey groups was subsequently preserved in a 10% aqueous formaldehyde solution for five days. The other half of each group was measured (length and width) using Mitutoyo (type CD 20DC) electronic callipers, and weighed to the nearest 0,001 gram using a Denver Instruments (M220) electronic balance. Next, prey hardness was measured for each individual prey item using a Kistler (type 9203) force transducer attached to a portable Kistler charge amplifier (type 5995) as described in HERREL et al. (2001). Preserved prey were taken out of the formaldehyde, rinsed, blotted dry and measured, weighed and crushed as described above. Two-way analysis of variance was used to estimate the effects of preservation and prey type on prey hardness (SPSS v. 10.05).

Data analysis

To describe and compare diets among species, several indices per food item were calculated :

- Relative importance index (PINKAS et al., 1971) :

$$IRI = (\%N + \%V) . \%Oc$$

where %N and %Oc are, respectively, numeric abundance and the frequency of occurrence, and %V is the volumetric percentage of the prey type. In this research the %V was replaced by %DW as suggested by KONÉ (2000). In addition, %IRI was calculated, being the proportion of IRI of each prey type in relation to the total IRI value.

- Electivity index (KOHLER & NEY, 1982) :

 $E_i = (\%N - \%N_{pit}) / (\%N + \%N_{pit})$

where %N and %N_{*pit*} are as mentioned above. This index compares the abundancies of the prey items as found in the stomachs with those in the pitfalls, thus providing an indication of the degree to which the diet is selective.

In addition, the diets from the two species with the largest sample size, *C. apus* and *G. alvarezi*, were compared using a randomisation test designed by MANTEL (1967) and used by PATTERSON (1986) and SEVENSTER & BOUTON (1998) for the comparison of diets. This procedure uses the mean percentage overlap as a test statistic. The percentage overlap between two individuals *a* and *b* is calculated as :

$$O_{ab} = \sum_{i} \min(p_{ai}, p_{bi})$$

where p_{ai} is the proportion of prey type *i* used by specimen *a* and min (p_{ai}, p_{bi}) is the smallest of p_{ai} and p_{bi} . The statistic for interspecific overlap is the mean of the overlaps in all possible heterospecific pairs of individuals, and the statistic for intraspecific similarity is the mean of the overlaps in all possible pairs of individuals of the same species (SEVENSTER & BOUTON, 1998).

RESULTS

The dietary results are summarized below and are sorted per species as they were defined by POLL (1942).

Species diet

Table 1 shows the results of the stomach content analysis. For *C. apus* the table shows that Coleoptera is the species' main prey type (%IRI = 89,31). In comparison with the number of Coleoptera found in the pitfalls the species shows actual selection for the given prey item ($E_i = 0,69$), which also seemed to be the case for Isoptera ($E_i = 0,75$). The latter value is, however, of little significance and will

be dealt with further in the discussion. Hymenoptera ($E_i = -0,66$) and also Hemiptera, Diptera and Araneae are underrepresented. Furthermore, *C. apus* has a high vacuity index and a low Shannon-Wiener index or small diet breadth.

TABLE 1							
Diet composition in C. ap	pus and G. alvarezi						

Prey category	N	%IRI	%Pit	\mathbf{E}_{i}	Ν	%IRI	%Pit	\mathbf{E}_{i}
Mollusca								
Gastropoda	3	0.36	-	-	-	-	-	-
Malacostraca								
Isopoda	2	0.7	-	-	-	-	-	-
Arachnida								
Araneae	5	1.90	7.80	-0.27	-	-	-	-
Insecta								
Ephemeroptera	3	0.21	-	-	-	-	-	-
Odonata	6	2.01	-	-	1	0.96	1.00	0.41
Dictyoptera	1	0.34	0.49	0.30	-	-	-	-
Isoptera	15	0.51	1.95	0.75	-	-	-	-
Hemiptera	5	1.24	9.76	-0.37	1	0.09	4.81	-0.35
Diptera	8	1.84	9.76	-0.15	5	1.86	3.85	0.50
Hymenoptera	7	1.23	31.22	-0.66	1	0.12	37.50	-0.88
Coleoptera	54	89.31	8.78	0.69	34	96.97	31.73	0.43
Actinopterygii								
Cypriniformes	2	0.65	-	-	-	-	-	-
Aves								
Sp.	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-
No. of stomachs examined			173				85	
Vacuity index		68 79	175			75 29		
Shannon-Wiener index		00.75	0.57			15.29	0.16	

Also for *G. alvarezi* Coleoptera form the majority of the diet (%IRI = 96,97) and a positive selection towards this prey type is present (E_i =0,43). Other results have little significance, since the absolute numbers of prey eaten were low. Remarkable, however, is the small bird found in one of the *G. alvarezi* stomachs. The results also show a high vacuity index and low Shannon-Wiener index.

Table 2 combines the results of the other species examined. The numbers of prey found in these analyses were, however, so low that no significant conclusions could be made. Nevertheless the data are presented for comparison and can be considered as indicative. The high percentage of dipteran larvae and Ephemeroptera is remarkable for *G. typus* and *P. tihoni*. The high abundance of fish prey in the analysis of *C. melas* is another interesting point of possible divergence compared to the two diets previously mentioned. The results for *C. longicauda*, however, only show Coleoptera within the diet.

Prey hardness

Fig. 1 shows the results obtained on the relative hardness of different prey types that occur within the habitat of the investigated species. These results were analysed by means of pairwise Mann-Whitney U tests, from which the respective p-levels are given in Table 3. This table shows that Hymenoptera are significantly harder than all other investigated prey types, followed by Coleoptera and Hemiptera, which in turn are significantly harder than all

TABLE 2

Diet composition in G. typus, P. tihoni, C. melas and C. longicauda

Species	Prey Category	Ν	%N
G. typus	Insecta		
	Diptera	10	90.91
	Coleoptera	1	9.09
Vacuity index = 88,0 %			
P. tihoni	Insecta		
	Ephemeroptera	5	71.43
	Diptera	2	28.57
Vacuity index = 76,9 %			
C. melas	Insecta		
	Odonata	2	40.00
	Diptera	1	20.00
	Actinopterygii		
	Gonorhynchiformes	2	40.00
Vacuity index = 40,0 %	·		
C. longicauda	Insecta		
	Coleoptera	3	100.00
Vacuity index = $60,0\%$			

remaining prey, except for Dictyoptera. Gryllidae, Araneae and Decapoda are in turn significantly softer than all other prey items, except for Dictyoptera. Supplementary tests also showed that effects of preservation on prey hardness were present but had no influence on the relative proportions of prey hardness.



Prey type

Fig. 1. – Comparison of hardness of prey from pitfalls (HYM : Hymenoptera; COL : Coleoptera; HEM : Hemiptera; DIC : Dictyoptera; DEC : Decapoda; GRY : Gryllidae; ARA : Araneae) The column height displays the average, the whiskers indicate standard deviation.

TABLE 3

Pairwise comparison of U-values (bottom) and p-levels (top) in Mann-Whitney U test concerning relative hardness of possible prey types. (DEC: Decapoda; ARA: Araneae; GRY: Gryllidae; DIC: Dictyoptera; HEM: Hemiptera; HYM: Hymenoptera; COL: Coleoptera) *p < 0.05; ** p < 0.005.

	DEC	ARA	GRY	DIC	HEM	HYM	COL
DEC		0,136	0,096	0,148	*	**	**
ARA			0,835	0,440	*	**	*
GRY				0,250	*	**	*
DIC					0,444	*	0,353
HEM						**	0,372
HYM							**
COL							

Dietary overlap

The Schoener index mainly indicated dietary overlap between *C. apus* and *G. alvarezi*, a hypothesis that was further tested in a randomisation test, of which the results are represented in Table 4. The table shows that the diets

TABLE 4

Observed (Obs.) and expected (Exp.) overlaps, and estimated significance, based on 1000 simulations.

Overlap	Obs.	Exp.	Signifi- cance	
Between groups	36.8	31.5	p = 1.000	(100.0% of simulations < observed)
Within <i>C</i> . <i>apus</i>	22.6	31.3	p = 0.001	(0.1% of simulations > observed)
Within <i>G.</i> <i>alvarezi</i>	60.6	31.7	p = 1.000	(100.0% of simulations > observed)

of *C. apus* and *G. alvarezi* do not differ significantly (p = 1.00). The results also show a high intraspecific overlap in *C. apus* (p = 0.001) and a low intraspecific overlap in *G. alvarezi* (p = 1.000).

DISCUSSION

This study indicates that both C. apus and G. alvarezi mainly feed on Coleoptera and that their diets in general do not differ significantly. This is indicated by the Schoener index as well as in the randomisation test. The latter, however, reveals a much higher intraspecific overlap in C. apus than in G. alvarezi, which could imply that G. alvarezi is a more specialised feeder, whereas C. apus has a more generalised feeding habit (SEVENSTER & BOUTON, 1998). The fact that the abundance of Coleoptera was lower in the pitfalls than in the stomachs of both species nevertheless indicates that both species tend to have a preference for Coleoptera ($E_i = 0.69$ and 0.43). The fact that both diets are characterized by a rather low Shannon-Wiener index demonstrates that the diet is highly specialised (LABROPOULOU et al., 1997), which is confirmed in the randomisation test for G. alvarezi but not for C. apus. Feeding intensity and frequency are negatively related to the number of empty stomachs, thus the high vacuity index that was found in C. apus as well as in G. alvarezi indicates that in both species intensity and frequency of feeding are very low (BOWMAN & BOWMAN, 1980). In addition, feeding intensity and frequency are directly correlated with meal size and digestion time (FANGE & GROVE, 1979). All these observations suggest that both species mainly feed on large or relatively indigestible food (e.g. hard prey), which tallies with the observation that mainly Coleoptera are eaten. On the other hand, Table 3 showed that not only Coleoptera but also

Hymenoptera and Hemiptera were significantly harder than most other preys. The latter two prey types, however, were underrepresented in the stomachs, and thus a negative preference towards both prey types seems to be present. This is also confirmed by the E_i of both prey types in *C. apus* as well as in *G. alvarezi* (Table 1). As to Hymenoptera, it may be mentioned that they were mainly ants; ants produce venom, which makes them less attractive (TAYLOR et al., 2002). The same may be suggested for Hemiptera, since eight of the ten families of Hemiptera that are considered aquatic have specialised glands that emit pungent, protective secretions against potential predators (SCRIMSHAW & KERFOOT, 1987). Within the Coleoptera, however, no species are known to be venomous (BLUM, 1981).

The results in other clariids, discussed below, have to be considered with care since data on these were few, although they provide some interesting indications.

In *G. typus*, for instance, the results show a different feeding pattern. The vacuity index is very high (Table 2), so the species may also feed on large or hard prey items. The data on the stomach contents, however, do not confirm this, since mainly small Diptera were eaten (Table 2). For *P. tihoni* the vacuity index is again very high (Table 2). Again little or no evidence of a diet of large and/or relatively indigestible prey is found. In both *Clariallabes*-species, again relatively high vacuity indices were found. Also in *C. longicauda* large and relatively indigestible prey were found, comparable to *C. apus* and *G. typus*, which is also indicated by a high Schoener index between the latter two species and *C. longicauda* (Table 2).

The data of C. apus and G. alvarezi seem to confirm the assumption that the hypertrophy of the main jaw muscles in these anguilliform species is an actual adaptation towards dietary changes, which is to a high extent confirmed by the data on relative prey hardness. However, when examining the prey items that were found within the stomachs, it was noticed that most of them were intact and had no bitemarks. This indicates that both species swallow their prey whole without prior oral or pharyngeal processing, apart from buccal transport. The swallowing movements are mainly accomplished by hyoid depression and through the action of protractor hyoidei, hyohyoideus inferior and sternohyoideus (SCHAEFER & LAUDER, 1986; LAUDER, 1980). In conclusion it can be stated that the current analysis of the diet does not support the hypothesis that hypertrophism of the musculus adductor mandibulae complex is an adaptation to feeding on larger or harder prey. Yet, these hypertrophied muscles may enable the fish to occasionally eat larger or harder preys, as in the example of the small bird that was eaten by one of the G. alvarezi specimens. The fact remains, however, that the diet of both C. apus as G. alvarezi is very selective towards coleopteran prey, since intensive feeding on Coleoptera is not widespread among teleosts. Even when regarding the diet of an other eel-shaped freshwater teleost such as Chendol keelini KOTTELAT & LIM, 1994 (Chaudhuriidae), the number of coleopteran prey only represented an average of 2.3 % of the diet (KERLE et al., 2000). Also in data on diets of other Clariidae as Heterobranchus bidorsalis GEOFFROY ST. HILAIRE, 1808 and Clarias gariepinus (BURCHELL, 1822) low numbers of coleopteran prey are found. In *Clarias gariepinus* a figure of 6.8 % (FAGBENRO et al., 1991) is mentioned and in *Heterobranchus bidorsalis* an exact number of coleopteran prey was not given but the total number of insect prey only added up to an average of 19.2 % of the diet (SPA-TARU et al., 1987).

As far as the diet results of *G. typus* are concerned, a different diet was found, mainly consisting of mosquitolarvae. However, the high vacuity index found in the specimens examined precludes justifiable interpretation of these results.

In conclusion, this study shows that the diet of both C. apus and G. alvarezi is a very selective one. Both species mainly feed on Coleoptera, which are generally harder than other prey items. Although these results could indicate that the main jaw muscles are extremely enlarged as an adaptation towards an altered and specialized feeding pattern, the absence of bite marks on hard prey items suggests that both species presumably feed by swallowing rather then biting. This suggestion is further confirmed by the results of VAN WASSENBERGH (2003), who stated that features in favour of an increased biting force (such as enlarged jaw muscles) have consequences on suction feeding mechanisms. As a consequence, this still leaves the question on the functional significance of these altered jaw muscles open, which could confirm the hypothesis by DEVAERE et al. (2001) that they could well be just the result of the miniaturization of the skull.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank Melanie Stiassny and Carl Hopkins for providing technical assistance during the fieldwork in Gabon. Also thanks to Jean Daniel Mbega of the Institut de Recherches Agronomiques et Forestières (Gabon) and J. Okouyi for their assistance during sampling and to Beatrijs Moerkerke for her assistance with the data analysis. Research was funded by the Bijzonder Onderzoeksfonds. (01103401 and 01104299) and Fonds voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (G.0388.00). Anthony Herrel is a postdoctoral researcher of the Fund for Scientific Research, Flanders (FWO-VI).

References

- ADRIAENS, D. & W. VERRAES (1997). Some consequences of transformations in siluriform chondrocrania : a case study of *Clarias gariepinus* (Burchell, 1822) (Siluriformes : Clariidae). *Neth. J. Zool.*, 47 : 349-363.
- ALEXANDER, R.M. (1965). Structure and function in the catfish. J. Zool. Lond., 148 : 88-152.
- BLUM, M.S. (1981). *Chemical defenses in arthropods*. Academic Press, New York.
- BOWMAN, R.E. & E.W. BOWMAN (1980). Diurnal variation in the feeding intensity and catchability of silver hake (*Merluccius bilinearis*). *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, 37 : 1565-1572.
- CABUY, E., D. ADRIAENS, W. VERRAES & G.G. TEUGELS (1999). Comparative study on the cranial morphology of *Gymnallabes typus* (Siluriformes : Clariidae) and their less anguilliform relatives, *Clariallabes melas* and *Clarias gariepinus*. J. Morphol., 240 : 169-194.
- DE PINNA, M.C.C. (1998). Phylogenetic relationships of Neotropical Siluriformes (Teleostei : Ostariophysi) : Historical overview and synthesis of hypotheses. In : MALABARBA, L.R., R.E. REIS, R.P. VARI, Z.M. LUCENA & C.A.S. LUCENA

(eds), *Phylogeny and classification of Neotropical fishes*. Edipucrs, Porto Alegre : 279-330.

- DEVAERE, S., D. ADRIAENS, W. VERRAES & G.G. TEUGELS (2001). Cranial morphology of the anguilliform claridi *Channallabes apus* (Günther, 1873) (Teleostei : Siluriformes) : are adaptations related to powerful biting? J. Zool. Lond., 255 : 235-250.
- FAGBENRO, O.A., T.S. OLANIRAN & A.O. ESAN (1991). Some aspects of the biology of the catfish, *Heterobranchus bidorsalis* Geoffrey Saint-Hilaire, 1809 (Clariidae) in river Ogbese, Nigeria. *Rev. Zool. Afr.*, 105 : 363-372.
- FANGE, R., & D. GROVE (1979). Digestion. In : HOAR, W.S., D.J. RANDALL & J.R. BRETT (eds), *Fish physiology Vol VIII. Bioenergetics and growth*. Academic Press, New York : 162-260.
- FINK, S.V., & W.L. FINK (1981). Interrelationships of the ostariophysan fishes (Teleostei). Zool. J. Linn. Soc. 72 : 297-353.
- HERREL, A., M. VERSTAPPEN, & F. DE VREE (1999). Modulatory complexity of the feeding repertoire in scincid lizards. J. Comp. Physiol., 184 : 501-518.
- HERREL, A., R. VAN DAMME, B. VANHOOYDONCK, & F. DE VREE (2001). The implications of bite performance to diet in two species of lacertiid lizards. *Can. J. Zool.*, 79 : 662-670.
- HERREL, A., D. ADRIAENS, P. AERTS, & W. VERRAES (2002). Bite performance in clariid fishes with hypertrophied jaw adductors as deduced by bite modeling. J. Morphol., 253 : 196-205.
- KERLE, R., R. BRITZ, & P.K.L. NG (2000). Habitat preference, reproduction and diet of the earthworm eel, *Chendol keelini* (Teleostei : Chaudhuriidae). *Env. Biol. Fish.*, 57 : 413-422.
- KOHLER, C.C., & J.J. NEY (1982). A comparison of methods for quantitative-analysis of feeding selection of fishes. *Env. Biol. Fish.*, 7 : 363-368.
- KONÉ, T. (2000). Régime alimentaire et reproduction d'un tilapia lagunaire (Sarotherodon melanotheron Rüppel, 1852) dans la rivière bia et le lac de barrage d'ayamé (Côte D'Ivoire). Phd-thesis, KULeuven, Leuven.
- LABROPOULOU, M., A. MACHIAS, N. TSIMENIDES, & A. ELEFTHE-RIOU (1997). Feeding habits and ontogenetic diet shift of the striped mullet, *Mullus surmuletus* Linnaeus, 1758. *Fish. Res.*, 31 : 257-267.

- LAUDER, G. V. (1980). Evolution of the feeding mechanism in primitive Actinopterygian fishes : a functional anatomical analysis of *Polypterus*, *Lepisosteus*, and *Amia. J. Morphol.*, 163 : 283-317.
- MANTEL, N. (1967). The detection of disease clustering and a generalized regression approach. *Cancer Res*, 27 : 209-220.
- PATTERSON, G. B. (1986). A statistical method for testing dietary differences. *New. Zeal. J. Zool.*, 13 : 113-115.
- PINKAS, L., M.S. OLIPHANT, & I.L.K. IVERSON (1971). Food habits of Albacore, Bluefin Tuna, and Bonito in California waters. *Cal. Fish Game Fish. Bull.*, 152 : 1-105.
- POLL, M. (1942). Description d'un genre nouveau de Clariidae originaire de Congo Belge. *Rev. Zool. Bot. Afr.*, 36: 96-100.
- ROBERTS, T.R. (1975). Geographical distribution of African freshwater fishes. Zool. J. Linn. Soc., 57 : 249-319.
- SCHAEFER, S.A. & G.V. LAUDER (1986). Historical transformation of functional design : evolutionary morphology of feeding mechanisms in Loricarioid catfishes. *Syst. Zool.*, 35 : 489-508.
- SCRIMSHAW, R.W. & W.C. KERFOOT (1987). Chemical defenses of freshwater organisms : beetles and bugs. In : KERFOOT W. C. & A. SIH. (eds), *Predation : direct and indirect impacts on aquatic communities*. University Press of New England, Hanover : 240-262.
- SEVENSTER, J.G. & N. BOUTON (1998). The statistical significance of diets and other resource utilization patterns. *Neth. J. Zool.*, 48 : 267-272.
- SPATARU, P., J.A.R. VIVEEN & M. GOPHEN (1987). Food composition of *Clarias gariepinus* (= *C. lazera*) (Cypriniformes, Clariidae) in Lake Kinneret (Israel). *Hydrobiol*. 144 : 77-82.
- TAYLOR, W.A., P.A. LINDSEY & J.D. SKINNER (2002). The feeding ecology of the aardvark *Orycteropus afer. J. Arid Env.*, 50: 135-152.
- TEUGELS, G.G. (1996). Taxonomy, phylogeny and biogeography of catfishes (Ostariophysi, Siluroidei) : an overview. *Aq. Liv. Res.*, 9 : 9-34.
- VAN WASSENBERGH, S., A. HERREL, D. ADRIAENS & P. AERTS (2004). Effects of jaw adductor hypertrophy on buccal expansions during feeding of air breathing catfishes (Teleostei, Clariidae). Zoomorph., in press.

Received : May 12, 2003 Accepted : October 21, 2003

A new parrot from the Miocene of Germany, with comments on the variation of hypotarsus morphology in some Psittaciformes

Gerald Mayr¹ and Ursula B. Göhlich²

Corresponding author : Gerald Mayr, e-mail : Gerald.Mayr@senckenberg.de

ABSTRACT. A new taxon of parrot (Psittaciformes) is described from the Middle Miocene of Southern Germany. *Bavaripsitta ballmanni* gen. et sp. n. is known from an almost complete tarsometatarsus which resembles the corresponding bone of some small Psittaculini (*Polytelis, Alisterus*) and Platycercini (e.g., *Psephotus* spp.) in general shape and morphology. Although the new taxon cannot be assigned to any of the modern groups of parrots, together with other fossil specimens it shows that there was a considerable diversity of parrots in the Lower and Middle Miocene of the Old World. Our study further provides the first detailed survey on the variation of hypotarsus morphology within extant Psittaciformes. A derived hypotarsal structure is described that supports monophyly of a clade including the genera *Psephotus, Eunymphicus, Cyanoramphus, Northiella, Prosopeia, Barnardius, Platycercus*, and *Melopsittacus*, to the exclusion of *Neophema* and *Neopsephotus* (all Platycercini). Also well characterized by a derived morphology of the hypotarsus are Loriinae and Cyclopsittacini. A shared derived hypotarsal morphology may further support sister group relationship between *Agapornis* and *Loriculus* (Psittaculini).

KEY WORDS : Aves, Psittaciformes, *Bavaripsitta ballmanni* gen. et sp. n., Miocene, Nördlinger Ries, hypotarsus, phylogeny.

INTRODUCTION

Parrots (Psittaciformes) are a morphologically quite uniform group of birds, which today has its greatest diversity in the Australasian and Neotropic region. Crown group parrots (i.e. the taxon comprising the last common ancestor of all extant Psittaciformes as well as all its extant and extinct descendants) are currently divided into the Australasian Cacatuidae and the Psittacidae (del Hoyo et al., 1997). Within the Psittacidae, COLLAR (1997) distinguished two subgroups, the Australasian Loriinae (Lories) and the Psittacinae. The latter include the New Zealandian Nestorini (Kea and Kaka) and Strigopini (Kakapo), the New Guinean Psittrichadini (Pesquet's parrot), the Australasian Platycercini (platycercine Parrots), Cyclopsittacini (Fig parrots), and Micropsittini (pygmyparrots), the Psittacini (Afrotropical parrots), the Psittaculini (psittaculine parrots), which occur in large parts of the Old World, and the Neotropic Arini (New World parrots).

Although a good fossil record exists for Eocene stem group representatives of the Psittaciformes (i.e. more basal taxa outside the crown group, see MAYR & DAN-IELS, 1998, MAYR, 2002), fossil crown group parrots still are very rare. Most Tertiary remains are from Miocene deposits of Europe. The first taxon described is *Archaeopsittacus verreauxi* from the Lower Miocene of France (MILNE-EDWARDS, 1867-1871), which is known from a complete tarsometatarsus and a few other referred bones, and which was tentatively referred to the Psittaculini by MLÍKOVSKÝ (1998). Also known from a tarsometatarsus is Xenopsitta fejfari, which was reported by MLÍKOVSKÝ (1998) from the Lower Miocene of the Czech Republic and which was considered by this author to be a member of the Psittacini. CHENEVAL (2000) described isolated bones, including an incomplete tarsometatarsus, of a parrot from the Middle Miocene of France which he referred to as Pararallus dispar (Milne-Edwards, 1869-71). According to MLÍKOVSKÝ (1998) this name is not available for the parrot remains that he (MLÍKOVSKÝ, 2002) instead listed as Psittacus lartetianus Milne-Edwards. 1872. However, the distal humerus selected by CRACRAFT (1973) as lectotype of *Pararallus dispar* is part of the syntypical series that includes the proximal tarsometatarsus selected by MLÍKOVSKÝ (2002) as lectoype of Psittacus lartetianus (contra MLÍKOVSKÝ 1998); a lectotype can only be changed by decision of the International Commission of Zoological Nomenclature (we thank C. Mourer-Chauviré for drawing our attention to this). HEIZMANN & HESSE (1995) further mentioned the presence of parrots in the Middle Miocene deposits of Steinheim in Germany.

Only a few Tertiary psittaciform taxa have been described from non-European localities. WETMORE (1926) assigned a humerus from the Miocene of Nebraska to a new species of the recently extinct taxon *Conuropsis*, and TONNI & NORIEGA (1996) described a well-preserved skull from the Pliocene of Argentina as a new species of the extant taxon *Nandayus*. From fossil deposits in Australia, BOLES (1993) described a rostrum of a Miocene

¹ Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, Sektion Ornithologie, Senckenberganlage 25, D-60325 Frankfurt am Main, Germany, e-mail : Gerald.Mayr@senckenberg.de

² Department für Umwelt- und Geowissenschaften, Sektion Paläontologie, Richard-Wagner-Str. 10, D-80333 München, Germany

cockatoo and, also from Australia, BOLES (1998) identified Pliocene remains of the budgerigar, *Melopsittacus undulatus*.

Here we describe a tarsometatarsus of a fossil parrot from the Middle Miocene (about 15-13.5 million years ago, see STEININGER, 1999) freshwater deposits of the Nördlinger Ries in Germany. The occurrence of parrots at this site was already noted by BALLMANN (1979, 1983) and HEIZMANN & HESSE (1995), but the specimens have remained undescribed until now. We further comment on the variation of hypotarsus morphology in some extant Psittaciformes.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Skeletons of the following representatives of the Psittaciformes in the collection of Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, the Staatssammlung für Anthropologie und Paläoanatomie München, and the collection of Jürgen Bosch (Seewald-Besenfeld, Germany) were examined : Cacatuidae : Cacatua (galerita, leadbeateri, moluccensis, sulphurea), Callocephalon fimbriatum, Eolophus roseicapillus, Nymphicus hollandicus, Probosciger aterrimus. Psittacidae : Loriinae : Chalcopsitta cardinalis, Charmosyna (papou, rubronotata, placentis), Eos (cyanogenia, histrio, reticulata), Lorius domicellus, Neopsittacus pullicauda, Oreopsittacus arfaki, Trichoglossus haematodus, Vini australis; Psittrichadini: Psittrichas fulgidus; Nestorini: Nestor notabilis; Strigopini: Strigops habroptilus; Cyclopsittacini: Cyclopsitta diophthalma, Psittaculirostris (desmarestii, edwardsii); Platycercini: Barnardius barnardi, Cyanoramphus novaezelandiae, Eunymphicus cornutus, Melopsittacus undulatus, Neophema (chrysogaster, elegans, pulchella, splendida), Neopsephotus bourkii, Northiella haematogaster, Platycercus (elegans, eximius, icterotis), Prosopeia tabuensis, Psephotus (chrysopterygius, haematonotus); Psittaculini : Agapornis (fischeri, lilianae, nigrigenis, personata, roseicollis), Alisterus (amboinensis, chloropterus, scapularis), Eclectus roratus, Loriculus stigmatus, Polytelis (alexandrae, anthopeplus, swainsonii), Prioniturus platurus, Psittacula (alexandri, cyanocephala, eupatria, himalayana), Psittinus cynanurus, Tanygnathus lucionensis; Psittacini : Coracopsis vasa, Poicephalus (cryptoxanthus, rufiventris, senegalus), Psittacus erithacus; Arini : Amazona (aestiva, amazonica, arausiaca, autumnalis, brasiliensis, festiva, imperialis, ochrocephala, pretrei, rhodocorvtha, versicolor. vinacea, vittata, xanthops), Anodorhynchus hyacinthinus, Ara (ararauna, chloroptera, macao, rubrogenys), Aratinga (acuticaudata, leucophthalmus, pertinax, solstitialis, wagleri, weddellii), Bolborhynchus lineola, Brotogeris (chrysopterus, cyanoptera, pyrrhopterus, versicolorus), Cyanoliseus patagonus, Diopsittaca nobilis, Enicognathus (ferrugineus, leptorhynchus), Forpus (coelestis, conspicillatus), Geoffroyus geoffroyi, Guarouba guarouba, Myiopsitta monachus, Nandayus nenday, Pionites melanocephalus, Pionus sordidus, Pyrrhura (cruentata, leucotis, perlata, picta).

Nomenclature and classification of the extant taxa follow ROWLEY (1997) and COLLAR (1997). Anatomical terminology follows BAUMEL & WITMER (1993) and VANDEN BERGE & ZWEERS (1993); measurements are in millimeters.

SYSTEMATIC PALEONTOLOGY

Psittaciformes Wagler, 1830 Bavaripsitta gen. n. (Figs. 1A-D, 2A)

Type species : Bavaripsitta ballmanni gen. et sp. n.

Etymology : The name is derived from *Bavaria* (Lat.) : bavaria, and *psitta*, a diminutive of *Psittacus*.

Differential diagnosis : The tarsometatarsus of *Bavaripsitta* gen. n. differs from the corresponding bone of :

- all Nestorini and Strigopini in being much smaller and in the presence of a well-developed medial foramen vasculare proximale.
- Psittrichadini in being much smaller and less stout; in *Psittrichas* the canals of the deep flexor tendons are further fused to form a single canal.
- all Cacatuidae, Arini, and Psittacini investigated in this study in being less stout and in the presence of a well developed medial foramen vasculare proximale. In many Arini the canals of the deep flexor tendons (i.e., those of musculus flexor digitorum longus and m. flex. hallucis longus) are further fused to form a single canal.
- -all Loriinae and Cyclopsittacini, all Platycercini included in this study except Neophema and Neopsephotus, some Psittaculini (Prioniturus, Agapornis, Loriculus), as well as Bolborhynchus (Arini) in the plesiomorphic morphology of the hypotarsus (see discussion and Figs. 1 and 3). In the derived (see discussion) condition present in the aforementioned taxa there is a large sulcus plantar to the canals of the deep flexor tendons, which confines the tendons of musculus flexor perforans digiti III and of the musculi flexores perforati digitorum III et IV (Figs. 3A-I); the tendon of musculus flexor perforatus digiti II is enclosed in a bony canal. The hypotarsus of the Loriinae and of Agapornis and Loriculus is further modified in that the canals of the deep flexor tendons are fused and the sulcus plantar thereof is closed to form a large canal (Figs. 3B, C, F).
- Neophema and Neopsephotus (Platycercini) in that the medial rim on the plantar surface of the trochlea metatarsi II is more pointed and medially protruding. In both extant taxa the medial foramen vasculare proximale is further strongly reduced and in Neopsephotus the trochlea metatarsi III protrudes much farther distally relative to the other trochleae.
- Micropsittini (of which only skins were available for comparison) in its much larger size. According to MLíK-OVSKÝ (1998: 338), the hypotarsus of *Micropsitta* exhibits the derived condition found in the Loriinae (see above) and thus differs from that of *Bavaripsitta* gen. n.
- all Psittaculini investigated in this study in the absence of a sulcus for the tendon of musculus flexor perforatus digiti II; it is also much smaller than all studied Psittaculini except Agapornis spp. and Loriculus spp. The trochlea metatarsi II of Bavaripsitta gen. n. is further not greatly enlarged and not strongly medially protruding as in Psittacula, Psittinus, Tanygnathus, Geoffroyus, and Eclectus (see Fig. 2F).



Fig. 1. – Tarsometatarsus of fossil parrots in comparison. (A-D) *Bavaripsitta ballmanni* gen. et sp. n. (holotype), (E, F) *Pararallus dispar* (Milne-Edwards, 1869) (reversed to appear to be from the left side), (G-I) *Xenopsitta fejfari* Mlíkovský, 1998 (reversed to appear to be from the left side, after MLÍKOVSKÝ, 1998), (J-M) *Archaeopsittacus verreauxi* (Milne-Edwards, 1871). A, J, proximal end in proximal view, B, E, G, K, plantar view, C, F, H, L, dorsal view, D, I, M, distal end in distal view. The arrow in B indicates the canal for musculus flexor hallucis longus, which in *Bavaripsitta* gen. n. is not closed plantarly over its entire length, the arrows in E point to the lateral (1) and medial (2) foramen vasculare proximale. The trochleae metatarsorum II-IV are indicated by Roman numerals.



Fig. 2. – Left tarsometatarsus of some psittaciform birds in comparison (plantar view). (A) *Bavaripsitta ball-manni* gen. et sp. n. (holotype), (B) *Neophema elegans* (Platycercini), (C) *Psephotus haematonotus* (Platycercini), (D) *Alisterus scapularis* (Psittaculini), (E) *Coracopsis vasa* (Psittacini), (F) *Tanygnathus lucionensis* (Psittaculini), (G) *Amazona xanthops* (Arini), (H) *Cacatua moluccensis* (Cacatuidae). The arrows indicate the large trochlea accessoria (1) which is a synapomorphy of crown-group Psittaciformes, and the trochlea metatarsi II (2) which is exceptionally large in *Psittacula*, *Psittinus*, *Tanygnathus*, *Geoffroyus*, and *Eclectus* (Psittaculini). Not to scale.

- the Lower Miocene Archaeopsittacus Milne-Edwards, 1871 and Xenopsitta Mlíkovský, 1998 in being much smaller, less stout, trochlea metatarsi II with medial rim on plantar surface more pointed and medially protruding; it further differs from Xenopsitta in the presence of a well-developed medial foramen vasculare proximale.
- the Middle Miocene taxon Pararallus dispar (CHE-NEVAL, 2000, contra MLIKOVSKÝ, 1998, 2002) in the proximo-distally shorter hypotarsus, the less medially protruding tuberositas musculi tibialis cranialis, and the fact that the canal for musculus flexor hallucis longus is not completely closed over its length.

Remarks: Our taxon sampling includes 57 of the 84 extant psittaciform genera recognized by ROWLEY (1997) and COLLAR (1997). Fourteen of the missing genera are Neotropic, and it is unlikely for biogeographic reasons that *Bavaripsitta* n. gen. is congeneric with one of these

taxa. Of the following 13 Old World taxa no skeletons were available for comparisons : *Calyptorhynchus* (Cacatuidae), *Pseudeos, Psitteuteles, Phigys, Glossopsitta* (Loriinae), *Micropsitta* (Micropsittini), *Bolbopsittacus* (Cylopsittacini), *Purpureicephalus, Lathamus, Pezoporus, Geopsittacus* (Platycercini), *Psittacella, Aprosmictus* (Psittaculini). All of these taxa occur either in Australia, New Guinea or on Southeast Asian islands and it is also not very likely that one is most closely related to a Miocene parrot from Germany.

Bavaripsitta ballmanni gen. et sp. n.

Holotype: Almost complete left tarsometatarsus, housed in the Bayerische Staatssammlung für Paläontologie und Geologie, München, collection number BSP 1970 XVIII 899 (Fig. 1A-D). Type locality and horizon : Steinberg in the Nördlinger Ries, Germany (see BALLMANN, 1979 and HEIZMANN & FAHLBUSCH, 1983 for information on the locality), Middle Miocene (stratigraphic unit MN6, see HEIZMANN & HESSE, 1995). The specimen is from a single block of travertine, which contained several thousand vertebrate remains and which probably represented a filling of a Karstic cavity in the Tertiary limnic sinter of Nördlinger Ries.

Etymology : The species has been named after Peter Ballmann in recognition of his work on the fossil birds from Nördlinger Ries. The specimens described here were picked out of the fossil material from Steinberg and first identified as parrots by him.

Diagnosis : Same as for genus.

Tentatively referred specimen: Distal end of right humerus from the same block of travertine as the holotype, housed in Bayerische Staatssammlung für Paläontologie und Geologie, München, collection number BSP 1970 XVIII 900.

Measurements (in mm) : Tarsometatarsus (holotype) : maximum length, 13.6, proximal width, 3.5, distal width, 4.2. Humerus (referred specimen BSP 1970 XVIII 900) : distal width 4.7.

Description and comparison: The holotypical tarsometatarsus is about the size of the corresponding bone of the extant Melopsittacus undulatus. In general shape and proportions it resembles the tarsometatarsus of extant Polytelis spp. (Psittaculini) and, apart from the plesiomorphic morphology of the hypotarsus (see below), many Platycercini (e.g. Neophema, Psephotus spp.). Many other extant Psittaciformes have a stouter tarsometatarsus with wider proximal and distal ends (Fig. 2, the relative squatness of the tarsometatarsus of parrots does not appear to be significantly related to allometric changes due to different body size). Compared to other fossil parrots, the tarsometatarsus of Bavaripsitta ballmanni gen. et sp. n. is most similar to that of Pararallus dispar (CHE-NEVAL, 2000), which differs, however, in the morphology of the hypotarsus (see differential diagnosis and Fig. 1B, E).

The impressiones retinaculi extensorii on the dorsal surface of the proximal end are distinct and border a marked sulcus as in most extant Psittaciformes. The tuberositas musculi tibialis cranialis is situated at the medial margin of the shaft. There are two foramina vascularia proximalia, whereas in many of the extant taxa investigated (e.g., *Psittacus, Poicephalus*, most Cacatuidae, Arini, and Platycercini), the medial foramen vasculare proximale is greatly reduced or completely absent.

The hypotarsus of *B. ballmanni* is proximo-distally short and encloses two canals for the tendons of musculus flexor digitorum longus and m. flexor hallucis longus. Unlike most extant Psittaciformes (Fig. 3), there is no well-developed sulcus/canal for the tendon of musculus flexor perforatus digiti II. The canal for musculus flexor hallucis longus is not closed plantarly over its entire length, as in extant *Neophema*, but unlike virtually all other modern parrots we examined. The hypotarsus of *B. ballmanni* lacks a deep sulcus or canal for the tendons of musculus flexor perforans digiti III and of the musculi flexores perforati digitorum III et IV, which is found in all extant Loriinae and Cyclopsittacini, all Platycercini included in this study except *Neophema* and *Neopsephotus*, some Psittaculini (*Prioniturus*, *Agapornis*, *Loriculus*), and *Bolborhynchus* (Arini) (see discussion).

At the distal end of the bone, the trochlea metatarsi II does not bear a well-developed sulcus, in contrast to, e.g., Melopsittacus or Alisterus. This trochlea is further not greatly enlarged and not strongly medially protruding as in the probably closely related (e.g. SMITH, 1975; HOMB-ERGER, 1980; CHRISTIDIS et al., 1991) extant taxa Psittacula, Psittinus, Tanygnathus, Geoffroyus, and Eclectus (Psittaculini, see Fig. 2F). As in all crown group Psittaciformes (see MAYR, 2002), the trochlea metatarsi III is slightly asymmetric with the lateral rim being smaller than the medial one. The rims are narrow and widely separated, delimiting a marked sulcus. The trochlea metatarsi IV bears a large trochlea accessoria, which exhibits the unmistakable highly derived morphology typical of crown group Psittaciformes (Fig. 2, see also MAYR, 2002). The trochlea accessoria does not reach farther distally than the trochlea metatarsi IV. The fossa metatarsi I is essentially situated on the plantar surface of the bone whereas it is located on the medial margin of the shaft in many extant Psittaciformes.

The tentatively referred humerus is slightly larger than the corresponding bone of the extant *Melopsittacus undulatus* and closely resembles the distal humerus of extant Psittaciformes, which is very similar in the members of this taxon.

DISCUSSION

Archaeopsittacus, Xenopsitta, and the new taxon Bavaripsitta show distinct differences in the morphology of the tarsometatarsus (Fig. 2) that indicate there already was a considerable diversity of parrots in the Miocene of the Old World. Unfortunately, assignment of these fossils to any of the modern taxa is hindered by the absence of diagnostic derived features in the known bones (mainly tarsometatarsi).

Almost certainly, a hypotarsal morphology as exemplified by *Archaeopsittacus* and *Bavaripsitta* (the hypotarsus of *Xenopsitta* is broken) is plesiomorphic within crown group Psittaciformes, i.e. only the deep flexor tendons (those of musculus flexor digitorum longus and m. flex. hallucis longus) are enclosed in bony canals and are well separated. With slight modifications, this type of hypotarsus (Fig. 3K) occurs in numerous unrelated psittaciform taxa (Fig. 3J-L) and can be derived from the condition in fossil stem group Psittaciformes in which the hypotarsus bears two sulci for the deep flexor tendons (MAYR & DANIELS, 1998 : text-fig. 5, MAYR, 2002 : fig. 6).

Surprisingly, although there are many comparative studies on parrot morphology (e.g., VERHEYEN, 1956; BRERETON, 1963; HOLYOAK, 1973; SMITH, 1975; HOMB-ERGER, 1980; GÜNTERT, 1981), the striking variation in the structure of the hypotarsus received virtually no attention. MLÍKOVSKÝ (1998 : 338) appears to be the first to have briefly mentioned hypotarsal variation in some Psittaciformes, but his description is not very detailed and contains some inaccuracies (for example, he erroneously



Fig. 3. – Different types of hypotarsi of extant parrots in comparison (left tarsometatarsus). (A) *Melopsittacus undulatus* (Platycercini), (B) *Loriculus stigmatus* (Psittaculini), (C) *Oreopsittacus arfaki* (Loriinae), (D) *Bolborhynchus lineola* (Arini), (E) *Platycercus elegans* (Platycercini), (F) *Eos reticulata* (Loriinae), (G) *Prioniturus platurus* (Psittaculini), (H) *Psephotus haematonotus* (Platycercini), (I) *Psittaculirostris desmarestii* (Cyclopsittacini), (J) *Neophema elegans* (Platycercini), (K) *Pionus sordidus* (Arini), (L) *Enicognathus leptorhynchus* (Arini). Not to scale; the dashed lines indicate non-ossified membranes. The numerals indicate the canals and grooves for the tendons of : 1 - musculus flexor hallucis longus, 2 - m. flex. digitorum longus, 3 - m. flex. perforatus digiti II, 4 m. flex. perforans et perforatus digiti II, 5 - m. flex. perforans digiti III and musculi flexores perforati digitorum III et IV.

considered the hypotarsus of *Nymphicus*, *Psittrichas*, and New World parrots to be similar to that of the Loriinae).

Well characterized by a derived hypotarsal morphology are the Loriinae (Figs. 3C, F) and Cylopsittacini (Fig. 3I). In these taxa, the canals for the deep flexor tendons (m. flexor hallucis and m. flexor digitorum) are fused, and the superficial tendons are situated in a canal (Loriinae) or in a nearly closed, deep sulcus (Cyclopsittacini).

A hypotarsal morphology identical to that of the Loriinae is also found in *Agapornis* and *Loriculus* (Fig. 3 B) and may support a close relationship between these two taxa that are currently (e.g., COLLAR, 1997) classified into the Psittaculini (pro, e.g., BRERETON, 1963; contra, e.g., HOMBERGER, 1980).

Within the Platycercini, a derived hypotarsal morphology in which the tendons of musculus flexor perforans digiti III and musculi flexores perforati digitorum III et IV are situated in a deep sulcus (Fig. 3 E, H) is found in the genera *Psephotus, Eunymphicus, Cyanoramphus, Northiella, Prosopeia, Barnardius, Platycercus* and supports monophyly of these taxa (pro, e.g., RENZONI & WATTERS, 1972; HOLYOAK, 1973; HOMBERGER, 1980, 1991; contra, e.g., BRERETON, 1963 [who included *Prosopeia* in the Psittacuini]; SMITH, 1975 [who included *Prosopeia* in the Psittaculini]; CHRISTIDIS et al., 1991; MIYAKI et al., 1998). A slightly modified, similar hypotarsus is also found in *Melopsittacus* (Fig. 3A) and supports inclusion of this taxon into the Platycercini (pro, e.g., RENZONI & WATTERS, 1972; HOLYOAK, 1973; HOMBERGER, 1980; COLLAR, 1997; contra, e.g., CHRISTIDIS et al., 1991; MIYAKI et al., 1998). *Neophema* (Fig. 3J) and *Neopsephotus*, however, which are generally also classified in the Platycercini (e.g., SMITH, 1975; GÜNTERT, 1980; HOMB-ERGER, 1980; COLLAR, 1997) exhibit the presumably plesiomorphic (see above) morphology of the hypotarsus.

Although *B. ballmanni* is clearly distinguished from all other known psittaciform taxa (see differential diagnosis), because of the absence of diagnostic derived characters it cannot be reliably assigned to any of the extant psittaciform taxa. Hypotarsal morphology clearly prevents classification of the fossil taxon into the Loriinae, Cyclopsittacini, and Platycercini except *Neophema* and *Neopsephotus*. However, being plesiomorphic it does not give positive clues on the phylogenetic affinities of this taxon. A closer relationship between *Bavaripsitta* and the Neotropic Arini or Australian Cacatuidae is not supported by the morphology of the tarsometatarsus and also not very likely for biogeographic reasons. As detailed in the differential diagnosis, Bavaripsitta is further distinguished from any of the extant African (Psittacus, Poicephalus, Agapornis, Psittacula) or continental Eurasian (Psittacula, Loriculus) psittaciform taxa. Apart from being smaller and slightly more slender, in its overall shape and morphology, the tarsometatarsus of B. ballmanni most closely resembles that of Polytelis and Alisterus (Psittaculini - as noted above, in the other studied taxa of the Psittaculini the trochlea metatarsi II is greatly enlarged). However, these similarities (relatively slender tarsometatarsus, morphology of the hypotarsus and the distal end of the bone) may well be plesiomorphic within crown group Psittaciformes, as the tarsometatarsus of Bavaripsitta for example also exhibits similar proportions to that of Eocene stem group representatives of the Psittaciformes (see MAYR & DANIELS, 1998; MAYR, 2002).

Assignment of *Archaeopsittacus* to the Psittaculini (MLíKOVSKÝ, 1998) was also based on plesiomorphic characters, i.e. the presence of the medial foramen vasculare proximale and the similar morphology of the hypotarsus. Although the tarsometatarsus of *Archaeopsittacus* does resemble that of some extant Psittaculini (compare Figs. 1K and 2D), the phylogenetic position of this taxon needs to be substantiated with derived characters as it is conceivable that certain Psittaculini (*Polytelis* and *Alisterus*) retained a primitive tarsometatarsal morphology. Apart from a smaller trochlea metatarsi II, the tarsometatarsus of *Archaeopsittacus* for example also resembles that of the Madagascan *Coracopsis* (Fig. 2E).

Assignment of Xenopsitta to the Psittacini (MLÍKO-VSKÝ, 1998) which include the African genera Coracopsis, Poicephalus, and Psittacus was based on the "general shape" of the bone and on the absence of the medial foramen vasculare proximale (which is also reduced in Psittacus and Poicephalus but present in Coracopsis). As far as comparable, the incomplete tarsometatarsus of Xenopsitta indeed resembles the corresponding bone of Psittacus and a close relationship to some of the African parrots would also not be unlikely for biogeographic reasons. However, at least judging from the illustration in MLÍKOVSKÝ (1998), the tarsometatarsus of Xenopsitta also appears to have a similar shape to that of, e.g. Tanygnathus, Amazona, or Cacatua (compare Figs. 1 and 2) and the medial foramen vasculare proximale is reduced in many unrelated taxa of modern Psittacidae (see above).

Knowing the exact systematic position of the European psittaciform taxa unquestionably would be of great interest concerning the biogeography and early evolution of parrots. However, due to our incomplete understanding of the relationship between the extant taxa and the limited fossil material available, we do not consider it possible to reliably assign either *Bavaripsitta*, *Xenopsitta*, or *Archaeopsittacus* to any taxon of modern parrots. Just because of its great implications such an assignment needs to be based on well-defined derived characters, such as the modifications of the hypotarsus described in this study, rather than on overall morphology and general shape of few bones.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are indebted to J. Bosch (Seewald-Besenfeld, Germany) for providing us with unpublished information on the homology of tendinal canals in the hypotarsus which he verified against spirit specimens and for comments on the manuscript. We thank the Bayerische Staatssammlung für Paläontologie und Geologie München and V. Fahlbusch (Department für Geo- und Umweltwissenschaften München, Sektion Paläontologie) for placing the specimens described in this study at our disposal. We further thank H. Manhart (Staatssammlung für Anthropologie und Paläoanatomie München) for the loan of skeletons of modern Psittaciformes and C. Mourer-Chauviré (Université Claude Bernard-Lyon 1) for reviewing the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- BALLMANN, P. (1979). Fossile Glareolidae aus dem Miozän des Nördlinger Ries (Aves : Charadriiformes). Bonner zool. Beitr., 30 : 51-101.
- BALLMANN, P. (1983). A new species of fossil barbet (Aves : Piciformes) from the late Miocene of the Nördlinger Ries (Southern Germany). J. Vert. Paleontol., 3 : 43-48.
- BAUMEL, J.J. & L.M. WITMER (1993). Osteologia. In: J.J. BAUMEL, A.S. KING, J.E. BREAZILE, H.E. EVANS & J.C. VANDEN BERGE (Eds), Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. Publ. Nuttall Ornithol. Club, 23: 45-132.
- BOLES, W.E. (1993). A new cockatoo (Psittaciformes : Cacatuidae) from the Tertiary of Riversleigh, northwestern Queensland, and an evaluation of rostral characters in the systematics of parrots. *Ibis*, 135 : 8-18.
- BOLES, W.E. (1998). A Budgerigar *Melopsittacus undulatus* from the Pliocene of Riversleigh, North-western Queensland. *Emu*, 98 : 32-35.
- BRERETON, J.L. (1963). Evolution within the Psittaciformes. Proc. XIII Intern. Ornithol. Congr.: 499-517.
- CHENEVAL, J. (2000). L'avifaune de Sansan. In : L. GINSBURG (Ed), La faune miocène de Sansan et son environnement. Mém. Mus. nat. Hist. natur., 183 : 321-388.
- CHRISTIDIS, L., R. SCHODDE, D.D. SHAW & S.F. MAYNES (1991). Relationships among the Australo-Papuan parrots, lorikeets, and cockatoos (Aves : Psittaciformes) : Protein evidence. *Condor*, 93 : 302-317.
- COLLAR, N.J. (1997). Family Psittacidae (Parrots). In : J. DEL HOYO, A. ELLIOTT & J. SARGATAL (Eds), *Handbook of the Birds of the World, vol. 4*, Lynx Edicions, Barcelona : 280-477.
- CRACRAFT, J. (1973). Systematics and evolution of the Gruiformes (Class Aves). 3. Phylogeny of the suborder Grues. *Bull. Am. Mus. Nat. Hist.*, 151 : 1-127.
- DEL HOYO J., A. ELLIOTT & J. SARGATAL (1997, Eds.): *Handbook of the Birds of the World, vol. 4.* Lynx Edicions, Barcelona.
- GÜNTERT, M. (1981). Morphologische Untersuchungen zur adaptiven Radiation des Verdauungstraktes bei Papageien (Psittaci). *Zool. Jb. Anat.*, 106 : 471-526.
- HEIZMANN, E.P.J. & V. FAHLBUSCH (1983). Die mittelmiozäne Wirbeltierfauna vom Steinberg (Nördlinger Ries). Eine Übersicht. Mitt. Bayer. Staatsslg. Pal. hist. Geol., 23: 83-93.
- HEIZMANN, E.P.J. & A. HESSE (1995). Die mittelmiozänen Vogel- und Säugetierfaunen des Nördlinger Ries (MN6) und des Steinheimer Beckens (MN7) - ein Vergleich. *Cour. For*sch.-Inst. Senckenberg, 181 : 171-185.

- HOLYOAK, D.T. (1973). Comments on taxonomy and relationships in the parrot subfamilies Nestorinae, Loriinae, and Platycercinae. *Emu*, 73 : 157-176.
- HOMBERGER, D. (1980). Funktionell-morphologische Untersuchungen zur Radiation der Ernährungs- und Trinkmethoden der Papageien (Psittaci). *Bonner zool. Monograph.*, 13 : 1-192.
- HOMBERGER, D. (1991). The evolutionary history of parrots and cockatoos: a model for evolution in the Australasian avifauna. In: B.D. BELL, R.O. COSSEE, J.E.C. FLUX, B.D. HEATHER, R.A. HITCHMOUGH, C.J.R. ROBERTSON & M.J. WILLIAMS (Eds), *Acta XX congressus internationalis ornithologici*, New Zealand Ornithological Trust Board, Christchurch: 398-403.
- MAYR, G. (2002). On the osteology and phylogenetic affinities of the Pseudasturidae - Lower Eocene stem-group representatives of parrots (Aves, Psittaciformes). *Zool. J. Linn. Soc.*, 136 : 715-729.
- MAYR, G. & M. DANIELS (1998). Eocene parrots from Messel (Hessen, Germany) and the London Clay of Walton-on-the-Naze (Essex, England). *Senck. leth.*, 78 : 157-177.
- MILNE-EDWARDS, A. (1867-1871). Recherches anatomiques et paléontologiques pour servir à l'histoire des oiseaux fossiles de la France. Victor Masson et fils, Paris.
- MIYAKI, C.Y., S.R. MATIOLI, T. BURKE & A. WAJNTAL (1998). Parrot Evolution and Paleogeographical Events : Mitochondrial DNA Evidence. *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, 15 : 544-551.
- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (1998). A new parrot (Aves : Psittacidae) from the early Miocene of the Czech Republic. *Acta Soc. Zool. Bohem.*, 62 : 335-341.

- MLIKOVSKÝ, J. (2002). Cenozoic birds of the world. Part 1: Europe. Ninox Press, Praha.
- RENZONI, A. & P.A. WATTERS (1972). Comparative observations on the pineal body of some Australian parrots. *Aust. J. Zool.*, 20 : 1-15.
- ROWLEY, I. (1997). Family Cacatuidae (Cockatoos). In : J. DEL HOYO, A. ELLIOTT & J. SARGATAL (Eds), *Handbook of the Birds of the World, vol. 4*, Lynx Edicions, Barcelona : 246-279.
- SMITH, G. (1975). Systematics of parrots. Ibis, 116: 18-68.
- STEININGER, F.F. (1999). Chronostratigraphy, geochronology and Biochronology of the Miocene "European Land Mammal Mega-Zones" (ELMMZ) and the Miocene "Mammal-Zones (MN-Zones)". In : Rössner, G. & HEISSIG, K. (Eds), *The Miocene Land Mammals of Europe*, Pfeil, München : 9-24.
- TONNI, E.P. & J. NORIEGA (1996). Una nueva especies de Nandayus Bonaparte, 1854 (Aves : Psittaciformes) del Plioceno tardío de Argentinia. Rev. Chil. Hist. Nat., 69 : 97-104.
- VANDEN BERGE, J.C. & G.A. ZWEERS (1993). Myologia. In : J.J. BAUMEL, A.S. KING, J.E. BREAZILE, H.E. EVANS & J.C. VANDEN BERGE (Eds), Handbook of avian anatomy: Nomina Anatomica Avium. Publ. Nuttall Ornithol. Club, 23 : 189-247.
- VERHEYEN, R. (1956). Analyse du potentiel morphologique et projet d'une nouvelle classification des Psittaciformes. Bull. Inst. Roy. Sci. Nat. Belg., 32 (55): 1-54.
- WETMORE, A. (1926). Descriptions of additional fossil birds from the Miocene of Nebraska. *Am. Mus. Novit.*, 211 : 1-5.

Received : July 7, 2003 Accepted : October 27, 2003

Intra and inter-specific mating options for gynogenetic reproduction of *Carassius gibelio* (Bloch, 1783) in Lake Pamvotis (NW Greece)

Ioannis Paschos¹, Cosmas Nathanailides¹, Miranta Tsoumani¹, Costas Perdikaris¹, Evangelia Gouva¹ and Ioannis Leonardos²

² Dept Biological Applications and Technologies, University of Ioannina, 45110, Greece

Corresponding author : Cosmas Nathanailides, email : cosmasfax@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT. Gibel carp *Carassius gibelio* exhibits gynogenetic reproduction by utilising the sperm of other species. Over a period of twelve months, the spawning behaviour of gibel carp in Lake Pamvotis (NW Greece) was monitored. Females almost exclusively (97.7%) composed the population, indicating gynogenesis using the sperm of other species. Reproduction began in March and lasted through April. Contrary to the situation reported in other ecosystems, common carp was not present in the spawning grounds during the spawning season of gibel carp; the most abundant other species present at that time was *Rutilus ylikiensis*. To evaluate the sperm donating results of *R. ylikiensis* as compared with other species of the lake, eggs of gibel carp were fertilised with sperm of *R. ylikiensis* (group 1), *Carassius auratus* (group 2), and *Cyprinus carpio* (group 3). Also, gibel carp eggs attached to natural substrates were collected from the spawning grounds (group 4). Hatching success ranged from 9-29% in group 4, compared to 95-98% in groups 1, 2 and 3. Over a period of 60 days after hatching, mortality ranged from 35% (group 1) to 56% (group 3), and specific growth rate from 2.4% (group 3) to 2.9% (group 1). We conclude that gibel carp can successfully utilise sperm of ylikiensis roach, which was the best available sperm donor option for the gynogenetically reproducing gibel carp of the lake.

KEY WORDS : gynogenesis, reproduction, fish.

INTRODUCTION

Carrasius gibelio (Bloch, 1783) can survive and thrive under adverse environmental conditions where other species rarely succeed (MUUS & DAHLSTROM, 1999; HOLCIK, 1980). As a consequence, it is widely distributed and flourishing from Europe, including Greece (ECONOMIDIS, 1991; KOTTELAT, 1997), to the Japanese Islands.

In Greek lakes, gibel carp exhibits rapid growth during the first years of its life and reaches maturity in the second year of its life (LEONARDOS et al., 2001). Recently, a rapid increase in the commercial catch of gibel carp in Pamvotis lake NW Greece has been observed (PASCHOS et al., 2002). Gibel carp became abundant in Lake Pamvotis in the early 1980's. Since then, it gradually increased in numbers and is currently the dominating species in fisheries landings, while landings of species of commercial interest such as common carp, eel and the indigenous south European minnow *Phoxinellus epiroticus* have declined (PERDIKARIS et al., 2003).

According to ECONOMIDIS et al. (2000), the indigenous species of the Lake are : Anguilla anguilla (Linnaeus, 1758), Leuciscus cephalus (Linnaeus, 1758), Tinca tinca (Linnaeus, 1758), Pseudophoxinus stymphalicus (Valenciennes, 1844), Phoxinellus epiroticus (Steindachner, 1895), Economidichthys pygmaeus (Holly, 1929), Cobitis hellenica (Economidis, 1991), Rutilus ylikiensis (Stephanidis, 1939) and Barbus albanicus (Steindachner, 1870). The introduced species are : Carassius gibelio (Bloch, 1783), Carassius auratus (Bloch, 1783), Cyprinus carpio (Linnaeus, 1758), Silurus aristotelis (Agassiz, 1856), Silurus glanis (Linnaeus, 1758), Gambusia affinis (Baird and Girard, 1854), Hypophthalmichthys molitrix (Val. 1844), Ctenopharyngodon idella (Cuvier and Valenciennes 1844), Aristichthys nobilis (Richardson 1845),

It is not clear which factors have contributed to this thriving of the gibel carp population in the lake, but in similar ecosystems environmental degradation and decreased density of predating species have been identified as important causes (HOLCIK, 1980).

Interestingly, gibel carp is one of the few fish species with stocks composed almost exclusively of females, reproducing gynogenetically using the sperm of other species (RIEHL & BAENSCH, 1991; ZHOU et al., 2000). Gynogenetic reproduction has some potential benefits : it allows the biomass of a population to be composed mainly of females, and available ecological resources can be used solely for egg production.

Shallow water and low vegetation characterise the spawning grounds of cyprinid fishes. In similar lake ecosystems, gibel carp and other species utilise the same spawning grounds. This is because of the availability of substrates and oxygen for the eggs, and increased microinvertebrate densities, which contribute to the survival of

¹ Department of Aquaculture and Fisheries, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, Epirus Institute of Technological Educational, Igoumenitsa 46100, Greece

early life stages and enhance recruitment. In a recent pilot study, it became evident that the gibel carp population in Lake Pamvotis is composed mainly of females, and that *Rutilus ylikiensis* was abundant in the spawning grounds of gibel carp, (PASCHOS et al., 2001).

The purpose of the present work was to determine the relative densities of potential sperm-donating fish species in the spawning habitat of gibel carp in Lake Pamvotis. Subsequently, this information was used for experimental evaluation of gynogenetic reproduction and for assessing the degree of potential "sexual parasitism" of gibel carp in Lake Pamvotis.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

This study was carried out in Lake Pamvotis NW Greece (Fig. 1), which is a natural, eutrophic, holomictic lake. It is relatively shallow (mean depth about 4 meters and maximum depth not exceeding 8 meters) with a total area of 355 km², and is thermally stratified from April to August (KAGALOU et al, 2001).



Fig. 1. – Map of Pamvotis Lake. Sampling sites (St.1 St.2, St.3) of gill nets (squares) and locality of spawning grounds (circles).

Typical spawning grounds of gibel carp and other members of the Cyprinidae family are characterised by shallow depth and the presence of vegetation (VARLEY 1967; LAGLER 1972; MUUS & DAHLSTROM 1999). To monitor the spawning migration of gibel carp and identify the species that can act as sperm donors for female gibel carp, sampling was, therefore, carried out from January 1999 to January 2001, using gillnets (100m long, mesh size 40-50 mm) positioned at 100 meters away from the shallows and parallel to the shoreline of three separate spawning locations (Fig. 1). Stationary fishing traps (fyke-nets, mesh size 30mm) were also placed in typical shallow spawning grounds of the species with depth from 0.5 m to 1m. Temperature was monitored throughout the period of study using max-min thermometers.

Determination of the spawning period was based on monitoring of the catches in the shallows and examination of the gonadosomatic index (GSI = GW*100/NW,

where GW is the gonad weight, NW is the eviscerated weight), staging of gonadal development according to Kesteven's scale (BAGENAL, 1978), and finally by the degree of pressure required to obtain eggs from captured females. Condition factor (K) was calculated according to the following equation $K = (BW/L^3) \times 100$, where BW is the eviscerated weight, L is total length.

In addition to the gill and fyke nets, electrofishing was carried out in the shallows when, for the first time, gibel carp was found in the shallows exhibiting typical spawning behaviour of Cyprinidae (MICHAELS, 1988). All individuals of other species present in the shallows during the spawning of gibel carp were thus captured with electrofishing or fyke nets.

When spawning of gibel carp became evident, ten pieces of natural substrate (branches, leaves, vegetation, rough dimensions trimmed to 0.5×0.4 m) with eggs were collected randomly from the three different sampling sites of gibel carp spawning grounds. These were taken to the lab and placed in aquariums ($0.9 \times 0.6 \times 0.5$ m) supplied with Lake Water. From each substrate and group, 100 larvae were collected and placed in four trays ($1.0 \times 0.25 \times 0.25$ m).

In addition, eggs from three sexually mature female gibel carp were fertilised with sperm from three male goldfish *Carassius auratus*, three ylikiensis roach, *Rutilus ylikiensis*, and three carp *Cyprinus carpio*. From each cross, a total number of 2000 eggs were placed in incubators (zugars having total volume 7lt). The rate of embryonic development, hatching percentage and growth rate were monitored for a period of 60 days for each group.

All fish were kept according to standardised procedures (HORVATH et al., 1984). Initially, food was solely zooplankton, collected daily from the lake. From the 20th day, dry trout food was provided (DABROWSKI et al., 1986; KAUSHIK 1986). Feeding was *ad libitum* in all groups. Mortality, length and growth rates were monitored every 20 days, for a period of two months after hatching. Specific growth rate (SGR) was calculated according to the following equation SGR = LnBW₂-LnBW₁ days⁻¹, where BW1 is the initial body weight and BW2 is body weight after 20 days of rearing.

RESULTS

Catch Data

In total 598 gibel carp individuals were captured over the period of the study : 392 in gillnets and 206 in fykenets. The largest portion of the annual gibel carp catch with gillnets, was in March (19.9%). With the exception of November, December and January, when fishing was fruitless, about 10% of the total annual catch was taken in each other month. In fyke nets, gibel carp catches occurred only during March and April, with 42% and 58% of the total catch each month, respectively (Fig. 2). Females comprised 97.7% of all gibel carp captured in the spawning grounds. Over the period of the study, temperature ranged between 7°C and 27°C. Peak capture of gibel carp, with gill and fyke nets, coincided with temperatures above 12°C (Fig. 2). Mean total length of captured females was 28.06 cm (min 13.2, max 35.5 cm), mean body weight was 464.9 g (min 88.5, max 894 g) and condition factor was 0.93 (\pm 0.17). The gonadosomatic index of the female fish was 12.6 and the fish were in the last stage of sexual maturation. Initially the larger fish spawned, and smaller individuals followed.



Fig. 2. – Catch data of gibel carp from Lake Pamvotis, over a period of 12 months. Number of fish caught in the spawning grounds (squares) and at 100 meters away from the shoreline (triangles), and water temperature in the shallow region of the lake (circles).

Catch data of other species in the spawning grounds

During March and April, when gibel carp spawned in the shallows, 206 fish were captured in the three sampling sites. In all sampling sites, gibel carp and ylikiensis roach were always present. All individuals of other species captured in the shallows were found to be sexually mature and the majority readily released their gametes. Gibel carp (89%), followed by ylikiensis roach (10.5 %) exhibited the highest relative abundance. The captured ylikiensis roach comprised sexually mature males (26%) and females (37%), and the rest were not sexually mature. During electrofishing operations in the shallows, *R. ylikiensis* males and females were caught in the act of mating and spawning, while simultaneously gibel carp females were observed to release their eggs.

Hatching percentage of eggs from natural substrate, under hatchery conditions

The number of eggs ranged from 118-1520 per substrate collected from the spawning grounds. Hatching occurred in all groups after three days at 14°C, and the number of larvae ranged from 58-380. Hatching coefficient varied between samples from 7.2-29% ($x^2=203$, DF=9, P<0.01).

Artificial fertilisation of gibel carp eggs with sperm of other species

Viable larvae were obtained from gibel eggs fertilised with sperm from the ylikiensis roach (CrXR), goldfish (CrXG) and common carp (CrXC). Hatching occurred after three days at 14°C in all groups. Hatching coefficient ranged from 95-98% (Table 1) and there was no significant difference between the crosses in terms of hatching coefficient (Chi-square test, x^2 =0.024, DF=2, P>0.05).

Rearing of fish

Fish from the three groups of crosses (CrXR; CrXG; CrXC) and from the natural substrates exhibited similar mortality (Table 2, $x^2=5.38$, DF=3, P>0.05), but the cross between gibel carp and ylikiensis roach exhibited the lowest mortality of all. The specific growth rate was similar in all groups (Table 2, $x^2=0.058$, DF=3, P>0.05).

TABLE 1	
---------	--

Hatching performance of the crosses

Group	Hatching (days)	Hatching (%)
C.gibelio X R. ylikiensis	3	98
C.gibelio X C. carpio	3	97
C.gibelio X C. auratus	3	95
<i>C.gibelio</i> Embryos from natural substrates	3	18

TABLE 2

Specific growth rate and cumulative mortality (M) of the reared fish at 20, 40 and 60 days after hatching

Days After 1st feeding	20		40		60	
GROUP	SGR%	M%	SGR%	M%	SGR%	M%
C.gibelio X R. ylikiensis C.gibelio X C. carpio C.gibelio X C. auratus C. gibelio from the lake	2.4% 2.4% 2.2% 1.4%	19% 30% 21% 18%	3.4% 2.4% 3.2% 3.6%	25% 44% 31% 33%	2.9% 2.4% 2.7% 2.5%	35% 56% 41% 47%

DISCUSSION

Spawning activity of gibel carp in Lake Pamvotis peaked during March and April. Peak capture of gibel carp with gill nets, positioned parallel to the shoreline of the spawning sampling sites, occurred during March. In spawning grounds, gibel carp were captured only during March and April. (Fig. 2). During March and April, sexually mature gibel carp exhibiting typical spawning behaviour of Cyprinidae were captured with electro-fishing, as well as with the fyke nets,

The field data indicate that spawning of gibel carp and ylikiensis roach coincided. Female gibel carp caught with gillnets during March were probably migrating towards the shallow spawning grounds. Both gibel carp and ylikienesis roach captures in the shallows (with fyke nets and electrofishing) peaked during March and April. In fact ylikiensis roach was the most abundant other species present in the spawning grounds of gibel carp. In these typical shallow spawning grounds for cyprinidae species, gibel carp were caught in the act of releasing their eggs during the spawning of ylikiensis roach.

Timing of spawning is a significant element of the reproductive strategy of all fish species. According to the field data (catch in the shallows), the spawning period of gibel carp and ylikiensis roach overlap. This period is also a period of spawning for Epirus minnow, an endemic fish species that is on the verge of extinction in the Lake (PER-DIKARIS et al., 2003). It can be assumed that these three mentioned fish species of the lake have the same timing strategy for spawning.

Optimal conditions for hatching and growth of larvae early in the season are very important for survival and recruitment. For example, temperature and food abundance can significantly influence survival during early life stages of development (HEGGBERGET, 1988; HUTCHINGS, 1991). Initiation of spawning activity of gibel carp in the lake coincided with a critical increase of temperature from 7°C in February to 13°C in March; 13°C appears to be on the low edge of the thermal limit of goldfish embryonic development (WIEGAND et al., 1989). Successful reproductive investment and recruitment of young fish are largely influenced by environmental conditions in the nursery grounds. The timing of spawning may enhance gibel carp larval viability and growth through the increased temperature and primary and secondary productivity that is evident at the beginning of spring in the lake (KAGALOU et al., 2001). Gibel carp exhibits rapid growth and development under favourable thermal conditions. For example gibel carp in Lake Lysimachia, a neighbouring Lake in West Greece, reach 41.2% of the maximum length exhibited by the population, within the first year of life (LEONARDOS et al., 2001).

There was some evidence of temperature related spawning migration of gibel carp in the lake. Gibel carp distribution in the shallows peaked during March and April, associated with temperature ranging from 12-14°C. At this stage individuals were sexually mature and exhibited spawning behaviour. According to the catch data from the deeper parts of the lake, when temperature was below 12°C or above 16°C, gibel carp moved towards the deeper parts of the lake and returned to the shallows when temperature was between 12 and 16°C (Fig. 2). This is in agreement with information collected from local fishermen about seasonal distribution of the species in the lake.

Contrary to the situation seen in other ecosystems (MUUS & DAHLSTROM 1999), we found no evidence in Lake Pamvotis that common carp was present on the spawning ground of gibel carp. Common carp was found to be present in the shallows during May, with water temperature between 16 and 18 °C, but by this time gibel carp had released their eggs and were absent from the spawning grounds.

The laboratory results indicate lack of paternal effects on the gynogenetically reproduced gibel carp fry. Irrespective of sperm origin (goldfish, common carp or ylikiensis roach), post-hatch growth and survival were similar. In the same manner, growth and survival did not vary between fish originating from eggs collected in situ or eggs artificially fertilised in the laboratory (Table 2). This contrasts with some paternal effects observed in gibel carp crosses (Zou et al., 2001).

Under the controlled conditions and procedures of artificial egg fertilisation and incubation (mixing of eggs and sperm, eggs treated to became non sticky, optimum incubation conditions) the fertilisation ability of sperm and embryonic viability may be increased compared to natural reproduction and incubation conditions (HORVATH et al., 1984). This may partially explain the fact that hatching rate did not vary significantly (P>0.05) between the artificially produced crosses, whereas between different egg substrates collected from the spawning grounds, hatching rate ranged from 7.2-29% and varied significantly (P<0.01).

The small percentage (2.3%) of male gibel carp captured during spawning indicates that, in addition to gynogenetic reproduction, bisexual reproduction is to some extent an option for the Pamvotis gibel carp. Nevertheless, the population was almost exclusively composed of females. Gynogenetic reproduction appears to be the main mode of reproduction for gibel carp in the lake. This is in agreement with reports about other aquatic ecosystems (MIGDALSKI & FICHTER 1976; RIEHL & BAENSCH, 1991; ZHOU et al., 2000).

Ylikiensis roach can contribute significantly to the gynogenetic reproduction of gibel carp in the lake. Based on the laboratory data, it can be concluded that gibel carp can potentially utilise the sperm of ylikiensis roach, which according to the field data, was the most obvious sperm donor. In fact, the results of the artificial fertilization indicate that ylikiensis roach was equally as good as the sperm of common carp or goldfish. Furthermore, based on the relative abundance data collected in the field, it can be concluded that ylikiensis roach was at least statistically the most obvious potential sperm donor for gynogenetic reproduction of gibel carp in lake Pamvotis. To our knowledge this is the first record of gynogenetic reproduction between these two fish species, and contrasts with the situation reported from other lakes, where common carp (C. carpio) is the principal sperm donor.

The prospects for restricting the population of gibel carp in the lake are limited. Larvae exhibit high viability and the species is almost exclusively composed of females, which grow rapidly and spawn massively. During the last five years fisheries landings of gibel carp tripled while fisheries landings of other species were significantly reduced (PERDIKARIS et al., 2003).

Considering the energetic cost of sperm production in small fish such as the ylikiensis roach, it could be argued that any sexual parasitism of gibel carp on ylikiensis roach may have limited but negative consequences for the donating species. The male fish of roach species arrive first in the spawning ground and await the arrival of the female, when mating play is initiated and spawning takes place (MUUS & DAHLSTROM, 1999). Field observations indicate that gibel carp waits for the mating of ylikiensis roach to occur for releasing its eggs on the spawning grounds. It is, therefore, possible that some sperm of ylikiensis roach is lost because of the sexual parasitism of gibel carp, but further field work would be necessary to verify this hypothesis.

Gynogentic reproduction may have contributed to the increased gibel carp population in the lake. Nevertheless, population size is a complex product of birth, recruitment, natural and fishing mortality, carrying capacity, ability to compete for food, ecophysiological fitness or adaptation, and environmental conditions. At least two factors contribute to the thriving of the gibel carp population in the lake. One factor is the tolerance to environmental degradation (for example, reports emerged recently in local newspapers, about pollution of the lake that occurred on several occasions as a result of an overflow of the sewage pipelines of Ioannina city). Another factor is reduction in abundance of predating species (PERDIKARIS et al., 2003) or reduced competition for food from other species (HOL-CIK & ZITMAN, 1978).

The thriving of gibel carp populations is further supported by its ability to survive in adverse environmental conditions (HOLCIK & ZITMAN 1978; HOLCIK, 1980). For example gibel carp fry originating from gynogenetic reproduction with sperm of *R. ylikiensis*, exhibited specific growth rates of 3.14% and 0.91% at NH₃ concentration 0.51 mg/lt and 8 mg/lt respectively (NATHANAILIDES et al., 2003).

In conclusion, gibel carp females have little opportunity for mating with gibel carp males. Ylikiensis roach is the best available sperm donor option for the gynogenetically reproducing gibel carp of the lake.

As to the loss of biodiversity by the expansion of the gibel carp population, as is the case with other aquatic ecosystems (HOLCIK & ZITMAN, 1978; HOLCIK, 1980), a combination of biological and environmental factors appears to be responsible for the thriving of gibel carp in Lake Pamvotis. It would be reasonable to take action to improve ecological conditions and counteract environmental degradation, particularly in the spawning grounds.

REFERENCES

- BAGENAL, T.B. (1978). Aspects of fish fecundity. In : Ecology of freshwater fish production. S.D. GERKINS (ed), Blackwell, Oxford, pp.75-101.
- DABROWSKI, K., K. MURAI & K. BECKER (1986). Physiological and carp nutritional aspects of intensive feeding of carp. In :

BILLARD R. & J. MARCEL (eds), Aquaculture of Cyprinids. INRA. Paris, pp. 55-71.

- ECONOMIDIS, P.S. (1991). *Check list of freshwater fishes of Greece*. Hellenic Society for the Protection of Nature. 47 pp.
- ECONOMIDIS, P.S., E. DIMITRIOU, R. PAGONI, E. MICHALOUDI & L. NATSIS. (2000). Introduced and translocated fish species in the inland waters of Greece. *Fisher: Manag. Ecol.*, 7: 239-250.
- HEGGBERGET, T.G.(1988). Timing of spawning in Norwegian Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 45: 845-849.
- HORVATH, L., G. TAMAS & I. TOLG (1984). Special methods in pond fish husbandry. J.Halver Corporation, Seattle, p146.
- HOLCIK, J. & R. ZITMAN (1978). On the expansion and origin of *carassius auratus gibelio* in Chechoslovakia. *Folia Zool.*, 7 : 239-250.
- HOLCIK, J. (1980). Carassius auratus (pisces) in the Danube river. Acta Sc. Nat. Brno, 14 : 1-43.
- HUTCHINGS, J.A. (1991). Fitness consequences of variation in egg size and food abundance in brook trout Salvelinus fontinalis. *Evolution*, 45 : 1162-1168.
- KAGALOU, I., J. TSIMANAKIS. & A. PATSIAS (2001). Phytoplankton dynamics and physical-chemical features of a shallow lake (lake Pamvotis, NW Greece). *Fresh. Envir. Bull.*, 10: 845-849.
- KAUSHIK, S. (1986). Some aspects of larval nutrional physiology in carp. In : BILLARD R.& J. MARCEL (eds), Aquaculture of Cyprinids. INRA. pp. 215-227.
- KOTTELAT, M. (1997). European freshwater fishes. *Biologia* 52, S5 : 1-271.
- LAGLER, K. (1972). Freshwater fishery biology. Brown Company, Iowa., p. 417.
- LEONARDOS, I., A. KOKKINIDOU, P. KATHARIOS & C. HARISIS (2001). Age growth and mortality of gibel carp (*Carassius gibelio*, Bloch, 1873) in Lake Lysimachia (W. Greece) Proceedings of the 9th Hellenic Conference of Icthyologist, Mesolongi, Greece, pp. 137-140.
- MICHAELS, V. (1988). *Carp farming*. Fishing News Books Ltd. p. 207.
- MUUS, B.J. & P. DAHLSTROM (1999). Freshwater Fish. G.E.G. gads Forlag, Denmark.
- NATHANAILIDES, C., C. PERDIKARIS, E. GOUVA & I. PASCHOS (2003) Gibel carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*) growth under increased ammonia concentration. Proceedings of the 11th Hellenic Conference of Icthyologists, 18-20 October 2001, Chania, Greece, pp. 178-181. (in Greek).
- NIKOLSKY, G.V. (1963). *The ecology of Fishes*. Academic Press, London.
- PASCHOS, I., C. NATHANAILIDES, A. SAMARA, E. GOUVA & M. TSOUMANI (2001). Presence of gibel carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*) in Greek lakes : on the characteristics and controlling the population. *Proceedings of the 10th Hellenic Conference of Icthyologists*, 18-20 October 2001, Chania, Greece, pp. 245-248. (in Greek).
- PERDIKARIS, C., C. NATHANAILIDES, E. GOUVA, K. KARIPOGLOU, I. LEONARDOS & I. PASCHOS (2003). Population collapse of *Phoxinellus epiroticus* (Cyprinidae) in Lake Pamvotis. *Proceedings of the 11th Hellenic Conference of Icthyologist*, Preveza, Greece, pp.269-272
- RIEHL, R. & H.A. BAENSCH (1991). Aquarien atlas. Bd. 3. Melle : Mergus, Verlag fr Natur- und Heimtierkunde, Germany. 1104 p.
- SKOPA, S. (1971). The German carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*) from the river Liownika stocked in a carp pond. *Acta Hydrobiol.*, 13 : 217-232.
- VARLEY, M.E. (1967). British Freshwater Fishes: factors affecting their distribution. Buckland, London.
- WIEGAND, M.D., J.M. HATALEY, C.L. KITCHEN. & L.G. BUCHA-NAN (1989). Induction of developmental abnormalities in

larval goldfish, *Carassius auratus* L., under cool incubation conditions. *J. Fish. Biol.*, 35 : 85-95.

- HOU, L., Y. WANG & J.F. GUI (2000). Genetic evidence of gonochoristic reproduction in gynogenetic silver crucian carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*) as revealed by RAPD assays. J. Mol. Evol., 51: 498-506.
- ZOU, Z., Y. CUI & Y. YANG, (2001). Growth and feed utilization in two strains of gibel carp, *Carassius auratus gibelio*: paternal effects in a gynogenetic fish. *J. Applied Icthyol.*, 17: 54-58.

Received : July 15, 2003 Accepted : December 29, 2003

Movement is necessary for landmark-based navigation

Sofyan H. Alyan

UAE University, P.O. Box 17551, Al Ain, United Arab Emirates Corresponding author : Sofyan Alyan, e-mail : SAlyan@uaeu.ac.ae

> ABSTRACT. The experiments reported here were designed to find out whether mice are capable of homing by visual extra-arena landmarks, when deprived of visual access to such landmarks. Mice were placed in a circular arena, where they could view the experimental room only from a peripheral nest and the centre of the arena, while they could not access the visual cues when moving in-between. This resulted in poor homing in mice. The conclusion drawn is that mice need to view visual cues while moving for their landmark-based navigation.

KEY WORDS : Navigation; Path Integration; Homing.

INTRODUCTION

Previous work showed that mice are incapable of homing from the centre of a circular arena to their nest after viewing a distal landmark array only from a peripheral nest location (ALYAN, 1994). However, rodents are capable of homing successfully after having freely explored the arena (ALYAN & JANDER 1994), and after being passively carried from the nest to the centre of the arena (ETIENNE, 1980; MORRIS, 1981). This supported earlier claims that moving while viewing distal landmarks is necessary for successful landmark-based navigation (STAHL et al., 1987; SUTHERLAND et al., 1987; CHEW et al., 1989; MATTHEWS & BEST, 1997).

Furthermore, ALYAN & JANDER (1997b) found that mice could home by learned landmarks, after having shuttled between the nest and the centre of a circular arena, without any exploratory phase of that arena prior to or during the experiment. This demonstrated that shuttling between only two locations, in full view of the distal landmarks, allows mice to learn distal landmarks and to home by reliance on such cues.

These findings led to one further question that is explored in this study : Can mice learn distal landmark constellations and home by them after viewing them from only two points, but not while shuttling along the path towards either point? A positive finding would indicate that mice, while shuttling, connect the disjoint landmark vistas from the two points via path integration mechanism to form a landmark cognitive representation allowing them to home accurately at a later time, using only landmark constellations.

METHODS

Subjects

Eight lactating female house mice (*Mus musculus* Linnaeus, 1758) with their pups were used. Prior to experimentation they were housed in transparent cages 25×50 cm. The floor was covered with wood shavings, and food and water were provided ad libitum all the time. The photoperiod was 12 h light : 12 h dark (dark 7:00 pm to 7:00

am) and all experiments were conducted between 10:00 am and 2:00 pm. The purpose of using mothers with litters was to increase their motivation to go home. Therefore, two strong motivations were exploited in this study : the mothers' motivation to take their pups back to the nest and the mothers' motivation to seek a refuge.

Apparatus

A circular arena, 1.5 m in diameter, was used in all experiments. It rested on ball bearings to allow free rotation in any direction. Four handles were attached to the arena to enable smooth manual rotation. The floor of the arena was painted with a polyurethane-sand mixture for easy cleaning and to provide purchase for the mice during movement. A hole, 3 cm in diameter, was drilled at the periphery of the arena, and led to a tube, which in turn led to a nest box located beneath the arena's floor. The edge of the arena was marked at 5° intervals to record the mice' arrival points at the edge of the arena. In addition, the arena was surrounded up to a height of 40 cm by a Plexiglas sheet that had a one-way screen made of dark-tinted Perspex glued to it. Above the centre of the arena we positioned a 40 W incandescent bulb that reflected all its light downward.

The experimental room was normally lit on one side by natural light through two large windows and from the ceiling by standard fluorescent tubes. Pieces of furniture and wall posters offered additional distal landmarks for the homing mice.

Definitions and data collection

Directions were recorded when the mouse, starting from the centre of the arena, reached the periphery of the arena. Angles were measured clockwise from 0° -360°, with 0° being the nest direction before rotation.

To test for directional tendencies, circular statistics were used (BATSCHELET, 1981; ZAR, 1974). The following parameters were used in evaluating homing performance of mice. A sample analysis yielded a mean vector, m, where m is defined by its polar co-ordinates : and r, where is the sample mean direction and r is the length of m. The mean vector length, r, serves as a measure of concentration as well as dispersion. The larger r is, the less dispersed the directions are around the mean angle.

Procedure

The objectives of this experiment were, first, to find out whether viewing the experimental environment from two locations, with no movement between them, would be sufficient for successful landmark-based navigation from one of these locations to the other and, second, to test whether movement between the two locations, without viewing the external environment while moving, can result in successful landmark-based navigation between the two locations.

Experiment Ia

Each of the eight female mice used in this experiment, with her pups, was taken from her cage and placed in the nest box. A clear Plexiglas cylinder (10 cm in diameter and 15 cm high) surrounded the nest entrance on the surface of the arena. The cylinder had one hole that led to a gray, opaque PVC tube (55 cm long). The other end of the PVC tube led to a hole in an identical Plexiglas cylinder placed in the centre of the arena. Both ends of the PVC tube were blocked with pieces of clear Plexiglas so that the mice could not move between the nest and the centre of the arena. Another identical PVC tube, placed on the opposite side of the central Plexiglas cylinder, led to a third identical Plexiglas cylinder placed at 180° from the one at the nest location. This was to ensure that the mice relied on extraarena cues and not on certain guiding intra-arena cues, including odor trails, when later tested for spatial navigation. The arena itself was wiped with dilute alcohol solution before testing each mouse, to eliminate odor cues.

Each mouse spent 12 h in the nest box, during which she could go to the surface of the arena enclosed by the Plexiglas cylinder and view the room, which was fully illuminated, from only that location. Thus, mice were capable of viewing distal landmarks from that location. Thereafter, the mouse was placed in a dark box and rotated slowly for 1-2 min, while the experimenter walked around the room. This was done to prevent the mice from associating the nest location with any other point in space by the mechanism of path integration. The mouse was then placed inside the Plexiglas cylinder situated in the centre of the arena. She was left there for 6 h, after which she was taken on another disorientation tour, and ended up in the nest box where she stayed for another 6 h. The mouse was then taken from the nest on a third disorientation tour, during which the surface of the arena was cleaned and had no objects on it and the pups were taken from the nest box. This would eliminate orientation by intra-arena cues, including odor cues. The dark box with the mouse in it was placed in the centre of the arena and the arena, along with the boxed-in mouse, was rotated 6-7 full rotations CW or CCW. The purpose here was to prevent the mice from orienting by relying on path integration mechanism. Therefore, if the mouse navigates towards any point, it would be by means of distal visual cues. One or two pups were dropped inside the box and the box was removed leaving the mother and her pups in the centre of the bare arena. The point at which the mouse arrived at the edge of the arena was recorded for later analysis. Each mouse was tested only once.

Experiment Ib

A similar setup to that of experiment Ia was used here. The difference was that the doors at the end of the tube connecting the Plexiglas cylinders at the nest and the centre were removed. Each of the eight mice now could access the two Plexiglas cylinders through the tube within the 14-18 h they were left there. Again, the room lights were kept on during that time, so that the mice could access distal visual landmarks from their locations. To ensure that the mice would visit the centre, they were induced to retrieve pups from the centre back to the nest 30 times. In addition, a small water cup $(3W \times 2H \text{ cm})$ was left in the central area as the only source of water. After that, each mouse was placed in the dark box, and taken on a disorientation tour. The surface of the arena was cleared of all objects and the pups were taken from the nest. The mother was then placed in the centre with 1-2 of her pups, and the arena was rotated 6-7 full rotations CW or CCW. The box was then removed and the point at which the mouse arrived at the edge of the arena was recorded for later analysis.

RESULTS

Experiment Ia

The arrival points of the eight females at the periphery of the arena are shown in Fig. 1. The mice took direct paths to the edge of the arena and made no looping or circling. The sample mean angle is 89.28° , while *r* is 0.06. Therefore, the hypothesis that orientation was random cannot be rejected (V Test; P > 0.25).



Fig. 1. – The arrival points for the eight mice used in experiment Ia are indicated by the solid arrow and circles. = 89.28° , r = 0.06. Arrival points for the mice that were allowed to shuttle in a dark tube (experiment Ib) are indicated by the open arrow and squares. = 47.5° , r = 0.37 (the rectangle indicates the nest location at 0°).

Experiment Ib

Mice arrival points at the periphery of the arena are shown in Fig. 1. Again, the mice took direct paths to the edge of the arena upon release. The sample mean angle, , is 47.5°, while *r* is 0.37. Therefore, the hypothesis that orientation was random cannot be rejected (V Test; 0.05 < P < 0.1).

DISCUSSION

We can summarize the above findings as follows. First, allowing mice to view the environment from only two different locations results in poor landmark-based orientation. Second, this occurs regardless of whether the mice were, or were not, allowed to shuttle between the two locations, but denied access to visual landmarks while shuttling.

It has previously been shown that viewing distal landmarks from only one location cannot support later navigation to that location from another (ALYAN, 1994). What has been shown here is that viewing the distal landmarks from two locations does not allow successful landmark-based navigation, even though the mice moved between the two locations. In addition, moving between two points per se is not sufficient for successful navigation. This is in contrast to earlier findings that mice navigated successfully when they had access to visual cues while moving (ALYAN & JANDER, 1997a). Thus, the present results support earlier claims that it is necessary to view distal cues while shuttling between locations in order to navigate by such cues, (STAHL et al,. 1987; SUTHERLAND et al., 1987; POUCET & BENHAMOU, 1997). Separate vistas of distal cues from different locations, without actual movement between them, do not allow successful navigation by distal landmarks as has been claimed in various theoretical models (WILKIE & PALFREY, 1987; GALLISTEL, 1990; O'KEEFE, 1990; 1991). The present results confirm that rodents require to be fed conjointly with movement and visual information to be able to perform efficient place navigation. Altogether, these reports lend further support to the hypothesis that animals build cognitive representations of their home ranges through motor vector deduction, i.e. based on path integration, and not perceptual vector deduction (ALYAN, 1994; POUCET & BENHAMOU, 1997).

In addition, ZANFORLIN & POLI (1970), and ALYAN & MCNAUGHTON (1999) have shown that normal rats, and rats with hippocampal lesions, were capable of proper homing after shuttling between two points, by making a novel shortcut under a sandy substrate, i.e. no visual cues were accessible since rats were moving underground. The rats could view distal landmarks from the end points only, but not while shuttling. The difference between these two studies and the present results is that path integration was not specifically impaired before homing (ZANFORLIN & POLI, 1970; and ALYAN & MCNAUGHTON, 1999). Thus, both studies indicate that rats form a cognitive representation of their path, which enables them to calculate a novel shortcut by means of path integration when the original route is blocked. This also supports claims that animals could build cognitive representations through path integration.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am very thankful for the comments provided by D. NITZ and L. QUINN on an earlier draft.

REFERENCES

- ALYAN, S. (1994). Evidence against instantaneous transfer of spatial knowledge in the house mouse *Mus musculus*. *Psychobio.*, 22 : 328-337.
- ALYAN, S. & R. JANDER (1994). Short-range homing in the house mouse : stages in the learning of directions. *Anim. Behav.*, 48 : 285-298.
- ALYAN, S., & R. JANDER (1997a). Interplay of directional navigation mechanisms as a function of near-goal distance : experiments with the house mouse. *Behav. Proc.*, 41 : 245-255.
- ALYAN, S. & R. JANDER (1997b). Exploration is sufficient but not necessary for navigation with landmarks in the house mouse *Mus musculus*. *Learn. Motiv.*, 28: 558-576.
- ALYAN, S. & B. MCNAUGHTON (1999). Hippocampectomized rats are capable of homing by path integration. *Behav. Neurosci.*, 113 (1): 19-31.
- BATSCHELET, E. (1981). *Circular statistics in biology*. Academic press, New York.
- CHEW, G.C., R.J. SUTHERLAND & I.Q. WHISHAW (1989). Latent learning does not produce instantaneous transfer of place navigation : a rejoinder to Keith and McVety. *Psychobiol.*, 17 : 207-209.
- ETIENNE, A.S. (1980). The orientation of the golden hamster to its nest-site after the elimination of various sensory cues. *Experientia*, 36 : 1048-1050.
- ETIENNE, A.S., R. MAURER & V. SÉGUINOT (1996). Path integration in mammals and its interaction with visual landmarks. *J. Exp. Biol.*, 199 : 201-209.
- GALLISTEL, C.R. (1990). *The Organization of Learning*. MIT Press, Cambridge MA.
- MATTHEWS, J. & P.J. BEST (1997). Evidence for the flexible use of spatial knowledge in the rat. *Psychobiol.*, 25 : 294-302.
- MITTELSTAED, H. & M.-L. MITTELSTAEDT (1980). Homing by path integration in a mammal. *Naturwissenschaften*, 67: 566-567
- MORRIS, R.G.M. (1981). Spatial localization does not require the presence of local cues. *Learn. Motiv.*, 12 : 239-260.
- O'KEEFE, J. (1990). A computational theory of the hippocampal cognitive map. In : STORM-MATHISEN J., J. ZIMMER & O.P. OTHERSON (eds), *Progress in Brain Research*. Elsevier, New York : 301-312.
- O'KEEFE, J. (1991). The hippocampal cognitive map and navigational strategies. In : PAILLARD J. (ed), *Brain and Space*. Oxford University Press, New York : 273-295.
- POUCET, B. & S. BENHAMOU (1997). The neuropsychology of spatial cognition in the rat. *Crit. Rev. Neurobiol.*, 11: 101-120.
- STAHL, J.M., S.B. BAGLEY, J.L. MCKENZIE & P.L. HURST (1987). Movement through space and spatially organized behavior. In : ELLEN P. & C. THINUS-BLANC (eds), *Cognitive processes and spatial orientation in animal and man*. Martinus Nijhoff, Dodrecht : 107-113.
- SUTHERLAND, R.J., G.L. CHEW, J.C. BAKER & R.D. LINGGARD (1987). Some limitations on the use of distal cues in place navigation by rats. *Psychobiol.*, 15 : 48-57.
- WILKIE, D.M. & R. PALFREY (1987). A computer simulation model of rat's place navigation in the Morris water maze. *Behav. Res. Meth. Instrument. Comput.*, 19 : 400-403.
- ZANFORLIN, M. & G. POLI (1970). The burrowing rat: a new technique to study place learning and orientation. *Atti. Mem. dell'Accad. d Sci. Lett. et Arti Part II*, 82: 653-670.
- ZAR, J.H. (1997). *Biostatistical Analysis*. Prentice Hall, New Jersey.

Received : September 17, 2003

Accepted : November 17, 2003

SHORT NOTE

Feeding habits of the temperate octocoral *Tripalea clavaria* (Studer, 1878) (Octocorallia, Gorgonaria, Anthothelidae), from sublittoral outcrops off Mar del Plata, Argentina

Fabián H. Acuña^{1,2}, Adriana C. Excoffon¹, Mauricio O. Zamponi^{1,2} and Gabriel N. Genzano^{1,2}

¹ Departamento de Ciencias Marinas. Facultad de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales. Universidad Nacional de Mar del Plata, Funes 3250, 7600 Mar del Plata, Argentina

² CONICET

Corresponding author : Fabián H. Acuña, e-mail : facuna@mdp.edu.ar

Recent studies and reviews have shown the importance of passive suspension feeders in marine food webs, and noted the role that cnidarians (hydroid colonies and soft corals) play in shallow water ecosystems (1, 2).

Hydroids are assumed to be carnivorous, capturing zooplankton prey by means of nematocysts of the tentacles, although protozoans, diatoms and organic detritus can be important for some hydroid species. In contrast, gorgonians ingest and assimilate particulate and dissolved organic matter (3, 4), while other species are phytoplankton feeders (5). Capture of zooplanktonic prey has been documented in few studies (3, 6), and some researchers have postulated that the ability of these organisms to capture vagile prey is low, based on low densities of nematocysts on the tentacles (3, 4, 7).

Gorgonians are quantitatively important in certain benthic communities, and provide a good example of the role of suspension feeders in littoral food chains and of the relationship between plankton and benthos in temperate seas (8).

This study analyzed feeding habits, throughout the year, of *Tripalea clavaria*, an unbranched azooxanthellate octocoral widely distributed in the SW Atlantic Ocean (9, 10, 11). It is abundant, and a dominant component in rocky outcrops off Mar del Plata city (12). We compared the results with data on other anthozoans.

Collections and underwater observations were carried out during SCUBA dives at Banco del Medio (38° 10'S -57° 28'W), a quartzitic rocky outcrop 18-20 m depth. Monthly samples were obtained from November 2000 to October 2001, except in July owing to persistent bad weather conditions. The gastral contents of 1072 polyps belonging to 117 colonies were examined in the laboratory under a microscope. Food items were identified to the lowest taxonomic level possible. Trophic parameters (vacuity index, frequency index of prey and percentage of prey) were calculated as in ACUÑA & ZAMPONI (13).

Table 1 lists all prey items found, ranging from small diatoms 60-80 μ m in diameter to crustacean and echinoderm larvae up to 72.5 μ m. The number of prey items polyp⁻¹ was mostly one or two. Table 2 shows the percentage of empty gastric cavities (vacuity index), indicating that most colonies fed more actively in spring and summer in coinci-

TABLE 1

Number (N) total of the different prey – item and their relative abundance (%), found in the diet of *T. clavaria* in each season.* Presence, can not be identified individuals.

Item		Spring		Summer		Fall		Winter	
		%	N	%	N	%	Ν	%	
Mytilus edulis platensis	24	45.3	78	93.4	28	70.0	22	68.7	
larvae									
nauplii	1	1.9	-	-	1	2.5	1	3.1	
crustacean larvae (unidenti-	-	-	-	-	1	2.5	1	3.1	
fied)									
Gammaridea	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	9.4	
Copepoda	-	-	1	1.2	2	5.0	-	-	
Ostracoda	2	3.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	
crustaceans (unidentified)	1	1.9	-	-	-	-	-	-	
invertebrate eggs	23	43.4	3	3.6	6	15.0	2	6.2	
Nematoda	1	1.9	1	1.2	-	-	-	-	
echinoderm larvae	-	-	-	-	1	2.5	-	-	
Tardigrada	1	1.9	-	-	1	2.5	1	3.1	
filamentous algae	*	-	*	-	-	-	-	-	
diatoms	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	6.2	
Total	53	100.0	83	100.0	40	100.0	32	100.0	

TABLE 2

Percentage of empty gastric cavities (vacuity index).

Season	examined colonies	examined polyp	polyps with content	Vacuity index (V)
spring	24	199	42	78.89
summer	30	269	65	75.84
fall	32	305	34	85.57
winter	21	199	27	86.43

dence with high prey abundance. Frequency indices of prey (Table 3) show that larvae of the mytilid *Mytilus edulis platensis* d'Orbigny, 1846 were the main food item, while invertebrate eggs were a minor component except in spring when their importance as food was similar to mytilid larvae. Other food items were occasional prey only.

T. clavaria is one of a few zooplanktivore gorgonians that prey on a large variety of organisms (Table 1), mainly

TABLE 3

Frequency index (f) and percentage of prey (Cn) of *Tripalea clavaria*. f = n/N. n : number of gastral cavities containing a certain prey, N : the total number of gastral cavities examined. Cn= n'.100/Np. n' : total number of individuals of a certain prey, Np : the total number of prey items. * Presence, can not be identified in individuals.

Item	n	Ν	f	n'	Np	Cn	Result
Mytilus edulis platensis larvae	124	1072	0.12	159	222	71.62	Preferential
nauplii	4	1072	0.005	6	222	2.70	Occasional
crustacean larvae (unidentified)	2	1072	0.002	2	222	0.90	Occasional
Gammaridea	3	1072	0.003	3	222	1.35	Occasional
Copepoda	3	1072	0.003	3	222	1.35	Occasional
Ostracoda	2	1072	0.002	2	222	0.90	Occasional
crustaceans (unidentified)	2	1072	0.002	2	222	0.90	Occasional
invertebrate eggs	31	1072	0.03	35	222	15.76	Minor
Nematoda	2	1072	0.002	2	222	0.90	Occasional
echinoderm larvae	1	1072	0.001	1	222	0.45	Occasional
Tardigrada	3	1072	0.003	3	222	1.35	Occasional
filamentous algae	2	1072	0.002	*	*	*	*
diatoms	2	1072	0.002	3	222	1.35	Occasional

on larvae of *M. edulis platensis* with a 37.5-434.3 μ m size range. Similar diets were observed for the gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata* (Risso, 1826), which regularly feeds on zooplanktonic prey of small size (100-200 μ m) and low motility, such as nauplii and eggs (COMA et al., 1994). Some species of alcyonaceans with polyps very similar in size to those of the majority of gorgonians (e.g. *Alcyonium siderium* Verrill, 1922), capture mostly small (256-345 μ m) prey items of low motility, such as foraminiferans and invertebrate larvae (14).

Despite low density of tentacular nematocysts (3, 4, 7), *T. clavaria* is able to ingest many vagile organisms, implying a different mechanism for food capture, related to the transport of potential food sources by the water current ("aerosol filtration theory") (2). These results furnish evidence that gorgonians, like other benthic zooplanktivores, may play a role in the flow of energy between the plankton and the benthos (8). Further studies should be conducted to determine the extent and scale of the feeding strategies of gorgonians and other benthic zooplanktivores.

REFERENCES

- GILI, J.M., V. ALVÀ, R. COMA, C. OREJAS, F. PAGÈS, M. RIBES, M. ZABALA, W. ARNTZ, J. BOUILLON, F. BOERO & R.G. HUGHES (1997). The impact of small benthic passive suspension feeders in shallow marine ecosystems: the hydroids as an example. *Zool. Verh.*, 323: 99-105.
- 2. GILI, J.M. & R. COMA (1998). Benthic suspension feeders : their paramount role in littoral marine food webs. *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, 13 : 316-321.
- LASKER, H.R. (1981). A comparison of the particular feeding abilities of three species of gorgonian soft coral. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 5 : 61-67.

- COFFROTH, M.A. (1984). Ingestion and incorporation of coral mucus aggregates by a gorgonian soft coral. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 17 : 193-199.
- FABRICIUS, K.E., Y. BENAYAHU & A. GENIN (1995). Herbivory in asymbiotic soft corals. *Science*, 268 : 90-92.
- LEVERSEE, G. J. (1976). Flow and feeding in fan-shaped colonies of the gorgonian coral, *Leptogorgia. Biol. Bull.*, 151: 344-356.
- MARISCAL, R.N. & C.H. BIGGER (1977). Possible ecological significance of octocoral epithelial ultrastructure. *Proc.* 3rd *Int. Coral Reef. Symp.*, 1 : 127-134.
- COMA, R., J.M. GILI, M. ZABALA & T. RIBERA (1994). Feeding and prey capture cycles in the aposymbiotic gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 115: 257-270.
- 9. TOMMASI, L.R. (1971). Ocorrência de *Tripalea clavaria* (Studer, 1878) na plataforma continental do Rio Grande do Sul. *Bol. Inst. Ocean. Sao Paulo*, 20 : 27-32.
- 10. CASTRO, C.B. (1990). Revisão taxonómica dos octocorallia (Cnidaria, Anthozoa) do litoral sul-americano : da foz do rio Amazonas à foz do rio da Prata. São Paulo. 343 p. Tese (Doutorado). Universidade de São Paulo.
- PÉREZ, C.D. (1999). Taxonomía, distribución y diversidad de los Pennatulacea, Gorgonacea y Alcyonacea del Mar Epicontinental Argentino y zonas de influencia. 254 p. Tesis Doctoral. Universidad Nacional de Mar del Plata.
- 12. GENZANO, G.N., M.O. ZAMPONI, A.C. EXCOFFON & F.H. ACUÑA (2002). Hydroid populations from sublittoral outcrops off Mar del Plata, Argentina : abundance, seasonality, and reproductive periodicity. *Ophelia*, 56 : 161-170.
- 13. ACUÑA, F.H. & M.O. ZAMPONI (1995). Feeding ecology of intertidal sea anemones (Cnidaria, Actiniaria) : food sources and trophic parameters. *Biociências*, 3 : 73-84.
- 14. SEBENS, K.P. & M.A.R. KOEHL (1984). Predation on zooplankton by the benthic anthozoans *Alcyonium siderium* (Alcyonacea) and *Metridium senile* (Actiniaria) in the New England subtidal. *Mar. Biol.*, 81 : 255-271.

Received : August 19, 2003 Accepted after revision : November 17, 2003